
S
T

R
E

N
G

T
H

  
| 

 F
O

C
U

S
  

| 
 G

R
O

W
T

H

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6



Financial Highlights 1

Report to Shareholders 2

Investors Group Inc. 6

Mackenzie Financial Corporation 10

Investment Planning Counsel Inc. 14

Management’s Discussion  

   and Analysis 15

Financial Review 75

Board of Directors and  

   Executive Officers 116

Shareholder Information 117

CONTENTS

Certain statements in this report, other than statements of historical fact, are forward-looking 

statements based on certain assumptions and reflect IGM Financial’s current expectations. 

Forward-looking statements are provided to assist the reader in understanding the Company’s 

financial position and results of operations as at and for the periods ended on certain dates and 

to present information about management’s current expectations and plans relating to the 

future. Readers are cautioned that such statements may not be appropriate for other purposes. 

These statements may include, without limitation, statements regarding the operations, 

business, financial condition, expected financial results, performance, prospects, opportunities, 

priorities, targets, goals, ongoing objectives, strategies and outlook of the Company, as well as 

the outlook for North American and international economies, for the current fiscal year and 

subsequent periods. Forward-looking statements include statements that are predictive in 

nature, depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, or include words such as “expects”, 

“anticipates”, “plans”, “believes”, “estimates”, “seeks”, “intends”, “targets”, “projects”, “forecasts” or 

negative versions thereof and other similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as 

“may”, “will”, “should”, “would” and “could”.

This information is based upon certain material factors or assumptions that were applied in 

drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection as reflected in the forward-looking 

statements, including the perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected 

future developments, as well as other factors that are believed to be appropriate in the 

 circumstances. While the Company considers these assumptions to be reasonable based on 

information currently available to management, they may prove to be incorrect.

By its nature, this information is subject to inherent risks and uncertainties that may be general 

or specific and which give rise to the possibility that expectations, forecasts, predictions, 

 projections or conclusions will not prove to be accurate, that assumptions may not be correct 

and that objectives, strategic goals and priorities will not be achieved.

A variety of material factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ 

control, affect the operations, performance and results of the Company, and its subsidiaries, and 

their businesses, and could cause actual results to differ materially from current  expectations 

of estimated or anticipated events or results. These factors include, but are not limited to: the 

impact or unanticipated impact of general economic, political and market factors in North 

America and internationally, interest and foreign exchange rates, global equity and capital 

markets, management of market liquidity and funding risks, changes in accounting policies 

and methods used to report financial condition (including uncertainties associated with critical 

accounting assumptions and estimates), the effect of applying future  accounting changes, 

operational and reputational risks, business competition, technological change, changes in 

government regulations and legislation, changes in tax laws, unexpected judicial or regulatory 

proceedings, catastrophic events, the Company’s ability to complete strategic transactions, 

integrate acquisitions and implement other growth strategies, and the Company’s and its 

 subsidiaries’ success in anticipating and managing the foregoing factors.

The reader is cautioned that the foregoing list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect 

any of the Company’s forward-looking statements. The reader is also cautioned to consider 

these and other factors, uncertainties and potential events carefully and not place undue 

reliance on forward-looking statements.

Other than as specifically required by applicable Canadian law, the Company undertakes no 

obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after 

the date on which such statements are made, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 

events, whether as a result of new information, future events or results, or otherwise.

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties of the Company’s business and 

material factors or assumptions on which information contained in forward-looking state-

ments is based is provided in its disclosure materials filed with the securities regulatory 

authorities in Canada, available at www.sedar.com.

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains non-IFRS financial measures and additional IFRS measures. Net earnings 

available to common shareholders, which is an additional measure in accordance with 

 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), may be subdivided into two components 

consisting of:

• Operating earnings available to common shareholders; and

•  Other items, which include the after-tax impact of any item that management considers 

to be of a non-recurring nature or that could make the period-over-period comparison of 

results from operations less meaningful.

Terms by which non-IFRS financial measures are identified include but are not limited to 

“operating earnings available to common shareholders”, “operating earnings per share”, 

“operating return on average common equity” and other similar expressions used to provide 

management and investors with additional measures to assess earnings performance. As well, 

“earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)”, “earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization (EBITDA)” and “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-

tization (Adjusted EBITDA)” are non-IFRS financial measures used to provide  management, 

investors and investment analysts with additional measures to evaluate and analyze the 

Company’s results. EBITDA is a common measure used in the asset management industry 

to assess profitability before the impact of different financing methods, income taxes, depre-

ciation of capital assets and amortization of intangible assets. Other items of a nonrecurring 

nature, or that could make the period-over-period comparison of results from operations less 

 meaningful, are further excluded to arrive at Adjusted EBITDA. However, non-IFRS financial 

measures do not have standard meanings prescribed by IFRS and are not directly comparable 

to similar measures used by other companies. Please refer to the appropriate reconciliations of 

these non-IFRS financial measures to measures prescribed by IFRS.

Terms by which additional IFRS measures are identified include “earnings before income taxes” 

and “net earnings available to common shareholders”. Additional IFRS measures are used 

to provide management and investors with additional measures to assess earnings perfor-

mance. These measures are considered additional IFRS measures as they are in addition to 

the minimum line items required by IFRS and are relevant to an understanding of the entity’s 

financial performance.

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES AND ADDITIONAL IFRS MEASURES

Cover: Warren Carther (1994). Prairie Boy’s Dream [Sculpture]. Winnipeg, MB: Atrium of Investors Group head office.
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 INVESTORS  
  GROUP MACKENZIE COUNSEL TOTAL(3)

    

 MUTUAL FUNDS TOTAL

Mutual Funds and Institutional Sales ($ millions) 

 Gross sales  $ 7,760   $ 6,939   $ 11,004   $ 859   $ 17,659 

 Net sales (redemptions)   366    (667)   (2,120)   169    (1,846) 

(1)  Non-IFRS Financial Measures:    
 •  2016 operating earnings excluded a favourable change in income tax provision estimates of $34.0 million related to certain tax filings.
 •  2015 operating earnings excluded an after-tax charge of $24.3 million related to restructuring and other charges.
(2)   Total assets under management excluded $7.9 billion of assets sub-advised by Mackenzie on behalf of Investors Group and Investment Planning Counsel ($7.1 billion at December 31, 2015).

(3)  Total Gross sales and Net sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 excluded $2.0 billion and $261 million, respectively, in accounts sub-advised by Mackenzie on behalf of Investors Group and Investment Planning Counsel.

FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS 

Total Assets Under Management
As at December 31 ($ billions)

Operating Earnings(1)

For the financial year ($ millions)

Dividends Per Share
For the financial year ($)

 2016 2015 CHANGE

Earnings available to common 
  shareholders ($ millions)

 Net Earnings  $ 770.5 $ 771.7 (0.2%)

 Operating Earnings(1)  736.5  796.0 (7.5)

Diluted earnings per share

 Net Earnings  3.19  3.11 2.6

 Operating Earnings(1)  3.05  3.21 (5.0)

Return on equity

 Net Earnings 17.1 % 16.9 %

 Operating Earnings(1) 16.3 % 17.4 %

Dividends per share  2.25  2.25   –

 Total assets under management (2) ($ millions) $ 141,829 $ 133,648 6.1

 Investors Group

  Mutual funds  81,240  74,897 8.5

 Mackenzie

   Mutual funds  51,314  48,445  

   Sub-advisory, institutional 
     and other accounts  12,721  13,208  

  Total   64,035  61,653 3.9

 Counsel 

  Mutual funds  4,501  4,178 7.7 

2016

141.8

2012

120.7

2013

131.8

2014

141.9

2015

133.6

2016

737

20152012

746

2013

764

2014

826 796

2016

2.25

2015

2.25

2012

2.15

2013

2.15

2014

2.18
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Report to shareholders

In 2016, IGM Financial Inc. continued to fulfill our 

mission of delivering long-term growth and value  

to our clients and shareholders, through our principal 

businesses, Investors Group Inc., Mackenzie Financial 

Corporation and Investment Planning Counsel Inc. 

We laid a foundation for continued growth through 

investing energy and resources in key areas, exhibiting 

strength in product innovation, effective resource 

management and investment management enhancements. 

Jeffrey R. Carney  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
IGM Financial Inc.
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The Company has a broad reach across Canadian communities 

and is well diversified through its multiple distribution 

channels, product types, investment management units 

and fund brands. Assets under management are diversified 

by country of investment, industry sector, security type and 

management style.

We believe the vast majority of Canadians are best served 

through the support of a financial advisor who can help them 

to plan for and achieve their financial goals. The importance of 

financial guidance and expertise has amplified as Canadians’ 

expectations for transparency and access to information has 

likewise increased.

Our in-depth understanding of Canadian investors and our 

association with other members of the Power Financial 

Corporation group of companies have placed the Company in 

a position of leadership and strength in the financial services 

industry. Together, these elements enable IGM Financial 

to create long-term value for its shareholders, clients, 

consultants, advisors and employees.

In May 2016, Murray Taylor retired after serving for 12 years 

as President and Chief Executive Officer of Investors Group 

and 11 years as Co-President and Chief Executive Officer of 

IGM Financial. 

Jeff Carney was appointed President and Chief Executive 

Officer of Investors Group, and also President and Chief 

Executive Officer of IGM Financial, a position he had shared 

with Mr. Taylor for the past three years.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Net earnings available to common shareholders for the year 

ended December 31, 2016 were $770.5 million or $3.19 per 

share compared to $771.7 million or $3.11 per share in 2015.

Operating earnings available to common shareholders,1 

excluding other items, for the year ended December 31, 

2016 were $736.5 million or $3.05 per share compared to 

$796.0 million or $3.21 per share in 2015.

Total assets under management at December 31, 

2016 were $141.8 billion compared to $133.6 billion at 

December 31, 2015. Mutual fund assets under management 

at December 31, 2016 were $137.1 billion, compared to 

$127.5 billion at December 31, 2015.

Dividends were $2.25 per share for the year, unchanged  

from 2015.

INDUSTRY PERSPECTIVE

Following equity market declines during 2015 and in the first 

quarter of 2016, there was strong improvement during 2016, 

with the S&P/TSX Composite Index up over 20% during the 

year. While ongoing market volatility tests investor confidence,  

a commitment to financial plans and perseverance  

rewarded investors. 

Research continues to show that Canadians who work 

with a financial advisor to guide their financial decisions 

are wealthier, more confident and better prepared for the 

financial implications of marriage, a new child, post-secondary 

education, retirement, and other life events.

In April, the Canadian Securities Administrators released a 

consultation paper seeking comments on proposed targeted 

reforms relating to the obligations of advisors, dealers and 

their representatives toward their clients. This step is part of 

the CSA’s continuing review of the dealer-client relationship, 

with the goal of achieving the best outcomes for investors. 

The Company will continue to participate in these dialogues 

to enhance the overall client experience.

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

Investors Group Inc. (Investors Group) continued to respond 

to the complex financial needs of its clients in 2016 by 

delivering a diverse range of products and services in the 

context of long-term financial planning and personalized 

financial advice. 

1 Please refer to the reconciliation of non-IFRS financial measures to measures prescribed by IFRS in Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) on page 17 of this Annual Report.
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Investors Group mutual fund assets under management were 

$81.2 billion at the end of 2016, compared to $74.9 billion 

at December 31, 2015. Mutual fund sales were $7.8 billion, 

a decrease of $1.6% from 2015 sales of $7.9 billion. The 

redemption rate on long-term mutual funds was 8.8% for the 

year ending December 31, 2016, compared to 8.7% in 2015. 

Net sales of mutual funds in 2016 were $366 million.

Mackenzie Financial Corporation (Mackenzie Investments) 

maintained its focus on delivering consistent long-term 

investment performance by attracting key investment 

management talent and executing on initiatives to achieve 

its strategic priorities as it continued to support advisors 

and its institutional clients in all aspects of their business.

Mackenzie Investments total assets under management were 

$64.0 billion at the end of 2016, compared to $61.7 billion at 

December 31, 2015. Mutual fund assets under management 

were $51.3 billion, compared to $48.4 billion at December 

31, 2015. Mutual fund gross sales were $6.9 billion, down 

0.4% from the 2015 total of $7.0 billion. Mutual fund net 

redemptions in 2016 were $667 million.

In May 2016, IGM Financial invested $64.5 million in Personal 

Capital Corporation, a market-leading digital wealth advisor 

that is incorporated in and operates in the U.S. In December 

2016, the Company invested an additional $32.8 million in 

Personal Capital, for a total ownership stake of 15%. 

In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company invested a total 

of $35 million in WealthSimple Financial Corporation and 

Portag3 Ventures. WealthSimple is an online investment 

manager that provides financial investment guidance. The 

investment was entered into through a limited partnership 

controlled by the Company’s parent, Power Financial 

Corporation. Portag3 is an early-stage investment fund 

dedicated to backing creative financial services companies 

that have the potential for innovative change and global 

impact. Portag3 is controlled by Power Financial Corporation.

On December 29, 2016 and January 5, 2017, IGM Financial 

Inc. entered into agreements to acquire a total 13.9% interest 

in China Asset Management Co., Ltd., one of China’s first and 

largest fund companies, for a total investment of approximately 

$647 million (RMB¥3.3 billion). These transactions are expected 

to close in the first half of 2017, subject to customary closing 

conditions, including Chinese regulatory approvals.

These investments introduce new capabilities to IGM Financial 

and its operating subsidiaries. Our investment in technology 

and operations continues to help us manage our resources 

effectively and develop long-term growth in our business. 

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

At IGM Financial, our core business is helping Canadians to 

plan for and achieve their financial goals. Because of this trust 

placed in us, we have a long-standing commitment to act 

responsibly in everything we do.

We believe that considering the environmental, social and 

governance impacts of our business contributes to long-term 

profitability and value creation. In 2016, IGM Financial 

continued to address these impacts through the advancement 

of its corporate responsibility strategy, highlighted by the 

following examples: 

• IGM Financial enhanced environmental, social, and governance 

disclosures in 2016 and moved corporate responsibility 

reporting online with an expanded web presence to help the 

public find information more easily about our approach and 

the activities of our operating companies. 

• IGM Financial was added into the FTSE4Good Index Series 

and the Corporate Knights’ list of Best 50 Corporate Citizens 

in Canada. These recognitions, along with our inclusion in 

the Jantzi Social Index, demonstrate our commitment to 

strong environmental, social, and governance (ESG) practices.
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• Investors Group and Mackenzie Investments continued to 

demonstrate their commitment to responsible investing as 

signatories to the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI). 

Both companies completed their first public reporting cycles 

in 2016. 

• IGM Financial received a Leadership score on the CDP survey, 

demonstrating best-in-class environmental stewardship 

in actions and approaches to manage climate change. We 

continued to purchase green natural gas for Investors Group 

and Mackenzie head offices and relocated Investment Planning 

Counsel to a state-of-the-art LEED Gold office building.

• The IGM Financial companies maintained our commitment 

to support the communities where we live and work. 

Investors Group and Mackenzie Investments continued  

to be recognized as Imagine Canada Caring Companies.

• IGM Financial is committed to fostering diversity and 

inclusiveness in the workplace. In 2016, the company 

engaged its leaders, employees and advisors on creating  

a diverse and inclusive culture through communication, 

surveys and training, including the Taking the Stage® 

leadership communication program for women. 

We are proud of our achievements, our commitments and our 

people. In the years ahead we look forward to building on the 

foundation of responsible management we have created.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The following changes to the Board of Directors were 

announced at IGM Financial’s Annual Meeting of the 

Shareholders in May 2016. 

Gary Doer and Susan McArthur were elected to the Board.  

Mr. Doer was most recently Canada’s Ambassador to the 

United States (2009 – 2016) and was Premier of Manitoba 

from 1999 to 2009. 

Ms. McArthur is a Managing Partner at GreenSoil Investments 

and was previously a Senior Investment Banker at Jacob 

Securities Inc. 

V. Peter Harder did not stand for re-election. Mr. Harder served 

on the Board since 2009 and was a member of the Executive 

Committee, Community Affairs Committee, Investment 

Committee, and Compensation Committee.

Retiring from the Board was Murray Taylor, who had been 

Co-President and Chief Executive Officer of IGM Financial since 

2005 and President and Chief Executive Officer of Investors 

Group since 2004. He first joined Investors Group in May 2001 

as Executive Vice-President and in June 2002, was appointed 

as Executive Vice-President, Financial Services Division. Prior to 

joining Investors Group, Mr. Taylor held senior roles with Great-

West Life Assurance Company and London Life, where he was 

employed for the preceding 25 years. 

We thank our departing directors for their years of service and 

their valuable contributions to the Board.

LOOKING AHEAD

As Canadians work toward their short- and long-term 

financial goals, they will increasingly look to make informed 

decisions to ensure their financial planning needs are met 

throughout their lives.

IGM Financial will maintain its focus on providing quality 

investment advice and financial products, service innovations, 

effective management of the Company and long-term value  

for our clients and shareholders.

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Jeffrey R. Carney  R. Jeffrey Orr
 President and  Chairman of the Board
 Chief Executive Officer  IGM Financial Inc.
 IGM Financial Inc.

February 10, 2017



REPORT ON OPERATIONS

In 2016, Investors Group continued to make progress in a 

number of key areas. We focused on enhancing the tools 

and resources that help our Consultants to provide financial 

plans and quality products and services to our clients. 

In May 2016, Murray Taylor retired after serving for 12 years 

as President and Chief Executive Officer of Investors Group 

and serving 40 years with the Power Financial group of 

companies. Jeff Carney was appointed President and Chief 

Executive Officer of Investors Group, and also President and 

Chief Executive Officer of IGM Financial, a position he had 

shared with Mr. Taylor for the past three years.

CONSULTANT NETWORK STRENGTH

Investors Group’s commitment to training and support 

is integral to our Consultants’ abilities to deliver effective 

financial advice. We emphasize experience-based training 

for new Consultants, delivered by qualified field leadership 

and through mentorship from senior team members. 

The Certified Financial Planner® (CFP) designation, and its 

Quebec equivalent, the Financial Planner (F.Pl.) designation 

are nationally accepted financial planning qualifications 

that require financial planning competence through 

education, standardized examinations, continuing education 

requirements and accountability to ethical standards. 

At December 31, 2016, 1,553 Consultants held one of these, 

and another 1,193 were enrolled in the programs. This is 

a combined increase of 22% during the year, a record high 

for the company, and is a result of our efforts to encourage 

Consultants to achieve these standards.

The Financial Planning Standards Council published in 2016 

that Investors Group has more CFP designation holders than 

any other organization in Canada.
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INVESTORS GROUP INC.



PRODUCTS AND SERVICES WITH A CLIENT FOCUS

In January, as part of our ongoing commitment to expand our high net 

worth investment solutions, we launched the Investors Risk Parity Private 

Pool. This product will appeal to affluent investors who are looking for 

non-traditional options for greater portfolio diversification. The private pool 

is sub-advised by PanAgora Asset Management, a global leader in risk parity 

investment management. 

We saw continued momentum for our high net worth offerings in 2016, 

as well as strong growth in our mortgage and insurance segments, which 

support our clients’ financial planning needs. 

Investors Group’s three Maestro Portfolios™ marked their first anniversary 

in July with $2.3 billion in assets, making them the most successful product 

launch in Investors Group’s 90-year history. The strong response to these 

mandates speaks to the success of the dynamic management approach 

used by the funds. 

In September we announced our intention to discontinue the deferred sales 

charge (DSC) purchase option for our mutual funds, which became effective 

January 1, 2017. At the same time, we reduced fees on our no-load (NL) 

funds. Elimination of the DSC option enhances our competitive position and 

simplifies our offering for clients. 

In November we launched a new dealer platform to deliver an enhanced 

service experience to both Consultants and clients. The new platform has 

allowed us to internalize carrying broker functionality and client statement 

preparation for Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 

(IIROC) and Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada (MFDA) nominee 

accounts and has provided increased automation of transaction activity. The 

platform also supports the introduction of IIROC-based products designed to 

support the high net worth segment of our client base. 
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HIGHLIGHTS

• At December 31, 2016, 1,553 Consultants 

held CFP or F.Pl. designations, with another 

1,193 enrolled in the programs, a combined 

increase of 22% during the year and a record 

high for the company.

• Maestro Portfolios™ marked their first 

anniversary in July with $2.3 billion in 

assets, making them Investors Group's 

most successful product launch.

• Assets under management increased 8.5% 

to $81.2 billion at December 31, 2016, 

a record year-end high for the company.

• Assets under management in our high net 

worth offerings increased to $32 billion at 

December 31, 2016, up 15.5% from last year.

Investors Group is committed to comprehensive planning delivered through long-term 
client and Consultant relationships. We provide advice and services through our network of 
Consultants to nearly one million Canadians.



Also in November we introduced, through Investors Group Securities Inc, a 

new separately managed account program, Azure Managed Investments™ 

and a Fee-Based Account. Both are designed to meet the increased demand 

from affluent Canadians for fee-based structures. The Azure product allows 

clients to delegate responsibility for day-to-day investment decisions to a 

portfolio manager. The Fee-Based Account is a non-discretionary, brokerage 

account offering the benefits of a holistic approach to managing their overall 

portfolio. Both offerings further diversify our array of investment tools. 

At the 2016 Lipper® Fund Awards, two Investors Group funds were recognized 

for outstanding fund performance. 

• Investors European Mid-Cap Equity Class Series A: Best three-year 

performance in the European Equity category

• Investors International Small Cap Class Series A: Best five-year performance 

in the International Equity category

The awards honour the top funds in each category that have delivered 

stronger and more consistent performance than their peers.

Our commitment to the ongoing evolution and expansion of our product 

and service offering enhances our ability to deliver comprehensive financial 

planning solutions to Canadians.
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INVESTORS GROUP INC.

Investors Group
Mutual Fund Assets under Management
As at December 31 ($ billions)

81.2

2012 20152013 2014

68.3
73.5

60.6

74.9

2016



CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Investors Group has a long-standing commitment to corporate 

responsibility. We believe that considering the environmental, 

social and governance impacts of our business contributes 

to long-term profitability and value creation. We continue 

to address these impacts through the advancement of our 

corporate responsibility strategy.

Investors Group continued its commitment to incorporate 

the six principles of responsible investing. As new signatories 

to the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI), we completed 

our first public reporting cycle, publishing how we incorporate 

environmental, social, and governance considerations into  

the investment analysis and decision making processes.

In 2016, we expanded our commitment to reducing  

our carbon footprint with the purchase of green transport 

fuel from Bullfrog Power and carbon offsets through the 

high-quality Canadian retailer, Less Emissions. These purchases 

offset our necessary business travel while supporting the 

advancement of the renewable energy industry.

Our Green Committee was successful with several 

accomplishments; including first place in the Commuter 

Challenge, implementing strategies and tools to reduce our 

waste going to landfill, and engaging employees in activities 

such as winter commuting and cleaning up downtown 

Winnipeg for Earth Day. 

We continued to make a contribution to the many 

communities across Canada in which we operate by 

supporting local and national activities, events and 

organizations. We are part of an ongoing effort to advance 

the financial literacy and financial security of Canadians.

Investors Group has a culture of caring, with a strong focus on 

supporting and encouraging our employees and Consultants 

to give back to their communities. As part of this focus:

• The 13th annual Herbert H. Carnegie Community Service 

Award was presented to Winnipeg West Consultant Kevin 

Kaiser for his exceptional, long-term community service in 

the sport of hockey and a number of other areas. 

• The Herbert H. Carnegie Community Leadership Award was 

presented to Edward Croken, Regional Director for Edmonton 

Sherwood Park, in recognition of his ongoing commitment 

to helping his community through a variety of endeavours.

• The President’s Lifetime Volunteer Achievement Award  

went to David Cheop, Vice-President, Corporate Compliance,  

for his instrumental role in the emergence, development, and 

rejuvenation of the Chinatown district in downtown Winnipeg. 

BUILDING ON STRENGTH

Investors Group continues to focus on our strengths as we 

build for the future. The active engagement of our Consultants 

and employees, the continual refinement of financial planning, 

expanded investment management resources and increased 

product and service offerings demonstrate our commitment 

to meet the financial needs of Canadians.
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“Our vision is to improve our clients’ financial well-being.”  
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MACKENZIE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

In 2016, Mackenzie Investments continued to invest in a 

number of key initiatives to execute on our vision to deliver 

financial success to investors through their eyes. We have 

focused on ensuring we provide distinctive and innovative 

products to meet the evolving needs of advisors and their 

clients, and our investment boutiques strive to deliver 

competitive, consistent, risk-adjusted returns.

In May 2016, Barry McInerney was appointed President 

and Chief Executive Officer of Mackenzie Investments. 

Mr. McInerney has more than 25 years of experience in 

the investment management business and has held senior 

executive positions at several leading financial institutions 

in North America. He brings a global perspective and much 

experience to the Mackenzie Investments team.

Our distribution channel continues to provide insights about 

the markets and our products to help advisors and investors 

through various market cycles. The implementation and 

activation of our strategies has generated positive feedback 

and results from our key constituents, and we are seeing the 

impact of our market momentum through both qualitative 

and quantitative measures. 

We work to ensure our brand resonates strongly in the 

marketplace and our fresh brand identity, introduced in 2015, 

continued to grow in 2016. The innovative products launched 

during the year reflect the “Confidence in a Changing World” 

tagline – a message that conveys Mackenzie’s strong heritage 

of thought leadership and modern thinking that help our 

clients achieve their financial goals.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

We strengthened our investment management capabilities 

in two areas in 2016. 

In January we introduced a new Canadian Growth investment 

boutique, headed by a Lipper®-award winning team previously 

from Bluewater Investment Management Inc., which had 

managed key Mackenzie investments for 20 years. This change 

augments our premier portfolio management capabilities, 

bringing in-house the portfolio advisors for Mackenzie Canadian 

Growth Fund, Mackenzie Canadian Growth Balanced 

Fund, Mackenzie Canadian Concentrated Equity Fund, and 

Symmetry Canadian Equity Fund. 

In March the Mackenzie Cundill boutique was strengthened 

through leadership changes. Portfolio managers Jonathan 

Norwood and Richard Wong, each with demonstrated 

successful track records and proven expertise in value investing, 

are co-leading the Cundill team.

The quality, depth and talent of our 10 investment boutiques 

and sub-advisors provide a broad range of investment solutions 

that cover a variety of market conditions. At December 31, 

2016, 41% of our mutual fund assets were rated four or five 

star by Morningstar†. 



IGM FINANCIAL INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  MACKENZIE FINANCIAL CORPORATION REPORT ON OPERATIONS 11

Mackenzie Investments provides investment management and related services through 
diversified investment solutions using proprietary investment research and experienced 
investment professionals to deliver our various product offerings. We distribute our 
investment services through industry channels to both retail and institutional investors.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Mutual fund assets under management 

were $51.3 billion at December 31, 2016, up 

5.9% from $48.4 billion at December 31, 2015.

• Mutual fund gross sales were $6.9 billion, 

a decrease of 0.4% from the prior year’s 

level of $7.0 billion.

• Mutual fund net redemptions were 

$667 million, compared to $1.3 billion 

in 2015.

• Total assets under management were 

$64.0 billion at December 31, 2016, 

up 3.9% from 2015.

At the 2016 Lipper® Fund Awards, three Mackenzie Investments funds were 

recognized for outstanding fund performance: 

• Mackenzie Canadian Growth Balanced Series A: Best three-year and five-year 

performance in the Canadian Equity Balanced category 

• Mackenzie Canadian Growth Series A: Best three-year performance 

in the Canadian Focused Equity category

• Mackenzie Precious Metals Class Series A: Best five-year performance 

in the Precious Metals Equity category

The awards honour the top funds in each category that have delivered 

stronger and more consistent performance than their peers.

PRODUCT FOCUS

Through a number of product launches in 2016, we continued to extend our 

commitment to bring the best offerings to advisors and help them meet their 

clients’ needs. 

In April we launched four active fixed income Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs): 

Mackenzie Core Plus Global Fixed Income ETF, Mackenzie Unconstrained 

Bond ETF, Mackenzie Floating Rate Income ETF and Mackenzie Core Plus 

Canadian Fixed Income ETF. These funds offer clients solid options when 

building long-term diversified portfolios. Each takes a different approach 

to generate stable risk-adjusted returns in the fixed income markets. 

The active management of the ETFs allows clients to benefit from our fund 

management expertise. 

In June we entered into an exclusive Canadian distribution arrangement 

with global award-winning asset manager TOBAM Investments. TOBAM’s 

proprietary methodology is a unique, proven process for increasing the 

diversification of portfolio holdings to protect portfolios from structural bias 

and unmanaged risks often found in cap-weighted indices. 
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MACKENZIE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION

Mackenzie Investments
Mutual Fund Assets under Management
As at December 31 ($ billions)

51.3

2012 20152013 2014
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40.4
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In partnership with TOBAM we launched five smart beta index ETFs and five 

related mutual funds that address a number of geographic regions. The ETFs 

are designed to track the performance of select rules-based indices from the 

TOBAM Maximum Diversification Index Series. Each index aims to create 

a more diversified portfolio relative to a market capitalization weighted 

benchmark across Canadian, U.S., and international markets. 

The five related mutual funds are built with a core investment in the Mackenzie 

Maximum Diversification Index ETFs and may also invest a portion of their 

assets in other ETFs or in securities directly. 

We also launched two mutual funds that address the needs of investor low 

volatility solutions and global diversification: Mackenzie Ivy International 

Equity Fund and Mackenzie Global Low Volatility Fund. Both provide 

opportunities in overseas markets while aiming to give investors a smoother 

equity experience. 

DISTRIBUTION

Mackenzie Investments distributes its retail investment products through 

third-party financial advisors and their firms across Canada. We have 

specialty teams focused on strategic alliances with third-party investment 

programs offered by banks, insurance companies and other investment 

companies and institutional investment management services for pension 

plans, foundations and other institutions. Through these long-standing 

relationships, we have one of the broadest retail distribution platforms in 

Canada and are positioned to serve the needs of a wide range of clients.
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Throughout 2016, Mackenzie Investments continued its 

commitment to corporate responsibility with a focus  

on economic development while improving quality of life  

for our employees and communities.

As part of IGM Financial, we believe that considering the 

environmental, social and governance impacts of our business 

contributes to long-term profitability and value creation. We 

continue to address these impacts through the advancement 

of the IGM Financial corporate responsibility strategy.

Mackenzie Investments continued its commitment to 

incorporate the principles of responsible investing into 

investment analysis and decision making processes. As new 

signatories to the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI), 

we completed our first public reporting cycle. The PRI is a 

collaborative effort of global investors with a goal to develop  

a more sustainable financial system.

In 2016, we expanded our commitment to reducing our 

carbon footprint with the purchase of green transport 

fuel from Bullfrog Power and carbon offsets through Less 

Emissions. These purchases offset our necessary business 

travel while supporting the advancement of the renewable 

energy industry.

We continued to support charities across the country through 

the Mackenzie Investments Charitable Foundation, our  

corporate giving and employee volunteer programs. The focus 

of the foundation grants are primarily on social service 

organizations with a focus on children and youth, especially 

those at risk.

Mackenzie Investments’ long-term support of snow sports and 

golf in Canada continued in 2016. We entered into a three-

year partnership with Snowboard Ontario to help strengthen 

both grassroots programs and high performance initiatives. 

A variety of charities across the country benefit from our 

partnership with PGA TOUR Canada, and the Mackenzie Tour 

raised over $1 million for charitable causes nationally in 2016, 

an increase of 86% year-over-year.

BUILDING ON STRENGTH

Mackenzie Investments remains dedicated to our investor-

focused vision of providing high-quality investment solutions 

designed to help investors achieve financial success on their 

terms. We are proud of our track record, our people and our 

business, and we look forward to continuing to serve the 

evolving needs of advisors and investors with confidence.
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Investment Planning Counsel’s relationship with IGM Financial provides a solid 

foundation to achieve excellence and growth. The scale, strength and expertise 

of IGM Financial allow operational efficiencies in areas such as compliance and 

back-office infrastructure. Our advisors benefit from a stable operating environment, 

which allows them to build a strong practice and provide enhanced service to clients.

The company continued to enjoy success in 2016 with the IPC Private Wealth 

platform, which recorded over $350 millon in gross sales. This platform, launched 

in 2015, allows for flexible investment solutions for clients with over $500,000 of 

investable assets.

In May 2016, after growing our team to 250 people, Investment Planning Counsel’s 

head office moved to a state-of-the-art LEED Gold office space. With an overall 

focus on positive culture and health and wellness, the new building reduces our 

environmental impact and facilitates better workflows and interaction among 

our employees and advisors. 

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Investment Planning Counsel considers the environmental, social and governance 

impacts of our business because we believe that doing so contributes to strong 

performance over the long term.

We continue to address these impacts through the advancement of the IGM 

Financial corporate responsibility strategy.

Our responsible investing policy formalizes the practice of including environmental, 

social and governance factors in the investment process for investment mandates 

managed by Counsel Portfolio Services.

Investment Planning Counsel is committed to supporting communities where 

we operate. We practice a culture of “giving back to society,” supporting numerous 

local and national charities, events and organizations through our advisor and 

employee volunteering programs.

Launched in 2015, our Volunteer of the Year program recognizes the 

contributions of volunteers who have participated in the community. The 2016 

award was presented to Bill D’Silva, Recruitment Coordinator, in recognition of 

his contribution to a number of charitable causes, including The Healing Cycle 

Foundation and Movember. 

We also recognize that diversity in the workplace is an important part of building 

a strong connection to the community. By providing an inclusive workplace, we 

strengthen our business to serve our diverse client base. In 2015, IPC partnered 

with Toronto Region Immigrant Employment Council (TRIEC) and Citizenship 

and Immigration Canada (CIC) to recruit new immigrants who are ready to 

contribute their education, skills and work experience to our company.

BUILDING FOR THE FUTURE

Investment Planning Counsel continues to improve our product and service 

offering for advisors and clients. Through ongoing enhancements to our business 

fundamentals, we will continue to deliver value to advisors and clients, while 

building our reputation as a leading network of advisors.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Investment Planning Counsel partners 

with over 800 advisors across the country 

and we continue to attract advisors to our 

business model.

• Assets under management in Counsel 

Portfolio Services increased from $4.2 billon 

to $4.5 billon in 2016, an increase of 7.7%.

• Assets under administration were 

$26.1 billon, an increase of 6.8% over the 

2015 total of $24.5 billion.

Investment Planning Counsel is an integrated 

fi nancial services company focused on providing 

Canadians with high-quality fi nancial products, 

services and advice through our network of 

independent fi nancial advisors. We are dedicated 

to providing independent fi nancial advisors with the 

tools, products and support they need to build a 

successful business and serve a wide range of clients.

Investment Planning Counsel is one of the largest 

fi nancial planning organizations in Canada. 

Since our inception in 1996, we have continued 

to evolve and grow to meet the needs and 

expectations of our clients and advisors. 

INVESTMENT
PLANNING 
COUNSEL INC.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) presents management’s view of the results of operations and financial condition 
of IGM Financial Inc. (IGM Financial or the Company) as at and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and should be 
read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Commentary in the MD&A as at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 is as of February 10, 2017. 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Consolidated Financial Statements of IGM Financial, which are the basis of the information presented in the Company’s MD&A, 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and are presented in Canadian dollars 
(Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements). 

PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF VOTING SHARES
As at December 31, 2016, Power Financial Corporation (PFC) and Great-West Lifeco Inc. (Lifeco), a subsidiary of PFC, held directly 
or indirectly 61.5% and 3.8%, respectively, of the outstanding common shares of IGM Financial. 

Certain statements in this MD&A, other than statements of historical fact, are forward-
looking statements based on certain assumptions and reflect IGM Financial’s current 
expectations. Forward-looking statements are provided to assist the reader in understanding 
the Company’s financial position and results of operations as at and for the periods ended 
on certain dates and to present information about management’s current expectations 
and plans relating to the future. Readers are cautioned that such statements may not 
be appropriate for other purposes. These statements may include, without limitation, 
statements regarding the operations, business, financial condition, expected financial 
results, performance, prospects, opportunities, priorities, targets, goals, ongoing objectives, 
strategies and outlook of the Company, as well as the outlook for North American and 
international economies, for the current fiscal year and subsequent periods. Forward-
looking statements include statements that are predictive in nature, depend upon or refer 
to future events or conditions, or include words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “plans”, 
“believes”, “estimates”, “seeks”, “intends”, “targets”, “projects”, “forecasts” or negative versions 
thereof and other similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as “may”, “will”, 
“should”, “would” and “could”. 

This information is based upon certain material factors or assumptions that were applied in 
drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection as reflected in the forward-looking 
statements, including the perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected 
future developments, as well as other factors that are believed to be appropriate in the 
circumstances. While the Company considers these assumptions to be reasonable based on 
information currently available to management, they may prove to be incorrect.

By its nature, this information is subject to inherent risks and uncertainties that may 
be general or specific and which give rise to the possibility that expectations, forecasts, 
predictions, projections or conclusions will not prove to be accurate, that assumptions may 
not be correct and that objectives, strategic goals and priorities will not be achieved. 

A variety of material factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ 
control, affect the operations, performance and results of the Company, and its subsidiaries, 

and their businesses, and could cause actual results to differ materially from current 
expectations of estimated or anticipated events or results. These factors include, but are not 
limited to: the impact or unanticipated impact of general economic, political and market 
factors in North America and internationally, interest and foreign exchange rates, global 
equity and capital markets, management of market liquidity and funding risks, changes in 
accounting policies and methods used to report financial condition (including uncertainties 
associated with critical accounting assumptions and estimates), the effect of applying future 
accounting changes, operational and reputational risks, business competition, technological 
change, changes in government regulations and legislation, changes in tax laws, unexpected 
judicial or regulatory proceedings, catastrophic events, the Company’s ability to complete 
strategic transactions, integrate acquisitions and implement other growth strategies, and 
the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ success in anticipating and managing the foregoing factors.

The reader is cautioned that the foregoing list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect 
any of the Company’s forward-looking statements. The reader is also cautioned to consider 
these and other factors, uncertainties and potential events carefully and not place undue 
reliance on forward-looking statements. 

Other than as specifically required by applicable Canadian law, the Company undertakes 
no  obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances 
after the date on which such statements are made, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 
events, whether as a result of new information, future events or results, or otherwise.

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties of the Company’s business and 
material factors or assumptions on which information contained in forward-looking 
statements is based is provided in its disclosure materials, including this Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and its most recent Annual Information Form, filed with the 
securities regulatory authorities in Canada, available at www.sedar.com.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Net earnings available to common shareholders, which is an additional measure in 
accordance with IFRS, may be subdivided into two components consisting of:

•  Operating earnings available to common shareholders; and

•  Other items, which include the after-tax impact of any item that management considers 
to be of a non-recurring nature or that could make the period-over-period comparison 
of results from operations less meaningful. 

“Operating earnings available to common shareholders”, “operating diluted earnings per 
share” (EPS) and “operating return on average common equity” (ROE) are non-IFRS financial 
measures which are used to provide management and investors with additional measures 
to assess earnings performance. These non-IFRS financial measures do not have standard 
meanings prescribed by IFRS and may not be directly comparable to similar measures used 
by other companies.

“Earnings before interest and taxes” (EBIT), “earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization” (EBITDA) and “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization” (Adjusted EBITDA) are also non-IFRS financial measures. EBIT, EBITDA 

and Adjusted EBITDA are alternative measures of performance utilized by management, 
investors and investment analysts to evaluate and analyze the Company’s results. EBITDA 
is a common measure used in the asset management industry to assess profitability before 
the impact of different financing methods, income taxes, depreciation of capital assets and 
amortization of intangible assets. Other items of a non-recurring nature, or that could 
make the period-over-period comparison of results from operations less meaningful, are 
further excluded to arrive at Adjusted EBITDA. These non-IFRS financial measures do not 
have standard meanings prescribed by IFRS and may not be directly comparable to similar 
measures used by other companies.

“Earnings before income taxes” and “net earnings available to common shareholders” are 
additional IFRS measures which are used to provide management and investors with 
additional measures to assess earnings performance. These measures are considered 
additional IFRS measures as they are in addition to the minimum line items required by IFRS 
and are relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance.

Refer to the appropriate reconciliations of non-IFRS financial measures to reported results 
in accordance with IFRS in Tables 1 and 2.

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES AND ADDITIONAL IFRS MEASURES
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IGM FINANCIAL INC.
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS

IGM Financial Inc. (TSX:IGM) is one of Canada’s premier financial 
services companies. The Company’s principal businesses are 
Investors Group Inc. and Mackenzie Financial Corporation, each 
operating distinctly, primarily within the advice segment of the 
financial services market. 

Mutual fund assets under management were $137.1 billion 
at December 31, 2016 compared with $127.5 billion at 
December 31, 2015. Average mutual fund assets under 
management for the year ended December 31, 2016 were 
$129.8 billion compared to $129.4 billion in 2015.

Total assets under management were $141.8 billion at 
December 31, 2016 compared with $133.6 billion at 
December 31, 2015, as detailed in Tables 4 and 5. Average total 
assets under management for the year ended December 31, 
2016 were $135.6 billion compared to $140.4 billion in 2015. 

Net earnings available to common shareholders for the year 
ended December 31, 2016 were $770.5 million or $3.19 
per share compared to net earnings available to common 
shareholders of $771.7 million or $3.11 per share in 2015.

Operating earnings available to common shareholders, 
excluding other items outlined below, for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 were $736.5 million or $3.05 per share 
compared to operating earnings available to common 
shareholders of $796.0 million or $3.21 per share in 2015. 

Other items for the year ended December 31, 2016 consisted 
of a favourable change in income tax provision estimates of 
$34.0 million, recorded in the fourth quarter, related to certain 
tax filings.

Other items for the year ended December 31, 2015 consisted 
of an after-tax charge of $24.3 million recorded in the fourth 
quarter related to restructuring and other charges.

Shareholders’ equity was $4.7 billion as at December 31, 2016, 
unchanged from December 31, 2015. Return on average 
common equity based on operating earnings for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 was 16.3%, compared with 17.4% for the 
comparative period in 2015. The quarterly dividend per common 
share was 56.25 cents in 2016, unchanged from the end of 2015. 

Operating Earnings and  Operating  
Earnings per Share
For the financial year ($ millions, except per share amounts)

2012 excluded a reduction in income tax estimates related to 
certain tax filings, the proportionate share of the charge related 
to the changes in an affiliate’s litigation provision, and a non-cash 
income tax charge.

2013 excluded an after-tax charge related to restructuring and 
other charges and the proportionate share of the benefit related 
to the changes in an affiliate’s litigation provisions.

2014 excluded an after-tax charge related to client distributions 
and other costs, and an after-tax charge related to restructuring 
and other charges.

2015 excluded an after-tax charge related to restructuring and 
other charges.

2016 excluded a reduction in income tax estimates related to 
certain tax filings.

3.05

736

Operating Earnings

Operating Diluted EPS

826

3.27

796
746 764

3.21
2.92 3.02

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
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REPORTABLE SEGMENTS
IGM Financial’s reportable segments, which reflect the current 
organizational structure and internal financial reporting, are:

• Investors Group

• Mackenzie Investments (Mackenzie Investments or 
Mackenzie)

• Corporate and Other.

Management measures and evaluates the performance 
of these segments based on EBIT as shown in Table 2. Segment 
operations are discussed in each of their respective Review 
of Segment Operating Results sections of the MD&A.

Certain items reflected in Table 2 are not allocated to segments:

• Interest expense – represents interest expense on long-term debt. 

• Restructuring and other charges:

 – 2015 primarily reflects severance and payments to third 
parties related to exiting certain investment management 
activities and third party back office relationships. 
The largest components of these activities relate to:

 ▸ Mackenzie - closing the investment management office 
in Singapore as well as implementing other personnel 
changes in order to redeploy resources towards other 

corporate priorities, which management believes will 
provide greater benefits to Mackenzie over time. 

 ▸ Investors Group - introducing a new in-house dealer 
platform for nominee accounts and exiting its current 
relationship with its third party carrying broker. This 
new platform was introduced in 2016 and enhances 
the service experience to Consultants and clients and is 
expected to achieve efficiencies over the long term. 

•  Income taxes – changes in the effective tax rates are shown  
in Table 3. 

Tax planning may result in the Company recording lower 
levels of income taxes. Management monitors the status of its 
income tax filings and regularly assesses the overall adequacy 
of its provision for income taxes and, as a result, income 
taxes recorded in prior years may be adjusted in the current 
year. The effect of changes in management’s best estimates 
reported in operating earnings is reflected in Other items, 
which also includes, but is not limited to, the effect of lower 
effective income tax rates on foreign operations. 

• Perpetual preferred share dividends – represents the dividends 
declared on the Company’s 5.90% non-cumulative first 
preferred shares. 

TABLE 1: RECONCILIATION OF NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

 2016 2015
  
($ millions) EARNINGS EPS(1) EARNINGS EPS(1)

Operating earnings available to common shareholders – Non-IFRS measure $ 736.5 $ 3.05 $ 796.0 $ 3.21
 Reduction in income tax estimates related to certain tax filings  34.0  0.14  –  –
 Restructuring and other charges, net of tax  –  –  (24.3)  (0.10)

Net earnings available to common shareholders – IFRS $ 770.5 $ 3.19 $ 771.7 $ 3.11

Adjusted EBITDA – Non-IFRS measure $ 1,320.8   $ 1,392.6
 Restructuring and other charges  –    (33.9)

EBITDA – Non-IFRS measure  1,320.8    1,358.7
 Commission amortization  (235.8)    (232.9)
 Amortization of capital assets and intangible assets and other  (45.9)    (42.9)
 Interest expense on long-term debt  (92.2)    (92.1)

 Earnings before income taxes   946.9    990.8
 Income taxes  (167.6)    (210.3)
 Perpetual preferred share dividends  (8.8)    (8.8)

Net earnings available to common shareholders – IFRS $ 770.5   $ 771.7

(1) Diluted earnings per share
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TABLE 2: CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS BY SEGMENT

 INVESTORS GROUP MACKENZIE CORPORATE & OTHER TOTAL
    
($ millions) 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Revenues
 Fee income $ 1,833.0 $ 1,776.2 $ 769.0 $ 809.3 $ 254.9 $ 250.6 $ 2,856.9 $ 2,836.1
 Net investment income and other  71.6  70.1  4.0  6.0  112.2  119.1  187.8  195.2

    1,904.6  1,846.3  773.0  815.3  367.1  369.7  3,044.7  3,031.3

Expenses
 Commission  624.9  586.3  291.3  304.5  173.8  171.3  1,090.0  1,062.1
 Non-Commission  543.5  499.3  310.3  294.5  61.8  58.6  915.6  852.4

    1,168.4  1,085.6  601.6  599.0  235.6  229.9  2,005.6  1,914.5

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 736.2 $ 760.7 $ 171.4 $ 216.3 $ 131.5 $ 139.8  1,039.1  1,116.8

Interest expense              (92.2)  (92.1)
Restructuring and other charges              –  (33.9)

Earnings before income taxes              946.9  990.8
Income taxes              167.6  210.3

Net earnings              779.3  780.5
Perpetual preferred share dividends              8.8  8.8

Net earnings available to common shareholders            $ 770.5 $ 771.7

Operating earnings available to common shareholders(1)          $ 736.5 $ 796.0

(1) Refer to Non-IFRS Financial Measures and Additional IFRS Measures in this MD&A for an explanation of the Company’s use of non-IFRS financial measures.

TABLE 3: EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE

 THREE MONTHS ENDED TWELVE MONTHS ENDED
  
  2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
  DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31

Income taxes at Canadian federal and 
 provincial statutory rates 26.84 % 26.84 % 26.73 % 26.84 % 26.72 %
 Effect of:
  Proportionate share of affiliate’s earnings (2.76)  (2.75)  (3.57)  (2.96)  (3.01)
  Loss consolidation(1) (2.36)  (2.39)  (2.79)  (2.56)  (2.44)
  Other items 0.49  –  (0.57)  (0.03)  (0.05)

Effective income tax rate – operating earnings 22.21  21.70  19.80  21.29  21.22
 Reduction in income tax estimates related  
  to certain tax filings (13.15)  –  –  (3.59)  –

Effective income tax rate – net earnings 9.06 % 21.70 % 19.80 % 17.70 % 21.22 %

(1) See the Transactions with Related Parties section of this MD&A for additional information.
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SUMMARY OF CHANGES IN TOTAL 
 ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
Total assets under management were $141.8 billion at 
December 31, 2016 compared to $133.6 billion at December 31, 
2015. Changes in total assets under management are detailed 
in Tables 4 and 5.

Changes in assets under management for Investors Group and 
Mackenzie are discussed further in each of their respective 
Review of the Business sections in the MD&A.

TABLE 4: CHANGE IN TOTAL ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT – Q4 2016 VS. Q4 2015

   INVESTMENT  
 INVESTORS GROUP MACKENZIE  PLANNING COUNSEL CONSOLIDATED(1)

    
THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31

Mutual funds(2)

 Gross sales – money market $ 242 $ 283 $ 122 $ 94 $ 11 $ 9 $ 374 $ 386
 Gross sales – long-term  1,847  1,538  1,831  1,558  196  194  3,875  3,276

 Total mutual fund gross sales $ 2,089 $ 1,821 $ 1,953 $ 1,652 $ 207 $ 203 $ 4,249 $ 3,662

 Net sales – money market $ 59 $ 93 $ 54 $ 27 $ 7 $ 7 $ 121 $ 127
 Net sales – long-term  202  (93)  (78)  (454)  17  35  142  (457)

 Total mutual fund net sales $ 261 $ – $ (24) $ (427) $ 24 $ 42 $ 263 $ (330)

Sub-advisory, institutional 
 and other accounts(3)(4)

 Gross sales $ – $ – $ 918 $ 941 $ – $ – $ 364 $ 502
 Net sales  –  –  (1,473)  61  –  –  (1,568)  3

Combined(2)(3)(4)

 Gross sales $ 2,089 $ 1,821 $ 2,871 $ 2,593 $ 207 $ 203 $ 4,613 $ 4,164
 Net sales  261  –  (1,497)  (366)  24  42  (1,305)  (327)

Change in total assets 
 under management
 Net sales $ 261 $ – $ (1,497) $ (366) $ 24 $ 42 $ (1,305) $ (327)
 Investment returns  2,087  1,365  1,259  1,728  (8)  131  3,267  3,052

 Net change in assets  2,348  1,365  (238)  1,362  16  173  1,962  2,725
 Beginning assets  78,892  73,532  64,273  60,291  4,485  4,005  139,867  130,923

Ending assets $ 81,240 $ 74,897 $ 64,035 $ 61,653 $ 4,501 $ 4,178 $ 141,829 $ 133,648

(1) Total Gross Sales and Net Sales excluded $554 million and $93 million, respectively, in accounts sub-advised by Mackenzie on behalf of Investors Group and Investment Planning 
Counsel ($453 million and $3 million in 2015). 
Total assets under management excluded $7.9 billion of assets sub-advised by Mackenzie on behalf of Investors Group and Investment Planning Counsel ($7.1 billion at 
December 31, 2015).

(2)  During the fourth quarter of 2015, certain third party programs which include Mackenzie mutual funds made fund allocation changes which resulted in gross sales of $58 million, 
redemptions of $297 million and net redemptions of $239 million.

(3)  During the fourth quarter of 2016, MD Financial Management (“MD”) reassigned sub-advisory responsibilities on a $1.5 billion fixed income mandate advised by Mackenzie.

(4) Mackenzie gross sales and net sales include Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) net creations of $43 million in the fourth quarter of 2016.



IGM FINANCIAL INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 21

TABLE 5: CHANGE IN TOTAL ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT – 2016 VS. 2015

   INVESTMENT  
 INVESTORS GROUP MACKENZIE  PLANNING COUNSEL CONSOLIDATED(1)

    
TWELVE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31 DEC. 31

Mutual funds(2)

 Gross sales – money market $ 1,077 $ 1,091 $ 430 $ 391 $ 46 $ 58 $ 1,553 $ 1,540
 Gross sales – long-term  6,683  6,799  6,509  6,574  813  683  14,005  14,023

 Total mutual fund gross sales $ 7,760 $ 7,890 $ 6,939 $ 6,965 $ 859 $ 741 $ 15,558 $ 15,563

 Net sales – money market $ 312 $ 374 $ 99 $ 93 $ 31 $ 45 $ 443 $ 512
 Net sales – long-term   54  380  (766)  (1,351)  138  132  (573)  (793)

 Total mutual fund net sales $ 366 $ 754 $ (667) $ (1,258) $ 169 $ 177 $ (130) $ (281)

Sub-advisory, institutional 
 and other accounts(3)(4)

 Gross sales $ – $ – $ 4,065 $ 4,973 $ – $ – $ 2,101 $ 2,339
 Net sales  –  –  (1,453)  (9,337)  –  –  (1,716)  (9,976)

Combined(2)(3)(4)

 Gross sales $ 7,760 $ 7,890 $ 11,004 $ 11,938 $ 859 $ 741 $ 17,659 $ 17,902
 Net sales  366  754  (2,120)  (10,595)  169  177  (1,846)  (10,257)

Change in total assets 
 under management
 Net sales $ 366 $ 754 $ (2,120) $ (10,595) $ 169 $ 177 $ (1,846) $ (10,257)
 Investment returns  5,977  684  4,502  1,372  154  151  10,027  1,986

 Net change in assets  6,343  1,438  2,382  (9,223)  323  328  8,181  (8,271)
 Beginning assets  74,897  73,459  61,653  70,876  4,178  3,850  133,648  141,919

Ending assets $ 81,240 $ 74,897 $ 64,035 $ 61,653 $ 4,501 $ 4,178 $ 141,829 $ 133,648

(1) Total Gross Sales and Net Sales excluded $2.0 billion and $261 million, respectively, in accounts sub-advised by Mackenzie on behalf of Investors Group and Investment Planning 
Counsel ($2.7 billion and $593 million in 2015). 
Total assets under management excluded $7.9 billion of assets sub-advised by Mackenzie on behalf of Investors Group and Investment Planning Counsel ($7.1 billion at 
December 31, 2015).

(2) During the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, certain third party programs which include Mackenzie mutual funds made fund allocation changes which resulted in gross 
sales of $199 million, redemptions of $894 million and net redemptions of $695 million.

(3) Mackenzie gross sales and net sales include Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) net creations of $113 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2016.

(4) During the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, MD Financial Management (MD) reassigned sub-advisory responsibilities on a $1.5 billion fixed income mandate advised 
by Mackenzie. 
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, MD reassigned sub-advisory responsibilities on four fixed income mandates (totalling $10.3 billion) advised by Mackenzie.
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION
Financial information for the three most recently completed 
years is included in Table 6. 

Net Earnings and Earnings per Share – Except as noted in the 
reconciliation in Table 6, variations in net earnings and total 
revenues result primarily from changes in average daily mutual 
fund assets under management. Mutual fund assets under 
management increased to $126.0 billion in 2014, $127.5 billion 
in 2015 and $137.1 billion in 2016, driven largely by changes in 
financial markets during the period. Average mutual fund assets 
under management for the year ended December 31, 2016 were 
$129.8 billion compared to $129.4 billion in 2015. The impact 
on earnings and revenues of changes in average daily mutual 
fund assets under management and other pertinent items are 
discussed in the Review of Segment Operating Results sections 
of the MD&A for both Investors Group and Mackenzie.

Total assets under management at December 31, 2016 
were $141.8 billion and included mutual fund assets under 

management totalling $137.1 billion. Net earnings in future 
periods will largely be determined by the level of mutual 
fund assets which will continue to be influenced by global 
market conditions. 

Dividends per Common Share – Annual dividends per common 
share were $2.25 in 2016, unchanged from 2015. Annual 
dividends per common share increased by 3.4% in 2015 and 
1.2% in 2014.

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
The Summary of Quarterly Results in Table 7 includes the 
eight most recent quarters and the reconciliation of non-IFRS 
financial measures to net earnings in accordance with IFRS.

Changes in average daily mutual fund assets under management 
over the eight most recent quarters, as shown in Table 7, largely 
reflect changes in domestic and foreign markets. 
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TABLE 6: SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

    2016 2015 2014

Consolidated statements of earnings ($ millions)

Revenues
 Fee income $ 2,856.9 $ 2,836.1 $ 2,762.5
 Net investment income and other  187.8  195.2  166.3

    3,044.7  3,031.3  2,928.8
Expenses  2,097.8  2,006.6  1,864.6

    946.9  1,024.7  1,064.2
Restructuring and other charges  –  (33.9)  (18.3)
Client distributions and other costs  –  –  (81.0)

Earnings before income taxes  946.9  990.8  964.9
Income taxes  167.6  210.3  202.8

Net earnings  779.3  780.5  762.1
Perpetual preferred share dividends  8.8  8.8  8.8

Net earnings available to common shareholders $ 770.5 $ 771.7 $ 753.3

Reconciliation of Non-IFRS financial measures(1) ($ millions)

Operating earnings available to common shareholders – non-IFRS measure $ 736.5 $ 796.0 $ 826.1
Other items:
 Reduction in income tax estimates related to certain tax filings  34.0  –  –
 Restructuring and other charges, net of tax  –  (24.3)  (13.6)
 Client distributions and other costs, net of tax  –  –  (59.2)

Net earnings available to common shareholders – IFRS $ 770.5 $ 771.7 $ 753.3

Earnings per share ($)

 Operating earnings available to common shareholders(1)

  – Basic $ 3.05 $ 3.21 $ 3.28
  – Diluted  3.05  3.21  3.27
 Net earnings available to common shareholders
  – Basic  3.19  3.11  2.99
  – Diluted  3.19  3.11  2.98

Dividends per share ($)

 Common $ 2.25 $ 2.25 $ 2.18
 Preferred, Series B  1.48  1.48  1.48

Average daily mutual fund assets ($ millions) $ 129,813 $ 129,424 $ 123,540

Total mutual fund assets under management ($ millions) $ 137,053 $ 127,517 $ 126,039

Total assets under management ($ millions) $ 141,829 $ 133,648 $ 141,919

Total corporate assets ($ millions) $ 15,625 $ 14,831 $ 14,418

Total long-term debt ($ millions) $ 1,325 $ 1,325 $ 1,325

Outstanding common shares (thousands)  240,516  244,788  251,469

(1) Refer to Non-IFRS Financial Measures and Additional IFRS Measures in addition to the Summary of Consolidated Operating Results section included in this MD&A for an explanation 
of Other items used to calculate the Company’s Non-IFRS financial measures.
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TABLE 7: SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

 2016 2016 2016 2016 2015 2015 2015 2015 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Consolidated statements of earnings ($ millions)

Revenues
 Management fees $ 525.7 $ 518.3 $ 497.4 $ 483.8 $ 504.1 $ 508.5 $ 517.3 $ 509.1
 Administration fees  109.0  107.9  104.4  100.3  104.7  104.6  106.0  102.3
 Distribution fees  117.7  101.1  96.3  95.0  97.0  92.7  95.3  94.5
 Net investment income and other  48.7  49.1  46.3  43.7  49.7  45.9  44.6  55.0

    801.1  776.4  744.4  722.8  755.5  751.7  763.2  760.9

Expenses
 Commission  288.2  273.1  267.2  261.5  264.3  263.2  267.7  266.9
 Non-commission  231.1  224.9  231.7  227.9  214.5  208.4  215.9  213.6
 Interest  23.2  23.2  22.9  22.9  23.2  23.2  22.9  22.8

    542.5  521.2  521.8  512.3  502.0  494.8  506.5  503.3

Earnings before undernoted  258.6  255.2  222.6  210.5  253.5  256.9  256.7  257.6
Restructuring and other charges  –  –  –  –  (33.9)  –  –  –

Earnings before income taxes  258.6  255.2  222.6  210.5  219.6  256.9  256.7  257.6
Income taxes  23.4  55.4  47.5  41.3  43.5  55.7  56.0  55.1

Net earnings  235.2  199.8  175.1  169.2  176.1  201.2  200.7  202.5
Perpetual preferred share dividends  2.2  2.2  2.2  2.2  2.2  2.2  2.2  2.2

Net earnings available to common shareholders $ 233.0 $ 197.6 $ 172.9 $ 167.0 $ 173.9 $ 199.0 $ 198.5 $ 200.3

Reconciliation of Non-IFRS financial  
 measures(1) ($ millions)

Operating earnings available to common 
 shareholders – non-IFRS measure $ 199.0 $ 197.6 $ 172.9 $ 167.0 $ 198.2 $ 199.0 $ 198.5 $ 200.3
Other items:
 Reduction in income tax estimates related  
  to certain tax filings  34.0  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
 Restructuring and other charges, net of tax  –  –  –  –  (24.3)  –  –  –

Net earnings available to common  
 shareholders – IFRS  $ 233.0 $ 197.6 $ 172.9 $ 167.0 $ 173.9 $ 199.0 $ 198.5 $ 200.3

Earnings per Share (¢)

Operating earnings available to  
 common shareholders(1)

 – Basic  83  82  72  69  81  81  80  80
 – Diluted  83  82  72  69  81  81  80  80
Net earnings available to common shareholders
 – Basic  97  82  72  69  71  81  80  80
 – Diluted  97  82  72  69  71  81  80  80

Average daily mutual fund assets ($ billions) $ 134.7 $ 132.2 $ 127.9 $ 124.4 $ 127.8 $ 128.6 $ 131.4 $ 129.9

Total mutual fund assets under  
 management ($ billions) $ 137.1 $ 133.6 $ 128.7 $ 127.1 $ 127.5 $ 124.9 $ 129.7 $ 131.5

Total assets under management ($ billions) $ 141.8 $ 139.9 $ 134.7 $ 132.9 $ 133.6 $ 130.9 $ 136.0 $ 148.4

(1) Refer to Non-IFRS Financial Measures and Additional IFRS Measures in addition to the Summary of Consolidated Operating Results section included in this MD&A for an 
explanation of Other items used to calculate the Company’s Non-IFRS financial measures.
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Investors Group provides a broad range of financial and investment 
planning services to Canadians through its exclusive network of 
Consultants across the country. 

Fee income is primarily generated from the management, 
administration and distribution of Investors Group mutual funds. 

Fee income is also earned from the distribution of insurance, 
securities and other financial services. 

Additional revenue is derived from net investment income 
and other income, primarily related to our mortgage business. 

Revenues depend largely on the level and composition of mutual 
fund assets under management. The comprehensive planning 
approach, provided by our Consultants through the broad range 
of financial products and services offered by Investors Group, 
has resulted in a mutual fund redemption rate lower than the 
industry average.

INVESTORS GROUP STRATEGY
Investors Group strives to ensure that the interests of clients, 
shareholders, Consultants and employees are closely aligned. 
Investors Group’s business strategy is focused on:

• Strengthening our distribution network by supporting our 
Consultants in their growth and development, and attracting 
and training new Consultants.

• Emphasizing the delivery of financial advice, products and 
services through our exclusive network of Consultants.

• Providing an effective level of administrative support to our 
Consultants and clients, including active communication 
during all economic cycles.

• Extending the diversity and range of products offered by 
Investors Group as we continue to build and maintain 
enduring client relationships.

• Maximizing returns on business investment by focusing 
resources on initiatives that directly benefit clients and 
Consultants and result in increased efficiency and improved 
control over expenditures. 

CONSULTANT NETWORK
Investors Group distinguishes itself from its competition by 
offering comprehensive planning to its clients within the context 
of long-term relationships. This approach is consistent with 
studies in recent years which indicate that client households 
receiving advice from a financial advisor have higher assets than 
non-advised households, and that this advantage increases based 
on the length of the relationship with the financial advisor. 
At the centre of these relationships is a national distribution 
network of Consultants based in 115 region offices across Canada. 

INVESTORS GROUP
REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

At December 31, 2016, Investors Group had a Consultant 
network of 4,947, down from 5,320 at December 31, 2015. 
To help better understand the nature and composition of 
Investors Group’s Consultant network, the following detail 
provides a breakdown of the Consultant network into its 
significant components:

• 2,300 Consultant practices at December 31, 2016 (2,395 at 
December 31, 2015), which reflect Consultants with more than 
four years of Investors Group experience. These practices may 
include Associates as described below. The level of Consultant 
practices will be a key measurement of our business going 
forward as they serve clientele representing over 95% of AUM. 

• 1,679 New Consultants at December 31, 2016 (2,067 at 
December 31, 2015), which are those Consultants with less 
than four years of Investors Group experience. During the 
fourth quarter, Investors Group accelerated the departure of 
approximately 400 New Consultants who were not expected 
to develop a successful practice. We also tightened recruiting 
standards to promote greater likelihood of success while also 
enhancing our culture and brand.

• 968 Associates and Regional Directors (858 at December 31, 
2015). Associates are licensed team members of Consultant 
practices who provide financial planning services and advice 
to the teams’ clientele. 

Approximately 80% of Consultant practice leaders are studying 
to be or are qualified as Certified Financial Planners (CFP) or its 
Quebec equivalent, Financial Planners (F.Pl.). At December 31, 
2016, 1,553 individuals in our Consultant network held the 
CFP designation or the F.Pl. designation. In addition, there 
were 1,193 individuals enrolled in these programs to gain 
these designations. The total of 2,746 of those studying to be 
or qualified as CFP or F.Pl. is up 22% from 2,253 at December 31, 
2015. The CFP and F.Pl. designations are nationally recognized 
financial planning qualifications that require an individual to 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

1,497 1,552
1,709 1,776 1,833

Fee Income – Investors Group
For the fi nancial year ($ millions)
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demonstrate financial planning competence through education, 
standardized examinations, continuing education requirements, 
and accountability to ethical standards. The Financial Planning 
Standards Council published in 2016 that Investors Group has more 
CFP designation holders than any other organization in Canada.

CONSULTANT DEVELOPMENT

Investors Group combines a number of interview and testing 
techniques to identify individuals who demonstrate a blend 
of experience, education and aptitude that makes them well 
suited to becoming successful financial planners. This process 
is continually reviewed in our efforts to select the most 
appropriate candidates as new Consultants to improve their 
likelihood of success in the future.

Each year our training curriculum is reviewed and refreshed 
to offer new Consultants important building blocks to develop 
client relationships. As Consultants progress, they develop 
their skills as financial planners and business managers by 
attending a selection of focused educational programs including: 
financial planning skills, product knowledge, client service, 
business development skills, compliance, technology, practice 
management and other related topics. This core training is 
supplemented by annual training conferences, where education 
is tailored to both new and experienced Consultants, and by 
other educational programs throughout the year including a 
National Education Day by way of video in the fourth quarter. 
In the fourth quarter of 2016, Investors Group held its first ever 
National Education Day for Consultants.

Investors Group continually reviews and enhances our Consultant 
technology platform, bringing greater efficiencies to our 
Consultants’ contact management and portfolio information 
and financial planning systems to help them serve our clients 
more effectively. These efforts included upgrades to the financial 
planning software used by Consultants. 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT  
AND COMMUNICATION FOR  
CONSULTANTS AND CLIENTS 
Administrative support for Consultants and clients includes 
timely and accurate client account record-keeping and 
reporting, effective problem resolution support, and continuous 
improvements to servicing systems.

This administrative support is provided from both Investors 
Group’s Quebec General Office located in Montreal for 
Consultants and clients residing in Quebec and from Investors 
Group’s head office in Winnipeg, Manitoba for Consultants and 
clients in the rest of Canada. The Quebec General Office has 
over 200 employees and operating units for most functions 
supporting close to 1,100 Consultants throughout Quebec 

and the 21 Quebec region offices. Mutual fund assets under 
management in Quebec were approximately $14 billion as 
at December 31, 2016.

NEW DEALER PLATFORM

A new dealer platform was launched in the fourth quarter 
of 2016 which delivers an enhanced service experience to 
Consultants and clients. This new dealer platform has allowed us 
to internalize carrying broker functionality and client statement 
preparation for Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of 
Canada (IIROC) and Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada 
(MFDA) nominee accounts, which were previously performed 
by a third party service provider, and has provided increased 
automation of transaction activity. This platform supports the 
introduction of new IIROC based products designed to support 
the high net worth segment of our client base. The new 
platform is expected to result in efficiencies over the long term. 

QUARTERLY STATEMENTS

Regular communication with our clients includes quarterly 
reporting of their Investors Group mutual fund holdings and 
the change in asset values of these holdings during the quarter. 
Individual clients experience different returns as a result of 
having different composition of their portfolios in each quarter 
as illustrated on the accompanying charts. The first chart reflects 
in-quarter client account median rates of return for the current 
year, as well as the annual returns for 2016 compared to 2015. 
The second chart reflects the client account median rates of 
return based on one, three and five year timeframes as at 
December 31, 2016. Both charts also illustrate upper and lower 
ranges of rates of return around the median for 90% of Investors 
Group client accounts.

For the three months ended December 31, 2016, the client 
account median rate of return was approximately 2.2% and 89% 
of client accounts experienced positive returns. For the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2016, the client account median 
rate of return was approximately 6.8% and 95% of client accounts 
experienced positive returns.

CLIENT PERFORMANCE AND RATE OF RETURN 
REPORTING

Investors Group has long believed that providing our clients with 
personal account level performance and rate of return information 
over multiple time periods is a meaningful benefit to our clients 
and further demonstrates the value provided through advice over 
the history of our client relationships. 

Beginning with the June 30, 2015 client statements, we added 
quarterly multiple-period account rate of return reporting to 
most Investors Group’s client statements. Our clients now have 
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a multiple-period view of their performance, including one year, 
three year and five year rates of return.

CLIENT EXPERIENCE SURVEY

Consultants maintain a high degree of contact with our clients, 
continuing to reinforce the importance of long-term planning and 
a diversified investment portfolio. Ongoing surveys of our clients 
indicate a strong appreciation of the value of advice and service 
provided by our Consultants through varying economic cycles.

The results of the surveys for the four quarters ending 
December 31, 2016 are detailed in Table 8.
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ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
The level of mutual fund assets under management is influenced 
by three factors: sales, redemptions and investment returns of 
our funds. Changes in assets under management for the periods 
under review are reflected in Table 9. 

CHANGE IN MUTUAL FUND ASSETS UNDER 
MANAGEMENT – 2016 VS. 2015

Investors Group’s mutual fund assets under management were 
$81.2 billion at December 31, 2016, representing an increase 
of 8.5% from $74.9 billion at December 31, 2015. Average daily 
mutual fund assets were $79.7 billion in the fourth quarter of 
2016, up 6.0% from $75.3 billion in the fourth quarter of 2015. 

Client Account Rate of Return (ROR) Experience
Quarterly and Year to Date Returns

Client Account Rate of Return (ROR) Experience
As at December 31, 2016

TABLE 8: CLIENT EXPERIENCE SURVEY – INVESTORS GROUP

SURVEYS COMPLETED FOR THE FOUR QUARTERS ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2016

New client households surveyed 90 days after account opening
 Satisfied with service 96 %
 Offered a financial plan 92
 Satisfied with discussion about goals and concerns 97
 Willing to refer 94

Client households with 12+ months tenure
 Satisfied with service 92 %
 Have a financial plan 85
 Satisfied with level of contact 93
 Willing to refer 88
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For the quarter ended December 31, 2016, sales of Investors 
Group mutual funds through its Consultant network were 
$2.1 billion, an increase of 14.7% from the comparative period in 
2015. Mutual fund redemptions totalled $1.8 billion, and were 
comparable to 2015. Investors Group mutual fund net sales for 
the fourth quarter of 2016 were $261 million compared with 
zero net sales in 2015. During the fourth quarter, investment 
returns resulted in an increase of $2.1 billion in mutual fund 
assets compared to an increase of $1.4 billion in the fourth 
quarter of 2015.

Sales of long-term funds were $1.8 billion for the fourth quarter 
of 2016, an increase of 20.1% from the previous year. Net sales 
of long-term funds for the fourth quarter of 2016 were 
$202 million compared to net redemptions of $93 million in 2015. 

Investors Group’s annualized quarterly redemption rate for long-
term funds was 8.3% in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared 
to 8.8% in the fourth quarter of 2015. Investors Group’s twelve 
month trailing redemption rate for long-term funds was 8.8% at 
December 31, 2016 compared to 8.7% at December 31, 2015, 
and remains well below the corresponding average redemption 
rate for all other members of the Investment Funds Institute of 
Canada (IFIC) of approximately 16.0% at December 31, 2016. 

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, sales of 
Investors Group mutual funds through its Consultant network 
were $7.8 billion, a decrease of 1.6% from 2015. Mutual fund 
redemptions totalled $7.4 billion, an increase of 3.6% from 2015. 
Net sales of Investors Group mutual funds were $366 million 
compared with net sales of $754 million in 2015. Sales of 
long-term funds for the twelve month period in 2016 were 
$6.7 billion compared with $6.8 billion in 2015, a decrease of 
1.7%. Net sales of long-term funds were $54 million compared 
to net sales of $380 million in 2015. During 2016, investment 
returns resulted in an increase of $6.0 billion in mutual fund 
assets compared to an increase of $684 million in 2015.

CHANGE IN MUTUAL FUND ASSETS UNDER 
MANAGEMENT – Q4 2016 VS. Q3 2016

Investors Group’s mutual fund assets under management were 
$81.2 billion at December 31, 2016, an increase of 3.0% from 
$78.9 billion at September 30, 2016. Average daily mutual fund 
assets were $79.7 billion in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared 
to $78.1 billion in the third quarter of 2016, an increase of 2.1%.

For the quarter ended December 31, 2016, sales of Investors Group 
mutual funds through its Consultant network were $2.1 billion, 
an increase of 28.5% from the third quarter of 2016. Mutual 

TABLE 9: CHANGE IN MUTUAL FUND ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT – INVESTORS GROUP

 % CHANGE

THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31

Sales  $ 2,089 $ 1,626 $ 1,821 28.5 % 14.7 %
Redemptions  1,828  1,820  1,821 0.4  0.4

Net sales (redemptions)  261  (194)  – N/M  N/M

Investment returns  2,087  2,883  1,365 (27.6)  52.9

Net change in assets  2,348  2,689  1,365 (12.7)  72.0
Beginning assets  78,892  76,203  73,532 3.5  7.3

Ending assets $ 81,240 $ 78,892 $ 74,897 3.0 % 8.5 %

Average daily assets $ 79,742 $ 78,139 $ 75,250 2.1 % 6.0 %

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Sales  $ 7,760 $ 7,890 (1.6) %
Redemptions  7,394  7,136 3.6

Net sales (redemptions)  366  754 (51.5)
Investment returns  5,977  684 N/M

Net change in assets  6,343  1,438 N/M

Beginning assets  74,897  73,459 2.0

Ending assets $ 81,240 $ 74,897 8.5 %

Average daily assets $ 76,820 $ 75,711 1.5 %
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fund redemptions, which totalled $1.8 billion for the fourth quarter, 
were comparable to the previous quarter and the annualized 
quarterly redemption rate was 8.3% in the fourth quarter 
compared to 8.5% in the third quarter of 2016. Investors Group 
mutual fund net sales were $261 million for the current quarter 
and compared to net redemptions of $194 million in the 
previous quarter. Sales of long-term funds were $1.8 billion for 
the current quarter compared to $1.4 billion in the previous 
quarter. Net sales of long-term funds for the current quarter were 
$202 million compared to net redemptions of $261 million in 
the previous quarter.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
Investors Group is regarded as a leader in personal financial 
services in Canada. Consultants recommend balanced, diversified 
and professionally managed portfolios that reflect the client’s 
goals, preferences and risk tolerance. They also look beyond 
investments to offer clients access to insurance, mortgages and 
other financial services.

PFP – PERSONAL FINANCIAL PLANNER

Investors Group’s Personal Financial Planner (PFP) software 
handles a wide range of potential financial planning needs – 
from projections and illustrations for basic financial planning 
concepts to the preparation of written financial plans which 
integrate all disciplines of financial planning, including investment, 
tax, retirement, education, risk management and estate planning. 

SYMPHONY STRATEGIC INVESTMENT 
PLANNING™ PROGRAM

Symphony is Investors Group’s approach to strategic investment 
planning. The Symphony program is designed to provide a 
scientifically constructed investment portfolio, consistent with 
the client’s investment objectives and suited to their risk profile. 

CHARITABLE GIVING PROGRAM

The Investors Group Charitable Giving Program is a donor-
advised giving program which enables Canadians to make 
donations and build an enduring charitable giving legacy with 
considerably less expense and complexity than setting up and 
administering their own private foundation.

MUTUAL FUNDS 

Investors Group had $81.2 billion in mutual fund assets under 
management at December 31, 2016 in 162 mutual funds covering 
a broad range of investment mandates. This compared with 
$74.9 billion in 2015, an increase of 8.5%. 

Clients can diversify their holdings across investment managers, 
asset categories, investment styles, geography, capitalization and 
sectors through portfolios customized to meet their objectives.

Investors Group funds are managed by I.G. Investment 
Management, our own multi-disciplinary team of investment 
professionals with offices and advisors in North America, Europe, 
and Asia. Our global connections, depth of research and use 
of information technology provide us with the investment 
management capabilities to offer our clients investment 
management expertise suitable for the widest range of 
investment objectives. Investors Group also offers a range 
of partner funds through advisory relationships with other 
investment management firms. Investors Group oversees these 
external investment advisors to ensure that their activities are 
consistent with Investors Group’s investment philosophy and 
with the investment objectives and strategies of the funds that 
they advise. These advisory relationships include the following 
investment managers: Mackenzie Financial Corporation, Putnam 
Investments Canada ULC, PanAgora Asset Management, Inc., 
Irish Life Investment Managers Limited, AGF Investments Inc., 
Allianz Global Investors U.S. LLC, Aristotle Capital Boston, LLC, 
Beutel, Goodman & Company Ltd., Fidelity Investments Canada 
ULC, Fiera Capital Corporation, Franklin Bissett Investment 
Management, LaSalle Investment Management Securities, LLC., 
and Franklin Templeton Investments Corp.

Fund Performance

At December 31, 2016, 53.3% of Investors Group mutual funds 
had a rating of three stars or better from the Morningstar† 
fund ranking service and 15.5% had a rating of four or five 
stars. This compared to the Morningstar† universe of 63.5% 
for three stars or better and 27.7% for four and five star funds 
at December 31, 2016. Morningstar Ratings† are an objective, 
quantitative measure of a fund’s three, five and ten year risk-
adjusted performance relative to comparable funds.

Changes to Mutual Fund Product Offering

Investors Group continues to enhance the performance, scope 
and diversity of our investment offering with the introduction 
of new funds and other product changes that are well-suited 
to the long-term diverse needs of Canadian investors. 

Effective November 1, 2016, Investors Group reduced the annual 
management fees on four mandates: IG AGF Global Equity Fund 
and Class, IG AGF U.S. Growth Fund and Class, IG Mackenzie 
Emerging Markets Class and Investors Canadian Natural 
Resource Fund.

Effective January 1, 2017, Investors Group has discontinued the 
deferred sales charge (DSC) purchase option for its mutual funds 
and, at the same time, fees on no-load series have been reduced. 
During the fourth quarter, following the announcement of changes 
to the DSC in September, the proportion of sales into DSC declined 
to 9% from approximately 50% during the first three quarters.
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MANAGED ASSET AND MULTI-MANAGER INVESTMENT 
PROGRAMS

Investors Group offers several managed asset and multi-
manager investment programs which include Investors Group 
Corporate Class Inc.™, as well as a complete line of portfolio 
funds and the iProfile managed asset program.

Investors Group Corporate Class Inc.™ is a fund structure which 
includes 28 funds advised by I.G. Investment Management, 
19 funds sub-advised by external investment advisors, nine 
Corporate Class portfolios and four funds that are part of the 
iProfile program. At the end of 2016, the Corporate Class funds 
totalled $8.2 billion in assets compared with $7.0 billion in 2015. 

Within the managed assets and multi-manager investment 
programs is a growing selection of asset allocation opportunities 
which include: 

• Allegro Portfolios™ and Corporate Class Portfolios: 
The seven portfolios and six corporate class portfolios 
provide a single-step investment solution offering geographic, 
investment style, asset class, and investment advisor 
diversification based on Symphony asset allocation 
recommendations. At December 31, 2016, the Allegro assets 
under management totalled $7.1 billion compared with 
$6.4 billion at December 31, 2015.

• Alto Portfolios™: The Alto Portfolios provide a single-step 
investment solution offering geographic, investment style 
and asset class diversification based on Symphony asset 
allocation recommendations. The 11 portfolios include 
Investors Group funds and funds sub-advised by Mackenzie. 
Assets in the portfolios were $5.1 billion as of December 31, 
2016 compared with $5.0 billion in the previous year.

• Investors Group Portfolios: These funds have assets of 
$10.7 billion as at December 31, 2016, compared with 
$10.6 billion in the previous year. The program is comprised 
of 10 funds which invest in 50 underlying Investors Group 
funds to provide a high level of diversification.

• Maestro Portfolios™ and Corporate Class Portfolios: 
The three portfolios and three corporate class portfolios were 
available for sale beginning July 2015. At December 31, 2016, 
the Maestro Portfolio assets under management totalled 
$3.6 billion compared with $720 million at December 31, 2015.

• iProfile™: iProfile is a managed asset program which features 
several pools and Corporate Classes. The program is described 
more fully in the following section. At December 31, 2016, the 
iProfile program assets under management were $2.3 billion, 
an increase of 49.8% from $1.6 billion at December 31, 2015.

HIGH NET WORTH OFFERINGS

High net worth clients represent a growing segment of our 
client base. Investors Group has several offerings to address the 

needs of high net worth clients and continues to look at ways 
to provide further offerings to this segment. 

Pricing for Households with Investment 
Assets in Excess of $500,000

Investors Group has investment solutions with differentiated 
pricing for households with investments in Investors Group 
funds in excess of $500,000. 

• Series J had assets of $24.6 billion at December 31, 2016, 
an increase of 7.7% from $22.8 billion at December 31, 2015. 

• Series U provides a pricing structure which separates the 
advisory fee, which is charged directly to a client’s account, 
from the fees charged to the underlying investment funds. 
At December 31, 2016, Series U assets under management 
had increased to $5.4 billion, compared to $3.6 billion at 
December 31, 2015, an increase of 49.6%.

In September 2015, Investors Group provided distributions to 
clients who had not transferred to these lower priced solutions 
when they were eligible, up to the earlier of when they 
transferred or to April 30, 2015. 

iProfile™

This is a unique portfolio management program, launched 
in 2001, that is available for households with assets held at 
Investors Group in excess of $250,000. iProfile investment 
portfolios have been designed to maximize returns and manage 
risk by diversifying across asset classes, management styles and 
geographic regions. The iProfile program has a pricing structure 
which separates the advisory fee, which is charged directly 
to a client’s account, from the fees charged to the underlying 
investment funds. 

The program is advised by a select group of global money 
management firms: I.G. Investment Management, Toron Capital 
Markets Inc., JPMorgan Asset Management (Canada) Inc., 
Jarislowsky, Fraser Limited, Baring International Investment 
Limited, Laketon Investment Management, Putnam Investments 
Canada ULC, PanAgora Asset Management, Inc., Aristotle 
Capital Boston, LLC, and Lazard Asset Management LLC. 

At December 31, 2016, the iProfile program assets under 
management were $2.3 billion, an increase of 49.8% from 
$1.6 billion at December 31, 2015. 

Unbundled Fee Structures

A growing portion of Investors Group’s client assets are in Series 
U and iProfile, which are products with unbundled fee structures 
where a separate advisory fee is charged to the client account 
by the dealer. At December 31, 2016, $7.7 billion, or 9.5% of 
Investors Group’s mutual fund assets under management, were 
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in products with unbundled fee structures, up 49.7% from 
$5.2 billion at December 31, 2015.

Separately Managed Accounts 
and Fee-based Brokerage Account 

In November, Investors Group launched a new separately 
managed account program, Azure Managed Investments™, 
as well as a Fee-Based Account, which are both offered through 
Investors Group’s brokerage services firm, Investors Group 
Securities Inc.

Azure Managed Investments are discretionary managed 
accounts that allow clients to delegate responsibility for day-
to-day investment decisions to a portfolio manager. There are 
seven different investment mandates available that provide 
core equity exposure in Canadian, U.S., North American and 
International equity markets and are managed with supporting 
expertise from I.G. Investment Management and external 
investment managers.

Investors Group’s Fee-Based Account is a non-discretionary, 
fee-based brokerage account offering clients the benefits of 
a holistic approach to managing their portfolio.

SEGREGATED FUNDS

Investors Group offers segregated funds which include the 
Investors Group Series of Guaranteed Investment Funds (GIFs). 
GIFs are segregated fund policies issued by The Great-West Life 
Assurance Company and include 14 fund-of-fund segregated 
portfolios and six individual segregated funds. These segregated 
funds provide for long-term investment growth potential 
combined with risk management, full and partial maturity and 
death benefit guarantee features, potential creditor protection 
and estate planning efficiencies. Select GIF policies allow for 
a Lifetime Income Benefit (LIB) option to provide guaranteed 
retirement income for life. The investment components of 
these segregated funds are managed by Investors Group. 
At December 31, 2016, total segregated fund assets were 
$1.8 billion compared to $1.7 billion at December 31, 2015.

INSURANCE

Investors Group continues to be a leader in the distribution of life 
insurance in Canada. Through its arrangements with leading 
insurance companies, Investors Group offers a broad range of term, 
universal life, whole life, disability, critical illness, long-term care, 
personal health care coverage and group insurance. I.G. Insurance 
Services Inc. currently has distribution agreements with: 

• The Canada Life Assurance Company

• The Great-West Life Assurance Company 

• Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada

• The Manufacturers Life Insurance Company

Sales of insurance products as measured by new annualized 
premiums were $94 million for the year ended December 31, 
2016, an increase of 32.9% from $70 million in 2015. 
The average number of policies sold by each insurance-licensed 
Consultant was 10.9 in 2016, compared to 9.4 in 2015. 
Distribution of insurance products is enhanced through 
Investors Group’s Insurance Planning Specialists, located 
throughout Canada, who assist Consultants with the selection 
of insurance solutions. 

SECURITIES OPERATIONS

Investors Group Securities Inc. is an investment dealer registered 
in all Canadian provinces and territories providing clients with 
securities services to complement their financial and investment 
planning. Investors Group Consultants can refer clients to one 
of our Securities Planning Specialists available through Investors 
Group Securities Inc.

We have continued to enhance our services to accommodate 
individual securities owned by our clients within their financial 
plan. This has involved further development of our systems and 
additional Securities Planning Specialists who work alongside 
our Consultants and are licensed to advise on individual securities. 
Consultants who have their registration with the Investment 
Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC) continued 
to operate in our established business model which has a managed 
asset focus delivered within a financial planning context. 

In the fourth quarter of 2016, the new IIROC platform and 
new products, which include separately managed accounts and 
fee-based accounts, were introduced which will enable more 
Consultants to transition their registration to Investors Group 
Securities Inc. 

MORTGAGE OPERATIONS 

Investors Group is a national mortgage lender that offers 
residential mortgages to Investors Group clients as part of 
a comprehensive financial plan. Investors Group Mortgage 
Planning Specialists are located throughout each province in 
Canada, and work with our clients and their Consultants as 
permitted by the regulations to develop mortgage strategies 
that meet the individual needs and goals of each client. 

Through its mortgage banking operations, mortgages originated 
by Investors Group Mortgage Planning Specialists are sold to 
the Investors Mortgage and Short Term Income Fund, Investors 
Canadian Corporate Bond Fund, securitization programs, and 
institutional investors. Certain subsidiaries of Investors Group are 
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC)-approved 
issuers of National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities 
(NHA MBS) and are approved sellers of NHA MBS into the 
Canada Mortgage Bond Program (CMB Program). Securitization 
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programs also include certain bank-sponsored asset-backed 
commercial paper (ABCP) programs. Residential mortgages are 
also held by Investors Group’s intermediary operations.

Mortgage fundings for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2016, were $2.2 billion, compared to $2.0 billion in 2015, an 
increase of 7.1%. At December 31, 2016, mortgages serviced 
by Investors Group related to its mortgage banking operations 
totalled $11.1 billion, compared to $10.4 billion at December 31, 
2015, an increase of 6.0%.

SOLUTIONS BANKING† 

Investors Group’s Solutions Banking† continues to experience 
high rates of utilization by Consultants and clients. The offering 
consists of a wide range of products and services provided by 
the National Bank of Canada under a long-term distribution 
agreement and includes: investment loans, lines of credit, personal 
loans, creditor insurance, deposit accounts and credit cards. 
In April 2015, a new All-in-One product was introduced. 
This product is a comprehensive cash management solution that 
integrates the features of a mortgage, term loan, revolving line 
of credit and deposit account to meet the needs of our clients 

while minimizing overall interest costs. Clients have access 
to a network of banking machines, as well as a private labeled 
client website and client service centre. The Solutions Banking† 
offering supports Investors Group’s approach to delivering total 
financial solutions for our clients through a broad financial 
planning platform. Total lending products of Investors Group 
clients in the Solutions Banking† offering totalled $3.1 billion 
at December 31, 2016.

Available credit associated with Solutions Banking† All-in-One 
accounts originated for the quarter ended December 31, 2016 
was $172 million, compared to $214 million in 2015 and for the 
twelve month period was $715 million compared to $647 million.
At December 31, 2016, the balance outstanding of Solutions 
Banking All-in-One products was $1.8 billion, which represented 
approximately 46% of total available credit associated with 
these accounts.

ADDITIONAL PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 

Investors Group also provides its clients with guaranteed 
investment certificates offered by Investors Group Trust Co. Ltd., 
as well as a number of other financial institutions.
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Investors Group’s earnings before interest and taxes are 
presented in Table 10.

2016 VS. 2015

FEE INCOME

Fee income is generated from the management, administration 
and distribution of Investors Group mutual funds. The distribution 
of insurance and Solutions Banking† products and the provision 
of securities services provide additional fee income.

Investors Group earns management fees for investment 
management services provided to its mutual funds, which depend 

largely on the level and composition of mutual fund assets 
under management. Management fees were $337.8 million in 
the fourth quarter of 2016, an increase of $18.9 million or 5.9% 
from $318.9 million in 2015. For the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2016, management fees were $1,296.0 million, 
an increase of $18.1 million or 1.4% from $1,277.9 million in 2015.

The net increase in management fees in the three months ended 
December 31, 2016 was primarily due to the increase in average 
daily mutual fund assets of 6.0%, as shown in Table 9. The average 
management fee rate in the fourth quarter of 2016 was 168.1 
basis points of daily mutual fund assets compared to 168.6 basis 
points in 2015. 

REVIEW OF SEGMENT OPERATING RESULTS

TABLE 10: OPERATING RESULTS – INVESTORS GROUP

 % CHANGE

THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31

Revenues
 Management fees $ 337.8 $ 331.7 $ 318.9 1.8 % 5.9 %
 Administration fees  80.6  79.2  76.4 1.8  5.5
 Distribution fees  71.1  54.7  52.8 30.0  34.7

    489.5  465.6  448.1 5.1  9.2
 Net investment income and other  20.1  19.1  17.6 5.2  14.2

    509.6  484.7  465.7 5.1  9.4

Expenses
 Commission  96.0  83.6  80.2 14.8  19.7
 Asset retention bonus and premium  73.9  71.8  68.8 2.9  7.4
 Non-commission  139.1  130.9  127.2 6.3  9.4

    309.0  286.3  276.2 7.9  11.9

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 200.6 $ 198.4 $ 189.5 1.1 % 5.9 %

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Revenues
 Management fees $ 1,296.0 $ 1,277.9 1.4 %
 Administration fees  309.9  302.8 2.3
 Distribution fees  227.1  195.5 16.2

    1,833.0  1,776.2 3.2
 Net investment income and other  71.6  70.1 2.1

    1,904.6  1,846.3 3.2

Expenses
 Commission  340.7  311.0 9.5
 Asset retention bonus and premium  284.2  275.3 3.2
 Non-commission  543.5  499.3 8.9

    1,168.4  1,085.6 7.6

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 736.2 $ 760.7 (3.2) %
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The net increase in management fees in the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2016 was primarily due to the increase 
in average daily mutual fund assets of 1.5%, as shown in Table 
9. The average management fee rate was 168.4 basis points 
of daily mutual fund assets for the twelve month period ended 
December 31, 2016 compared to 169.1 basis points in 2015. 
The decline in basis points resulted primarily from transfers 
of eligible clients into lower fee investment solutions. 

Management fees were also impacted by an increase of 
$0.9 million and $5.3 million in fee income in the three and 
twelve month periods, respectively, due to one more calendar 
day in 2016 compared to 2015.

Management fee income and average management fee rates for 
both periods also reflected the effect of Investors Group having 
waived a portion of the investment management fees on its money 
market funds. For the three and twelve month periods in 2016, 
these waivers totalled $1.0 million and $4.4 million, respectively, 
compared to $1.3 million and $4.1 million in the prior year. 

Investors Group receives administration fees for providing 
administrative services to its mutual funds and trusteeship 
services to its unit trust mutual funds, which also depend largely 
on the level and composition of mutual fund assets under 
management. Administration fees totalled $80.6 million in 
the current quarter compared to $76.4 million a year ago, an 
increase of 5.5%. Administration fees were $309.9 million for the 

twelve month period ended December 31, 2016 compared to 
$302.8 million in 2015, an increase of 2.3%. The increase in both 
periods resulted primarily from changes in average mutual fund 
assets under management. 

Distribution fees are earned from:

• Redemption fees on mutual funds sold with a deferred  
sales charge. 

• Portfolio fund distribution fees.

• Distribution of insurance products through I.G. Insurance 
Services Inc.

• Securities trading services provided through Investors Group 
Securities Inc.

• Banking services provided through Solutions Banking†.

Distribution fee income of $71.1 million for the fourth quarter 
of 2016 increased by $18.3 million from $52.8 million in 2015 
primarily due to the strength of insurance sales in the quarter 
offset, in part, by lower redemption fees. For the twelve month 
period, distribution fee income of $227.1 million increased by 
$31.6 million from $195.5 million in 2015 due to increases in 
distribution fee income from insurance products and redemption 
fees. Redemption fee income varies depending on the level 
of deferred sales charge attributable to fee-based redemptions. 

TABLE 11: MORTGAGE BANKING OPERATIONS – INVESTORS GROUP

 % CHANGE

THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31

Total mortgage banking income
 Net interest income on securitized loans
  Interest income $ 49.4 $ 49.3 $ 47.1 0.2 % 4.9 %
  Interest expense  32.8  32.8  30.6 –  7.2

  Net interest income  16.6  16.5  16.5 0.6  0.6
 Gains on sales(1)  3.2  4.6  3.8 (30.4)  (15.8)
 Fair value adjustments  2.1  (0.1)  (2.3) N/M  N/M

 Other(2)  (2.5)  (2.9)  (1.4) 13.8  (78.6)

   $ 19.4 $ 18.1 $ 16.6 7.2 % 16.9 %

Average mortgages serviced
 Securitizations $ 7,419 $ 7,375 $ 6,813 0.6 % 8.9 %
 Other  3,595  3,521  3,554 2.1  1.2

   $ 11,014 $ 10,896 $ 10,367 1.1 % 6.2 %

Mortgage sales to:(3)

 Securitizations $ 717 $ 560 $ 653 28.0 % 9.8 %
 Other(1)  253  284  275 (10.9)  (8.0)

   $ 970 $ 844 $ 928 14.9 % 4.5 %
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NET INVESTMENT INCOME AND OTHER

Net investment income and other includes income related 
to mortgage banking operations and net interest income 
related to intermediary operations. 

Net investment income and other was $20.1 million in the 
fourth quarter of 2016, an increase of $2.5 million from 
$17.6 million in 2015. For the year ended December 31, 2016, 
net investment income and other totalled $71.6 million, an 
increase of $1.5 million from $70.1 million in 2015.

Net investment income related to Investors Group’s mortgage 
banking operations totalled $19.4 million for the fourth quarter 
of 2016 compared to $16.6 million in 2015, an increase of 
$2.8 million. For the year ended December 31, 2016, net 
investment income related to Investors Group’s mortgage 
banking operations totalled $69.4 million compared to 
$70.2 million in 2015, a decrease of $0.8 million. A summary 
of mortgage banking operations for the three and twelve month 
periods under review is presented in Table 11. The changes in 
mortgage banking income were due to:

• Net interest income on securitized loans – increased by 
$0.1 million and $8.5 million for the three and twelve month 

periods ended December 31, 2016 to $16.6 million and 
$64.5 million, respectively, compared to 2015. The increase in 
the twelve month period resulted from higher volumes and 
margins on securitized loans. 

• Gains realized on the sale of residential mortgages – 
decreased by $0.6 million and $4.6 million for the three 
and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2016 to 
$3.2 million and $16.1 million, respectively, compared to 2015. 
The decrease in gains resulted from lower sales activity and 
lower margins. 

• Fair value adjustments – increased by $4.4 million and 
decreased by $1.0 million for the three and twelve month 
periods ended December 31, 2016 to $2.1 million and 
($2.3) million, respectively, compared to 2015. The increase 
during the three month period was primarily due to 
favourable fair value adjustments on certain securitization 
related financial instruments. The decrease during the twelve 
month period was primarily due to favorable fair value 
adjustments in 2015 on certain securitization related financial 
instruments. 

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Total mortgage banking income
 Net interest income on securitized loans
  Interest income $ 193.2 $ 188.1 2.7 %
  Interest expense  128.7  132.1 (2.6)

  Net interest income  64.5  56.0 15.2
 Gains on sales(1)  16.1  20.7 (22.2)
 Fair value adjustments  (2.3)  (1.3) (76.9)
 Other(2)  (8.9)  (5.2) (71.2)

   $ 69.4 $ 70.2 (1.1) %

Average mortgages serviced
 Securitizations $ 7,199 $ 6,617 8.8 %
 Other  3,566  3,544 0.6

   $ 10,765 $ 10,161 5.9 %

Mortgage sales to:(3)

 Securitizations $ 2,882 $ 2,438 18.2 %
 Other(1)  1,071  1,198 (10.6)

   $ 3,953 $ 3,636 8.7 %

(1) Represents sales to institutional investors through private placements, to Investors Mortgage and Short Term Income Fund, and to Investors Canadian Corporate Bond Fund as well 
as gains realized on those sales.

(2) Represents mortgage issuance and insurance costs, interest earned on warehoused mortgages, and servicing and other.

(3) Represents principal amounts sold.

TABLE 11: MORTGAGE BANKING OPERATIONS – INVESTORS GROUP (continued)



36 IGM FINANCIAL INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EXPENSES

Investors Group incurs commission expense in connection 
with the distribution of its mutual funds and other financial 
services and products. Commissions are paid on the sale of 
these products and fluctuate with the level of sales. The expense 
for deferred selling commissions consists of the amortization 
of the asset over its useful life and the reduction of the 
unamortized deferred selling commission asset associated with 
redemptions. Commissions paid on the sale of mutual funds 
are deferred and amortized over a maximum period of seven 
years. Commission expense was $96.0 million for the fourth 
quarter of 2016, an increase of $15.8 million from $80.2 million 
in 2015. For the twelve month period, commission expense 
increased by $29.7 million to $340.7 million compared with 
$311.0 million in 2015. The increase in both periods resulted 
primarily from compensation related to the distribution of other 
financial services and products. In the twelve month period, the 
increase was also due in part to higher mutual fund commission 
amortization and higher write-offs of the unamortized balance 
of deferred selling commissions associated with redemptions. 

Asset retention bonus and premium expense is comprised 
of the following:

• Asset retention bonus, which is based on the value of assets 
under management, increased by $4.9 million and $7.4 million 
for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 
2016 to $62.3 million and $237.7 million, respectively, compared 
to 2015. The increase in both periods was primarily due to 
the increase in assets under management.

• Asset retention premium, which is a deferred component 
of compensation designed to promote Consultant retention, 
is based on assets under management at each year end. 
Asset retention premium expense increased by $0.2 million 
and $1.5 million for the three and twelve month periods 
ended December 31, 2016 to $11.6 million and $46.5 million, 
respectively, compared to 2015. The increase in both 
periods was related to the increase in year-end assets 
under management.

Non-commission expenses incurred by Investors Group 
primarily relate to the support of the Consultant network, the 
administration, marketing and management of its mutual funds 
and other products, as well as sub-advisory fees related to 
mutual funds under management. Non-commission expenses 
were $139.1 million for the fourth quarter of 2016 compared 
to $127.2 million in 2015, an increase of $11.9 million or 9.4%. 
For the twelve month period, non-commission expenses were 
$543.5 million compared to $499.3 million in 2015, an increase 
of $44.2 million or 8.9%. The increase in both periods resulted 
largely from Consultant network support and other business 
development efforts.

Q4 2016 VS. Q3 2016 

FEE INCOME

Management fee income increased by $6.1 million or 1.8% to 
$337.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared with the 
third quarter of 2016. The net increase in management fees in 
the fourth quarter was primarily due to the increase in average 
daily mutual fund assets of 2.1% for the quarter, as shown in 
Table 9. The average management fee rate in the fourth quarter 
of 2016 was 168.1 basis points of daily mutual fund assets 
compared to 168.4 basis points in the prior quarter.

Money market fund waivers totalled $1.0 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2016 compared to $1.1 million in the third quarter 
of 2016.

Administration fees increased to $80.6 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2016 from $79.2 million in the third quarter of 2016. 
The increase was due to the change in average mutual fund 
assets under management. 

Distribution fee income of $71.1 million in the fourth quarter 
of 2016 increased by $16.4 million from $54.7 million in the 
third quarter primarily due to an increase in distribution fee 
income from insurance product sales. 

NET INVESTMENT INCOME AND OTHER

Net investment income and other was $20.1 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2016 compared to $19.1 million in the previous quarter, 
an increase of $1.0 million primarily related to Investors Group’s 
mortgage banking operations. 

Net investment income related to Investors Group’s mortgage 
banking operations totalled $19.4 million in the fourth quarter 
of 2016, an increase of $1.3 million from $18.1 million in the 
previous quarter as shown in Table 11. 

EXPENSES

Commission expense in the current quarter was $96.0 million 
compared with $83.6 million in the previous quarter. The increase 
primarily related to higher compensation related to the distribution 
of other financial services and products. The asset retention 
bonus and premium expense increased by $2.1 million to 
$73.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2016 primarily due to the 
increase in assets under management. 

Non-commission expenses were $139.1 million in the current 
quarter, an increase of $8.2 million or 6.3% from $130.9 million 
in the third quarter of 2016. This increase related primarily 
to the seasonal nature of certain expenses normally incurred 
in the fourth quarter.
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Mackenzie’s core business is the provision of investment 
management and related services offered through diversified 
investment solutions, distributed through multiple distribution 
channels. We are committed to delivering strong investment 
performance for our clients by drawing on the experience 
and perspective gained through 50 years in the investment 
management business. 

Mackenzie earns revenue primarily from:

• Management fees earned from its mutual funds, sub-advised 
accounts and institutional clients.

• Fees earned from its mutual funds for administrative services.

• Redemption fees on deferred sales charge and low load units.

The largest component of Mackenzie’s revenues is management 
fees. The amount of management fees depends on the level and 
composition of assets under management. Management fee rates 
vary depending on the investment objective and the account 
type of the underlying assets under management. Equity based 
mandates have higher management fee rates than fixed income 
mandates and retail mutual fund accounts have higher management 
fee rates than sub-advised and institutional accounts. 

MACKENZIE STRATEGY
Mackenzie strives to ensure that the interests of clients, shareholders, 
dealers, advisors and employees are closely aligned. 

Mackenzie’s vision: We are committed to the financial success 
of investors, through their eyes. This impacts the strategic priorities 
we select to fulfil that commitment and drive future business 
growth. Our strategic mandate is two-fold: win in the Canadian 
retail space, and build meaningful strategic relationships, both in 
support of our goal to be the company of choice for institutional 
investors, financial advisors and individual investors. We aim 
to achieve this mandate by gathering the best minds in the 
investment industry, responding to changing needs of financial 
advisors and investors with distinctive and innovative solutions, 
and continuing to deliver institutional quality in everything we do. 

Supporting this vision and strategic mandate are six key 
foundational capabilities that our employees strive to achieve: 

• Delivering competitive and consistent risk-adjusted performance

• Offering innovative and high quality investment solutions

• Accelerating distribution

• Advancing brand leadership

• Driving operational excellence and discipline

• Building on a winning culture

MACKENZIE INVESTMENTS
REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

Mackenzie seeks to maximize returns on business investment 
by focusing resources in areas that directly impact the success 
of our strategic mandate: investment management, distribution 
and client experience.

Founded in 1967, Mackenzie continues to build an investment 
advisory business through proprietary investment research and 
portfolio management while utilizing strategic partners in a 
selected sub-advisory capacity. Our business focuses on multiple 
distribution channels: Retail, Strategic Alliances and Institutional. 

Mackenzie distributes its retail investment products through 
third party financial advisors. Mackenzie’s sales teams work 
with many of the more than 30,000 independent financial 
advisors and their firms across Canada. In addition to its retail 
distribution team, Mackenzie also has specialty teams focused 
on strategic alliances and the institutional marketplace. Within 
the strategic alliance channel, Mackenzie offers certain series 
of its mutual funds and provides sub-advisory services to third 
party and related party investment programs offered by banks, 
insurance companies and other investment companies. Strategic 
alliances with related parties include providing advisory services 
to Investors Group, Investment Planning Counsel and Great-West 
Lifeco Inc. (Lifeco) subsidiaries, and also include a private label 
mutual fund arrangement with Lifeco subsidiary Quadrus. Within 
the strategic alliance channel, Mackenzie’s primary distribution 
relationship is with the head office of the respective bank, insurance 
company or investment company. In the institutional channel, 
Mackenzie provides investment management services to pension 
plans, foundations and other institutions. Mackenzie attracts new 
institutional business through its relationships with pension and 
management consultants. 

Gross sales and redemption activity in strategic alliance and 
institutional accounts can be more pronounced than in the retail 
channel given the relative size and the nature of the distribution 
relationships of these accounts. These accounts are also subject 
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to ongoing reviews and rebalance activities which may result in 
a significant change in the level of assets under management. 

Mackenzie is positioned to continue to build and enhance 
its distribution relationships given its team of experienced 
investment professionals, strength of its distribution network, 
broad product shelf, competitively priced products and its focus 
on client experience and investment excellence. 

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
The changes in mutual fund assets under management are 
summarized in Table 12 and the changes in total assets under 
management are summarized in Table 13. At December 31, 
2016, Mackenzie’s mutual fund and total assets under 
management were $51.3 billion and $64.0 billion, respectively.

The change in Mackenzie’s assets under management is 
determined by the increase or decrease in the market value 
of the securities held in the portfolios of investments and by 
the level of sales as compared to the level of redemptions.

CHANGE IN ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT –  
2016 VS. 2015 

Mackenzie’s mutual fund assets under management were 
$51.3 billion at December 31, 2016, an increase of 5.9% from 
$48.4 billion at December 31, 2015. Mackenzie’s sub-advisory, 
institutional and other accounts at December 31, 2016 were 
$12.7 billion, a decrease of 3.7% from $13.2 billion last year. 
Mackenzie’s total assets under management at December 31, 
2016 were $64.0 billion, an increase of 3.9% from $61.7 billion 
at December 31, 2015. 

During the fourth quarter of 2016 and the second quarter 
of 2015, MD Financial Management Inc. (MD) reassigned  
sub-advisory responsibilities on fixed income mandates totalling 
$1.5 billion and $10.3 billion respectively. The impact on 
Mackenzie’s pre-tax earnings from these mandate changes is 
not meaningful. These amounts were included in Mackenzie’s 
redemptions and average total assets under management 
during 2016 and 2015 in Table 13. Following the change, 
Mackenzie continues to advise MD on a number of balanced 
and equity mandates. 

TABLE 12: CHANGE IN MUTUAL FUND ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT – MACKENZIE

 % CHANGE

THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31

Sales  $ 1,953 $ 1,651 $ 1,652 18.3 % 18.2 %
Redemptions   1,977  1,721  2,079 14.9  (4.9)

Net sales (redemptions)(1)  (24)  (70)  (427) 65.7  94.4
Investment returns  1,086  2,112  1,452 (48.6)  (25.2)

Net change in assets  1,062  2,042  1,025 (48.0)  3.6
Beginning assets  50,252  48,210  47,420 4.2  6.0

Ending assets $ 51,314 $ 50,252 $ 48,445 2.1 % 5.9 %

Daily average mutual fund assets $ 50,508 $ 49,621 $ 48,493 1.8 % 4.2 %

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Sales  $ 6,939 $ 6,965 (0.4) %
Redemptions  7,606  8,223 (7.5)

Net sales (redemptions)(2)  (667)  (1,258) 47.0
Investment returns  3,536  921 283.9

Net change in assets  2,869  (337) N/M

Beginning assets  48,445  48,782 (0.7)

Ending assets $ 51,314 $ 48,445 5.9 %

Daily average mutual fund assets $ 48,684 $ 49,683 (2.0) %

(1) During the fourth quarter of 2015, certain third party programs which include Mackenzie mutual funds made fund allocation changes which resulted in gross sales of $58 million, 
redemptions of $297 million and net redemptions of $239 million.

(2) During the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, certain third party programs which include Mackenzie mutual funds made fund allocation changes which resulted in gross 
sales of $199 million, redemptions of $894 million and net redemptions of $695 million.
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In the three months ended December 31, 2016, Mackenzie’s 
mutual fund gross sales were $2.0 billion, an increase of 18.2% 
from $1.7 billion in the comparative period last year. Mutual 
fund redemptions in the current period were $2.0 billion, a 
decrease of 4.9% from last year. Mutual fund net redemptions 
for the three months ended December 31, 2016 were $24 million, 
as compared to net redemptions of $427 million last year. 
During the current quarter, investment returns resulted in assets 
increasing by $1.1 billion as compared to an increase of 
$1.5 billion last year.

During the fourth quarter of 2015, certain third party programs, 
which include Mackenzie mutual funds, made fund allocation 
changes resulting in gross sales of $58 million, redemptions of 
$297 million and net redemptions of $239 million. Excluding 
these transactions, mutual fund gross sales increased 22.5% 
in the three months ended December 31, 2016 compared to 
last year and net redemptions were $24 million in the current 
quarter compared to net redemptions of $188 million last year. 

TABLE 13: CHANGE IN TOTAL ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT – MACKENZIE

 % CHANGE

THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31

Sales  $ 2,871 $ 2,437 $ 2,593 17.8 % 10.7 %
Redemptions  4,368  2,382  2,959 83.4  47.6

Net sales (redemptions) (1)(2)  (1,497)  55  (366) N/M  N/M

Investment returns  1,259  2,551  1,728 (50.6)  (27.1)

Net change in assets  (238)  2,606  1,362 N/M  N/M

Beginning assets  64,273  61,667  60,291 4.2  6.6

Ending assets $ 64,035 $ 64,273 $ 61,653 (0.4) % 3.9 %

Consists of:
 Mutual funds $ 51,314 $ 50,252 $ 48,445 2.1 % 5.9 %
 Sub-advisory, institutional and other accounts  12,721  14,021  13,208 (9.3)  (3.7)

   $ 64,035 $ 64,273 $ 61,653 (0.4) % 3.9 %

Average total assets(4) $ 63,846 $ 63,460 $ 61,682 0.6 % 3.5 %

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Sales  $ 11,004 $ 11,938 (7.8) %
Redemptions  13,124  22,533 (41.8)

Net sales (redemptions)(1)(3)  (2,120)  (10,595) 80.0
Investment returns  4,502  1,372 228.1

Net change in assets  2,382  (9,223) N/M

Beginning assets  61,653  70,876 (13.0)

Ending assets $ 64,035 $ 61,653 3.9 %

Average total assets(4) $ 61,942 $ 67,535 (8.3) %

(1) Mackenzie gross sales and net sales include Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) net creations of $43 million in the fourth quarter of 2016 and $113 million in the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2016.

(2) During the fourth quarter of 2016, MD Financial Management (MD) reassigned sub-advisory responsibilities on a $1.5 billion fixed income mandate advised by Mackenzie. 
During the fourth quarter of 2015, certain third party programs which include Mackenzie mutual funds made fund allocation changes which resulted in gross sales of $58 million, 
redemptions of $297 million and net redemptions of $239 million.

(3) Included in the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 is the $1.5 billion reassignment of fixed income mandates from MD. 
Included in the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 are the following transactions: 
– MD reassigned sub-advisory responsibilities on four fixed income mandates (totalling $10.3 billion) advised by Mackenzie. 
–  Certain third party programs which include Mackenzie mutual funds made fund allocation changes which resulted in gross sales of $199 million, redemptions of $894 million and 

net redemptions of $695 million.

(4) Based on daily average mutual fund assets and month-end average sub-advisory, institutional and other assets.
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In the three months ended December 31, 2016, Mackenzie’s 
gross sales for total assets under management were $2.9 billion, 
an increase of 10.7% from the comparative period last year. 
Redemptions in the current period were $4.4 billion, compared 
to $3.0 billion last year. Net redemptions for the three months 
ended December 31, 2016 were $1.5 billion, as compared to 
net redemptions of $366 million last year. Included in the 2016 
results are net creations of $43 million from Exchange Traded 
Funds (ETFs), which were launched during 2016. During the 
current quarter, investment returns resulted in assets increasing 
by $1.3 billion as compared to an increase of $1.7 billion last year. 

Excluding the MD transaction during the fourth quarter of 
2016 and the mutual fund allocation changes made by third 
party programs during the fourth quarter of 2015 discussed 
previously, net redemptions were $7 million in the current 
quarter compared to net redemptions of $127 million last year.

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, Mackenzie’s 
mutual fund gross sales were $6.9 billion, a decrease of 0.4% 
from $7.0 billion in the comparative period last year. Mutual fund 
redemptions in the current period were $7.6 billion, a decrease 
of 7.5% from the previous year. Mutual fund net redemptions 
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 were 
$667 million, as compared to net redemptions of $1.3 billion 
last year. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, 
certain third party programs which included Mackenzie mutual 
funds made fund allocation changes which resulted in gross sales 
of $199 million, redemptions of $894 million and net redemptions 
of $695 million. Excluding these transactions, gross sales increased 
2.6% and redemptions increased 3.8% in the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2016 compared to last year and net 
redemptions were $667 million in the current year compared 
to net redemptions of $563 million last year. During the period, 
investment returns resulted in assets increasing by $3.5 billion as 
compared to an increase of $921 million last year. 

Redemptions of long-term mutual funds in the three and twelve 
month periods ended December 31, 2016, were $1.9 billion 
and $7.3 billion, respectively, as compared to $2.0 billion 
and $7.9 billion last year. Mackenzie’s annualized quarterly 
redemption rate for long-term mutual funds was 15.2% in the 
fourth quarter of 2016, compared to 16.7% in the fourth quarter 
of 2015. Mackenzie’s twelve-month trailing redemption rate for 
long-term mutual funds was 15.0% at December 31, 2016, as 
compared to 16.2% last year. Mackenzie’s twelve-month trailing 
redemption rate for long-term funds, excluding rebalance 
transactions, was 15.0% at December 31, 2016 and 14.3% at 
December 31, 2015. The corresponding average twelve-month 
trailing redemption rate for long-term mutual funds for all other 
members of IFIC was approximately 15.5% at December 31, 
2016. Mackenzie’s twelve-month trailing redemption rate is 
comprised of the weighted average redemption rate for front-
end load assets, deferred sales charge and low load assets with 
redemption fees, and deferred sales charge assets without 
redemption fees (matured assets). Generally, redemption rates 
for front-end load assets and matured assets are higher than 
the redemption rates for deferred sales charge and low load 
assets with redemption fees.

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, Mackenzie’s 
gross sales for total assets under management were 
$11.0 billion, a decrease of 7.8% from $11.9 billion in the 
comparative period last year. Redemptions in the current 
period were $13.1 billion compared to $22.5 billion last year. 
Net redemptions for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2016, were $2.1 billion, as compared to net redemptions of 
$10.6 billion last year. Included in the 2016 results are net 
creations of $113 million from ETFs, which were launched 
during 2016. Excluding the MD transactions during the fourth 
quarter of 2016 and the second quarter of 2015, and the mutual 
fund allocation changes made by third party programs during 
2015 discussed previously, net redemptions were $630 million in 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, as compared to 
net sales of $400 million last year. During the period, investment 
returns resulted in assets increasing by $4.5 billion as compared 
to an increase of $1.4 billion last year.
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CHANGE IN ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT –  
Q4 2016 VS. Q3 2016

Mackenzie’s mutual fund assets under management were 
$51.3 billion at December 31, 2016, an increase of 2.1% from 
$50.3 billion at September 30, 2016. Mackenzie’s sub-advisory, 
institutional and other accounts decreased by 9.3% from 
$14.0 billion to $12.7 billion at December 31, 2016. The decline 
in sub-advisory, institutional and other accounts is primarily 
attributed to the $1.5 billion transaction from MD as previously 
discussed. Mackenzie’s total assets under management at 
December 31, 2016, were $64.0 billion, a decrease of 0.4% from 
$64.3 billion at September 30, 2016, as summarized in Table 13. 

For the quarter ended December 31, 2016, Mackenzie mutual 
fund gross sales were $2.0 billion, an increase of 18.3% from the 
third quarter of 2016. Mutual fund redemptions, which totalled 
$2.0 billion for the fourth quarter, increased by 14.9% from the 
previous quarter. Net redemptions of Mackenzie mutual funds 
for the current quarter were $24 million compared with net 
redemptions of $70 million in the previous quarter. 

Redemptions of long-term mutual fund assets in the current 
quarter were $1.9 billion, compared to $1.6 billion in the third 
quarter of 2016. Mackenzie’s annualized quarterly redemption 
rate for long-term mutual funds for the current quarter was 15.2% 
compared to 13.2% for the third quarter. Net redemptions of long-
term funds for the current quarter were $78 million compared to 
net redemptions of $80 million in the previous quarter. 

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
Mackenzie delivers its investment offerings through a boutique 
structure, with ten separate in-house investment teams which 
each have a distinct focus and investment approach. This boutique 
approach promotes diversification of styles and ideas and 
provides Mackenzie with a breadth of capabilities. Oversight 
is conducted through a common process intended to promote 
superior risk-adjusted returns over time. This process is focused 
upon i) identifying and encouraging each team’s performance 
edge, ii) promoting best practices in portfolio construction, and 
iii) emphasizing risk management.

In addition to its own investment teams, Mackenzie supplements 
its investment capabilities through the use of third party  
sub-advisors in selected areas. These sub-advisors include Putnam 
Investments Inc., JP Morgan Asset Management Inc., Waddell  
& Reed Financial, Inc., Irish Life Investment Managers Limited,  
and TOBAM.

During 2016, Mackenzie strengthened its investment 
management capabilities in two areas:

• In January, Mackenzie introduced a new Canadian Growth 
boutique, headed by a Lipper-award winning team previously 
from Bluewater Investment Management Inc. This change 
reflects the internalization of investment professionals from 
Bluewater, which has served Mackenzie through its exclusive 
sub-advisory relationship for twenty years.

• In March, the Mackenzie Cundill boutique was strengthened 
through leadership changes with the hire of two investment 
professionals to lead the team. These changes build on Cundill’s 
legacy of value investing principles.

Mackenzie’s assets under management are diversified by 
investment objective as set out in Table 14. The development 
of a broad range of investment capabilities and products has proven 
to be, and continues to be, a key strength of the organization 
in satisfying the evolving financial needs of our clients. 

Long-term investment performance is a key measure of 
Mackenzie’s ongoing success. At December 31, 2016, 57.2% 
of Mackenzie mutual fund assets were rated in the top two 
performance quartiles for the one year time frame, 35.8% for the 
three year time frame and 37.3% for the five year time frame. 
Mackenzie also monitors its fund performance relative to the 
ratings it receives on its mutual funds from the Morningstar† 
fund ranking service. At December 31, 2016, 73.0% of Mackenzie 
mutual fund assets measured by Morningstar† had a rating of three 
stars or better and 40.8% had a rating of four or five stars. This 
compared to the Morningstar† universe of 76.8% for three stars 
or better and 39.5% for four and five star funds at December 31, 
2016. These ratings exclude the Quadrus Group of Funds†.

PRODUCTS
Mackenzie’s diversified suite of investment products is designed 
to meet the needs and goals of investors. Through a number 
of product launches in 2016, Mackenzie continues to evolve its 
product shelf by providing enhanced investment solutions for 
financial advisors to offer their investment clients. 

EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS

During 2016 and early 2017, Mackenzie launched ten Exchange 
Traded Funds (ETFs) that are traded on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange. The addition of these ETFs complements Mackenzie’s 
broad and innovative fund line-up and reflects its investor-focus 
vision to provide advisors and investors with new solutions to 
drive investor outcomes and achieve their personal goals. These 
ETFs offer investors another investment option to utilize in 
building long-term diversified portfolios. 
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• On April 19, 2016, Mackenzie launched four unique fixed 
income actively managed ETFs. This suite of ETFs is managed 
by Mackenzie’s Fixed Income Team and is comprised as follows:

 ▸ Mackenzie Core Plus Global Fixed Income ETF 
(TSX:MGB) 

 ▸ Mackenzie Unconstrained Bond ETF (TSX:MUB) 

 ▸ Mackenzie Floating Rate Income ETF (TSX:MFT) 

 ▸ Mackenzie Core Plus Canadian Fixed Income ETF 
(TSX:MKB) 

• On June 21, 2016, Mackenzie launched two smart beta 
ETFs designed to offer investors a more diversified portfolio 
to reduce portfolio biases. Mackenzie has partnered with 
TOBAM, a global award-winning asset manager and index 
provider to some of the world’s largest pension funds, 
to utilize their investment process in this suite of ETFs. 
TOBAM’s methodology seeks to protect portfolios from 
structural biases and unmanaged risks often found in market 
capitalization weighted indices. These ETFs are designed to 
track the performance of select rules-based indices from the 
TOBAM Maximum Diversification Index Series. Each ETF aims 

to create a more diversified portfolio relative to a market 
capitalization weighted benchmark:

 ▸ Mackenzie Maximum Diversification Canada Index ETF 
(TSX:MKC) 

 ▸ Mackenzie Maximum Diversification US Index ETF 
(TSX:MUS) 

• On September 7, 2016 and January 23, 2017, Mackenzie 
expanded its suite of Maximum Diversification Index ETFs 
with the launch of four new ETFs through its relationship 
with TOBAM. These ETFs provide investors with innovative 
options to invest with broad geographic diversification, 
including the US, Europe, Asia and emerging markets:

 ▸ Mackenzie Maximum Diversification All World Developed 
Index ETF (TSX:MWD)

 ▸ Mackenzie Maximum Diversification All World Developed 
ex North America Index ETF (TSX:MXU) 

 ▸ Mackenzie Maximum Diversification Developed Europe 
Index ETF (TSX: MEU)

 ▸ Mackenzie Maximum Diversification Emerging Markets 
Index ETF (TSX:MEE)

TABLE 14: ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT BY INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE – MACKENZIE

($ millions)  2016  2015

Equity
 Domestic $ 18,439 28.8 % $ 16,203 26.3 %
 Foreign  21,725 33.9   20,702 33.5

    40,164 62.7   36,905 59.8

Balanced
 Domestic  10,678 16.7   10,267 16.7
 Foreign  5,635 8.8   4,685 7.6

    16,313 25.5   14,952 24.3

Fixed Income
 Domestic  6,348 9.9   8,308 13.5
 Foreign  44 0.1   84 0.1

    6,392 10.0   8,392 13.6

Money Market
 Domestic  1,166 1.8   1,404 2.3

Total $ 64,035 100.0 % $ 61,653 100.0 %

Consists of:
 Mutual funds $ 51,314 80.1 % $ 48,445 78.6 %
 Sub-advisory, institutional and other accounts  12,721 19.9   13,208 21.4

   $ 64,035 100.0 % $ 61,653 100.0 %
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MUTUAL FUNDS

During 2016 and early 2017, Mackenzie launched twelve 
mutual funds and merged ten funds as follows: 

•  On June 27, 2016, Mackenzie launched two mutual funds 
that address investors’ needs of low volatility solutions and 
global diversification. 

•  Between June 2016 and January 2017, Mackenzie launched 
six mutual funds sub-advised by TOBAM. These mutual 
funds are built with a core investment into the Mackenzie 
Maximum Diversification Index ETFs and may actively invest 
in other ETFs, or in securities directly, from time to time for 
active risk management purposes:

 ▸ Mackenzie High Diversification Canadian Equity Class 

 ▸ Mackenzie High Diversification US Equity Fund 

 ▸ Mackenzie High Diversification Global Equity Fund

 ▸ Mackenzie High Diversification International Equity Fund

 ▸ Mackenzie High Diversification European Equity Fund 

 ▸ Mackenzie High Diversification Emerging Markets Equity Fund

• On October 17, 2016, Mackenzie launched four new 
Corporate Class mutual funds to further strengthen its 
Corporate Class offerings. 

• On November 25, 2016, Mackenzie merged ten funds that 
were sub-scale or have overlapping investment objectives 
with other funds. These changes were designed to simplify 
choice, to help advisors navigate the product shelf, and to 
strengthen its mutual fund product lineup.
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REVIEW OF SEGMENT OPERATING RESULTS

Mackenzie’s earnings before interest and taxes are presented in 
Table 15.

2016 VS. 2015

REVENUES

The largest component of Mackenzie’s revenues is management 
fees. The amount of management fees depends on the level 
and composition of assets under management. Management 
fee rates vary depending on the investment objective and the 
account type of the underlying assets under management. 
For example, equity-based mandates have higher management 
fee rates than fixed income mandates and retail mutual fund 
accounts have higher management fee rates than sub-advised 

and institutional accounts. The majority of Mackenzie’s mutual 
fund assets are purchased on a retail basis.

Within Mackenzie’s retail mutual fund offering, certain series are 
offered for fee-based programs of participating dealers whereby 
dealer compensation on such series is charged directly by the 
dealer to a client (primarily Series F). As Mackenzie does not pay 
the dealer compensation, these series have lower management 
fees. At December 31, 2016, these series had $4.8 billion in 
assets, an increase of 35.1% from the prior year. 

Management fees were $172.3 million for the three months 
ended December 31, 2016, an increase of $2.5 million or 1.5% 
from $169.8 million last year. The net increase in management 

TABLE 15: OPERATING RESULTS – MACKENZIE

 % CHANGE

THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31

Revenues
 Management fees $ 172.3 $ 170.4 $ 169.8 1.1 % 1.5 %
 Administration fees  23.8  24.0  23.8 (0.8)  –
 Distribution fees  2.1  2.2  2.4 (4.5)  (12.5)

    198.2  196.6  196.0 0.8  1.1
 Net investment income and other  0.7  1.8  1.1 (61.1)  (36.4)

    198.9  198.4  197.1 0.3  0.9

Expenses
 Commission  12.4  12.9  13.8 (3.9)  (10.1)
 Trailing commission  61.4  60.7  60.1 1.2  2.2
 Non-commission  76.3  78.8  72.3 (3.2)  5.5

    150.1  152.4  146.2 (1.5)  2.7

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 48.8 $ 46.0 $ 50.9 6.1 % (4.1) %

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Revenues
 Management fees $ 666.7 $ 700.2 (4.8) %
 Administration fees  93.0  98.5 (5.6)
 Distribution fees  9.3  10.6 (12.3)

    769.0  809.3 (5.0)
 Net investment income and other  4.0  6.0 (33.3)

    773.0  815.3 (5.2)

Expenses
 Commission  53.1  58.1 (8.6)
 Trailing commission  238.2  246.4 (3.3)
 Non-commission  310.3  294.5 5.4

    601.6  599.0 0.4

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 171.4 $ 216.3 (20.8) %
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fees in the current quarter was due to an increase in average 
assets under management of 3.5%, offset by a 2.2% decline 
in average management fee rate. Mackenzie’s average 
management fee rate in the fourth quarter of 2016 was 107.1 
basis points compared to 109.5 basis points in 2015. The decrease 
in average management fee rate was due to a change in the 
composition of assets under management, including the impact 
of having a greater share in non-retail priced products.

Management fees were $666.7 million for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2016, a decrease of $33.5 million or 
4.8% from $700.2 million last year. The net decrease in 
management fees was due to the decline in average assets 
under management of 8.3% offset by an increase in average 
management fee rate. Mackenzie’s average management fee 
rate in the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 was 107.4 
basis points compared to 103.9 basis points in 2015. The increase 
in average management fee rate was due to a change in the 
composition of assets under management, including the impact 
of having a greater share in retail-priced products, following 
the loss of certain sub-advisory mandates from MD Financial 
Management Inc. In addition, there was one more calendar 
day in 2016 than 2015, which resulted in an increase in 
management fees in the current year.

Mackenzie earns administration fees primarily from providing 
services to its mutual funds. Administration fees were $23.8 million 
for the three months ended December 31, 2016, consistent 
with 2015. Administration fees were $93.0 million for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2016, a decrease of $5.5 million 
or 5.6% from $98.5 million last year. 

Mackenzie earns distribution fee income on redemptions of 
mutual fund assets sold on a deferred sales charge purchase 
option and on a low load purchase option. Redemption fees 
charged for deferred sales charge assets range from 5.5% in the 
first year and decrease to zero after seven years. Redemption 
fees for low load assets range from 2.0% to 3.0% in the first 
year and decrease to zero after two or three years, depending 
on the purchase option. Distribution fee income in the three 
months ended December 31, 2016 was $2.1 million, compared 
to $2.4 million last year. Distribution fee income in the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2016 was $9.3 million, a decrease 
of $1.3 million from $10.6 million last year. 

Net investment income and other includes investment returns 
related to Mackenzie’s investments in proprietary funds. These 
investments are generally made in the process of launching a 
fund and are sold as third party investors subscribe. Net investment 
income and other was $0.7 million for the three months ended 
December 31, 2016 compared to $1.1 million last year and 
$4.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, 
a decrease of $2.0 million from $6.0 million last year.

EXPENSES

Mackenzie’s expenses were $150.1 million for the three months 
ended December 31, 2016, an increase of $3.9 million or 2.7% 
from $146.2 million in 2015. Expenses for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2016 were $601.6 million, an increase 
of $2.6 million or 0.4% from $599.0 million last year.

Mackenzie pays selling commissions to the dealers that sell its 
mutual funds on a deferred sales charge and low load purchase 
option. The expense for deferred selling commissions consists of 
the amortization of the asset over its useful life and the reduction 
of the unamortized deferred selling commission asset associated 
with redemptions. Mackenzie amortizes selling commissions 
over a maximum period of three years from the date of original 
purchase of the applicable low load assets and over a maximum 
period of seven years from the date of original purchase of the 
applicable deferred sales charge assets. Commission expense 
was $12.4 million in the three months ended December 31, 2016, 
as compared to $13.8 million last year. Commission expense in 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 was $53.1 million 
compared to $58.1 million in 2015. These declines are consistent  
with the lower amount of deferred sales commissions paid in 
recent years combined with lower write-offs of the unamortized 
balance of deferred sales commissions associated with redemptions.

Trailing commissions paid to dealers are paid on certain classes 
of retail mutual funds and are calculated as a percentage 
of mutual fund assets under management. These fees vary 
depending on the fund type and the purchase option upon 
which the fund was sold: front-end, deferred sales charge or 
low load. Trailing commissions were $61.4 million in the three 
months ended December 31, 2016, an increase of $1.3 million 
or 2.2% from $60.1 million last year. The increase in trailing 
commission in the current quarter was due to a 4.2% increase 
in daily average mutual fund assets offset by a 2.0% decline in 
effective trailing commission rate. Trailing commissions as a 
percentage of average mutual fund assets under management 
was 48.6 basis points in the current quarter compared to 49.6 
basis points last year due to a change in composition of mutual 
fund assets towards series of mutual funds that do not pay 
trailing commissions.

Trailing commissions in the twelve months ended December 31, 
2016 were $238.2 million, a decrease of $8.2 million or 3.3% 
from $246.4 million last year. The decline in trailing commissions 
in the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 resulted both 
from the period over period decline in average mutual fund 
assets, as well as a change in the composition of mutual fund 
assets towards series of mutual funds that do not pay trailing 
commissions. Trailing commissions as a percentage of average 
mutual fund assets under management was 48.9 basis points in 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 as compared to 
49.6 basis points in 2015.
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Non-commission expenses are incurred by Mackenzie in the 
administration, marketing and management of its assets 
under management. Non-commission expenses were 
$76.3 million in the three months ended December 31, 2016, 
an increase of $4.0 million or 5.5% from $72.3 million in 2015. 
Non-commission expenses in the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2016 were $310.3 million, an increase of 
$15.8 million or 5.4% from $294.5 million in 2015. 

Q4 2016 VS. Q3 2016

REVENUES

Mackenzie’s revenues were $198.9 million for the current 
quarter, an increase of $0.5 million or 0.3% from $198.4 million 
in the third quarter of 2016.

Management fees were $172.3 million for the current quarter, 
an increase of $1.9 million or 1.1% from $170.4 million in the 
third quarter of 2016. Factors contributing to the net increase 
in management fees are as follows:

• Average total assets under management were $63.8 billion 
in the current quarter compared to $63.5 billion in the prior 
quarter, an increase of 0.6%.

• Mackenzie’s average management fee rate was 107.1 basis 
points in the current quarter as compared to 106.5 basis 
points in the third quarter of 2016 due to a change in the 
composition of assets under management.

Administration fees were $23.8 million in the current quarter, 
a decrease of $0.2 million or 0.8% from $24.0 million in the 
prior quarter. 

Net investment income and other includes investment returns 
related to Mackenzie’s investments in proprietary funds. 
These investments are generally made in the process of launching 
a fund and are sold as third party investors subscribe. Net 
investment income and other was $0.7 million for the current 
quarter compared to $1.8 million in the third quarter of 2016. 

EXPENSES

Mackenzie’s expenses were $150.1 million for the current 
quarter, a decrease of $2.3 million or 1.5% from $152.4 million 
in the third quarter of 2016. 

Commission expense related to the amortization of selling 
commissions was $12.4 million in the quarter ended 
December 31, 2016, a decrease of 3.9% from the third quarter 
of 2016.

Trailing commissions were $61.4 million in the current quarter, 
an increase of $0.7 million or 1.2% from $60.7 million in the third 
quarter of 2016. The change in trailing commissions reflects 
the 1.8% period over period increase in average mutual fund 
assets under management, offset by a decline in effective trailing 
commission rate. The effective trailing commission rate for the 
fourth quarter was 48.6 basis points, compared to 48.9 basis 
points in the third quarter.

Non-commission expenses were $76.3 million in the current 
quarter, compared to $78.8 million in the third quarter of 2016. 
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CORPORATE AND OTHER
REVIEW OF SEGMENT OPERATING RESULTS

The Corporate and Other segment includes net investment 
income not allocated to the Investors Group or Mackenzie 
segments, the Company’s proportionate share of earnings 
of its affiliate, Great-West Lifeco Inc. (Lifeco), operating results 
for Investment Planning Counsel Inc., other income, as well 
as consolidation elimination entries. 

During 2016, the Company made investments in Personal 
Capital Corporation, WealthSimple Financial Corporation and 
Portag3 Ventures and recently announced the investment in 
China Asset Management Co., Ltd., which is expected to close 
in the first half of 2017 subject to customary closing conditions, 
including Chinese regulatory approvals. The earnings impact 
of these investments will be reported in the Corporate and 
Other segment in future quarters.

Corporate and other earnings before interest and taxes are 
presented in Table 16.

2016 VS. 2015
The proportionate share of affiliate’s earnings decreased by 
$2.6 million in the three month period and $6.8 million in the 

twelve month period and reflects equity earnings from Lifeco, 
which is discussed in the Consolidated Financial Position section 
of this MD&A. Net investment income and other decreased 
to $1.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared to 
$1.9 million in 2015 and decreased to $8.0 million in the year 
ended December 31, 2016 compared to $8.1 million in 2015. 

Earnings before interest and taxes related to Investment 
Planning Counsel were $0.1 million lower in the fourth quarter 
of 2016 compared to the same period in 2015 and $0.3 million 
lower in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared with 2015.

Q4 2016 VS. Q3 2016
The proportionate share of Lifeco’s earnings increased by 
$0.5 million to $26.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2016 
compared to the third quarter of 2016. Net investment income 
and other decreased to $1.4 million in the fourth quarter 
of 2016 compared to $2.2 million in the third quarter.

Earnings before interest and taxes related to Investment 
Planning Counsel were $1.1 million lower in the fourth quarter 
of 2016 compared with the previous quarter. 

TABLE 16: OPERATING RESULTS – CORPORATE AND OTHER

 % CHANGE

THREE MONTHS ENDED 2016 2016 2015 2016 2015 
($ millions) DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31 SEP. 30 DEC. 31

Revenues
 Fee income $ 64.7 $ 65.1 $ 61.7 (0.6) % 4.9 %
 Net investment income and other  1.4  2.2  1.9 (36.4)  (26.3) 
 Proportionate share of affiliate's earnings  26.5  26.0  29.1 1.9  (8.9)

    92.6  93.3  92.7 (0.8)  (0.1)

Expenses
 Commission  44.5  44.1  41.4 0.9  7.5
 Non-commission  15.7  15.2  15.0 3.3  4.7

    60.2  59.3  56.4 1.5  6.7

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 32.4 $ 34.0 $ 36.3 (4.7) % (10.7) %

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Revenues
 Fee income $ 254.9 $ 250.6 1.7 %
 Net investment income and other  8.0  8.1 (1.2) 
 Proportionate share of affiliate's earnings  104.2  111.0 (6.1)

    367.1  369.7 (0.7)

Expenses
 Commission  173.8  171.3 1.5
 Non-commission  61.8  58.6 5.5

    235.6  229.9 2.5

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 131.5 $ 139.8 (5.9) %
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IGM FINANCIAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

IGM Financial’s total assets were $15.6 billion at December 31, 
2016, compared to $14.8 billion at December 31, 2015.

SECURITIES
The composition of the Company’s securities holdings is detailed 
in Table 17.

AVAILABLE FOR SALE SECURITIES 

Securities classified as available for sale include corporate 
investments and investments in proprietary investment funds. 
Unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities are 
recorded in Other comprehensive income until they are realized 
or until management determines that there is objective evidence 
of impairment, at which time they are reclassified to the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings and any subsequent losses 
are also recorded in net earnings. 

Corporate Investments

Corporate investments is primarily comprised of the Company’s 
investments in Personal Capital Corporation (Personal Capital), 
WealthSimple Financial Corporation (WealthSimple) and 
Portag3 Ventures (Portag3). 

In May 2016, the Company invested $64.5 million (USD 
$50 million) in Personal Capital, a market-leading digital 
wealth advisor that is incorporated in and operates in the 
U.S. In December 2016, the Company invested an additional 
$32.8 million (USD $25 million) in Personal Capital. 

In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company invested a total 
of $35 million in WealthSimple and Portag3. WealthSimple is an 
online investment manager that provides financial investment 
guidance. The investment was entered into through a limited 

partnership controlled by the Company’s parent, Power Financial 
Corporation. Portag3 is an early-stage investment fund 
dedicated to backing innovating financial services companies and is 
controlled by the Company’s parent, Power Financial Corporation.

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS SECURITIES

Securities classified as fair value through profit or loss include 
equity securities and proprietary investment funds. Unrealized 
gains and losses are recorded in Net investment income and 
other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Certain proprietary investment funds are consolidated where 
the Company has made the assessment that it controls the 
investment fund as discussed in Note 2 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. The underlying securities of these funds 
are classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value 
through profit or loss.

OTHER INVESTMENTS

China Asset Management Co., Ltd.

On December 29, 2016 and January 5, 2017, the Company 
entered into agreements to acquire 10% and 3.9% interests, 
respectively, in China Asset Management Co., Ltd. (China 
AMC), a fund management company in China. The aggregate 
consideration for the investment is approximately $647 million 
(RMB¥3.3 billion). As at December 31, 2016, Other assets 
included a deposit of $193.5 million (RMB¥1.0 billion) related 
to the investment. The transactions are expected to close in 
the first half of 2017, subject to customary closing conditions, 
including Chinese regulatory approvals.

TABLE 17: SECURITIES

 DECEMBER 31, 2016 DECEMBER 31, 2015
  
($ millions)  COST FAIR VALUE COST FAIR VALUE

Available for sale
 Corporate investments $ 141.6 $ 152.0 $ 5.7 $ 9.2
 Proprietary investment funds  6.1  6.4  6.0  6.1

    147.7  158.4  11.7  15.3

Fair value through profit or loss
 Equity securities  15.5  17.7  12.2  10.5
 Proprietary investment funds  49.4  49.1  33.7  34.2

    64.9  66.8  45.9  44.7

   $ 212.6 $ 225.2 $ 57.6 $ 60.0
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LOANS 
The composition of the Company’s loans is detailed in Table 18.

Loans consisted of residential mortgages and represented 51.1% 
of total assets at December 31, 2016, compared to 49.8% at 
December 31, 2015. 

Loans classified as loans and receivables are primarily comprised 
of residential mortgages sold to securitization programs sponsored 
by third parties that in turn issue securities to investors. 
An offsetting liability, Obligations to securitization entities, has 
been recorded and totalled $7.7 billion at December 31, 2016, 
compared to $7.1 billion at December 31, 2015.

Loans classified as held for trading are residential mortgages 
held temporarily by the Company pending sale or securitization.

Residential mortgages originated by Investors Group are funded 
primarily through sales to third parties on a fully serviced basis, 
including Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) 
or Canadian bank sponsored securitization programs. Investors 
Group services $13.5 billion of residential mortgages, including 
$2.4 billion originated by subsidiaries of Lifeco. 

SECURITIZATION ARRANGEMENTS
Through the Company’s mortgage banking operations, residential 
mortgages originated by Investors Group mortgage planning 
specialists are sold to securitization trusts sponsored by third 
parties that in turn issue securities to investors. The Company 
securitizes residential mortgages through the CMHC sponsored 
National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities (NHA MBS) 
and the Canada Mortgage Bond Program (CMB Program) and 

through Canadian bank-sponsored asset-backed commercial 
paper (ABCP) programs. The Company retains servicing 
responsibilities and certain elements of credit risk and prepayment 
risk associated with the transferred assets. The Company’s credit 
risk on its securitized mortgages is mitigated through the use 
of insurance. Derecognition of financial assets in accordance 
with IFRS is based on the transfer of risks and rewards of 
ownership. As the Company has retained prepayment risk and 
certain elements of credit risk associated with the Company’s 
securitization transactions through the CMB and ABCP programs, 
they are accounted for as secured borrowings. The Company 
records the transactions under these programs as follows: (i) 
the mortgages and related obligations are carried at amortized 
cost, with interest income and interest expense, utilizing 
the effective interest rate method, recorded over the term 
of the mortgages, (ii) the component of swaps entered into 
under the CMB Program whereby the Company pays coupons 
on Canada Mortgage Bonds and receives investment returns 
on the reinvestment of repaid mortgage principal, are recorded 
at fair value, and (iii) cash reserves held under the ABCP 
program are carried at amortized cost.

In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company securitized loans 
through its mortgage banking operations with cash proceeds 
of $698.3 million compared to $640.8 million in 2015. Additional 
information related to the Company’s securitization activities, 
including the Company’s hedges of related reinvestment and 
interest rate risk, can be found in the Financial Risk section of 
this MD&A and in Note 6 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

TABLE 18: LOANS

($ millions)   DECEMBER 31, 2016  DECEMBER 31, 2015

Loans and receivables $ 7,644.5 $ 7,008.9
 Less: Collective allowance  0.7  0.7

    7,643.8  7,008.2
Held for trading  339.5  384.2

   $ 7,983.3 $ 7,392.4
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TABLE 19: INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATE

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED    2016 2015 
($ millions)    DEC. 31 DEC. 31

Carrying value, beginning of year $ 904.3 $ 794.4
 Proportionate share of earnings  104.2  111.0
 Dividends received  (55.0)  (51.8)
 Proportionate share of other comprehensive income (loss) and other adjustments  (64.6)  50.7

Carrying value, end of year $ 888.9 $ 904.3

Fair value, end of year $ 1,397.6 $ 1,371.3

INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATE
Investment in affiliate represents the Company’s 4% equity 
interest in Great-West Lifeco Inc. (Lifeco). IGM Financial and 
Lifeco are controlled by Power Financial Corporation.

The equity method is used to account for IGM Financial’s investment 
in Lifeco, as it exercises significant influence. The Company’s 
proportionate share of Lifeco’s earnings is recorded in Net 
investment income and other in the Corporate and other 
reportable segment. Changes in the carrying value for the year 
ended December 31, 2016 compared with 2015 are shown 
in Table 19.
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LIQUIDITY
Cash and cash equivalents totalled $611.0 million at December 31, 
2016 compared with $983.0 million at December 31, 2015. 
Cash and cash equivalents related to the Company’s deposit 
operations were $2.7 million at December 31, 2016, compared 
to $2.8 million at December 31, 2015, as shown in Table 20.

Working capital totalled $557.8 million at December 31, 2016 
compared with $980.3 million at December 31, 2015. Working 
capital excludes the Company’s deposit operations. 

Working capital is utilized to: 

• Finance ongoing operations, including the funding of selling 
commissions.

• Temporarily finance mortgages in its mortgage banking 
operations.

• Pay interest and dividends related to long-term debt and 
preferred shares. 

• Maintain liquidity requirements for regulated entities.

• Pay quarterly dividends on its outstanding common shares.

• Finance common share repurchases related to the Company’s 
normal course issuer bid. 

IGM Financial continues to generate significant cash flows 
from its operations. Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization (Adjusted EBITDA) totalled 
$1,320.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 
compared to $1,392.6 million in 2015. Adjusted EBITDA for 
each period under review excludes the impact of amortization 
of deferred selling commissions which totalled $235.8 million 
in 2016 compared to $232.9 million in 2015. As well as being 

CONSOLIDATED LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

an important alternative measure of performance, EBITDA is 
a common measure utilized by investment analysts and credit 
rating agencies in reviewing asset management companies.

Refer to the Financial Risk section of this MD&A for information 
related to other sources of liquidity and to the Company’s 
exposure to and management of liquidity and funding risk. 

1,3211,360 1,357
1,427 1,393

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation and Amortization (Adjusted EBITDA)
For the fi nancial year ($ millions)

Adjusted EBITDA 

2012 excluded the proportionate share of the charge related to the 
changes in an affiliate’s litigation provisions.

2013 excluded a charge related to restructuring and other charges 
and the proportionate share of the benefit related to the changes in 
an affiliate’s litigation provisions.

2014 excluded a charge related to client distributions and other 
costs, and restructuring and other charges.

2015 excluded a charge related to restructuring and other charges.

TABLE 20: DEPOSIT OPERATIONS – FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31 ($ millions)  2016 2015

Assets
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 2.7 $ 2.8
 Client funds on deposit  455.5  291.7
 Accounts and other receivables  0.5  0.6  
 Loans  25.1  25.4

Total assets $ 483.8 $ 320.5

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
 Deposit liabilities $ 471.2 $ 310.1
 Other liabilities  2.6  0.5
 Shareholders’ equity  10.0  9.9

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 483.8 $ 320.5
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CASH FLOWS 
Table 21 - Cash Flows is a summary of the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows which forms part of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $372.0 million in 2016 
compared to a decrease of $232.3 million in 2015.  

Operating activities, before payment of commissions, generated 
$971.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2016, as 
compared to $960.3 million in 2015. Cash commissions paid were 
$234.9 million in 2016 compared to $249.9 million in 2015. Cash 
flows from operating activities, net of commissions paid, were 
$736.6 million in 2016 as compared to $710.4 million in 2015.

Financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2016 
compared to 2015 related to:

• A net decrease of $0.5 million in deposits and certificates in 
2016 compared to a net decrease of $1.2 million in 2015. 

• A net increase of $631.1 million in 2016 arising from 
obligations to securitization entities compared to a net 
increase of $336.0 million in 2015. 

• Proceeds received on the issuance of common shares of 
$3.4 million in 2016 compared with $14.2 million in 2015. 

• The purchase of 4,346,600 common shares in 2016 under 
IGM Financial’s normal course issuer bid at a cost of 
$155.7 million compared with the purchase of 7,018,500 
common shares at a cost of $288.4 million in 2015.

• The payment of perpetual preferred share dividends which 
totalled $8.8 million in 2016, unchanged from 2015.

• The payment of regular common share dividends which totalled 
$544.4 million in 2016 compared to $560.1 million in 2015.

Investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2016 
compared to 2015 primarily related to:

• The purchases of securities totalling $231.3 million and 
sales of securities with proceeds of $80.3 million in 2016 
compared to $127.9 million and $167.4 million, respectively, 
in 2015. The purchase of securities includes $135.2 million 
representing the investments in Personal Capital, 
WealthSimple and Portag3.

• A net increase in loans of $582.9 million in 2016 compared 
to a net increase of $360.9 million in 2015 primarily related 
to residential mortgages in the Company’s mortgage 
banking operations. 

• Net cash used in additions to intangible assets and acquisitions 
was $64.5 million in 2016 compared to $76.1 million in 2015. 

• Deposit of $193.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2016 related 
to the Company's investment in China AMC. 

CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Company’s capital management objective is to maximize 
shareholder returns while ensuring that the Company is 
capitalized in a manner which appropriately supports regulatory 
requirements, working capital needs and business expansion. 
The Company’s capital management practices are focused 
on preserving the quality of its financial position by maintaining 
a solid capital base and a strong balance sheet. Capital of the 
Company consists of long-term debt, perpetual preferred shares 
and common shareholders’ equity which totalled $6.1 billion 
at December 31, 2016, unchanged from December 31, 2015. 
The Company regularly assesses its capital management 
practices in response to changing economic conditions. 

The Company’s capital is primarily utilized in its ongoing business 
operations to support working capital requirements, long-term 
investments made by the Company, business expansion and 
other strategic objectives. Subsidiaries subject to regulatory 
capital requirements include investment dealers, mutual fund 
dealers, exempt market dealers, portfolio managers, investment 
fund managers and a trust company. These subsidiaries are 

TABLE 21: CASH FLOWS

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED   2016 2015 
($ millions)   DEC. 31 DEC. 31 % CHANGE

Operating activities
 Before payment of commissions $ 971.5 $ 960.3 1.2 %
 Commissions paid  (234.9)  (249.9) 6.0

 Net of commissions paid  736.6  710.4 3.7
Financing activities  (74.9)  (508.4) 85.3
Investing activities  (1,033.7)  (434.3) (138.0)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (372.0)  (232.3) (60.1)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  983.0  1,215.3 (19.1)

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 611.0 $ 983.0 (37.8) %
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required to maintain minimum levels of capital based on 
either working capital, liquidity or shareholders’ equity. 
The Company’s subsidiaries have complied with all regulatory 
capital requirements.

The total outstanding long-term debt was $1,325.0 million 
at December 31, 2016, unchanged from December 31, 2015. 
Long-term debt is comprised of debentures which are senior 
unsecured debt obligations of the Company subject to standard 
covenants, including negative pledges, but which do not include 
any specified financial or operational covenants. 

On January 26, 2017, IGM Financial issued $400 million of 
10 year, 3.44% debentures priced to provide a yield to maturity 
of 3.448% and $200 million of 30 year, 4.56% debentures priced 
to provide a yield to maturity of 4.560%. The offering was made 
pursuant to a prospectus supplement to IGM Financial’s short 
form base shelf prospectus dated November 29, 2016. The net 
proceeds will be used by IGM Financial to finance a substantial 
portion of the announced acquisitions of an equity interest 
in China AMC (refer to Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements) and for general corporate purposes.

Perpetual preferred shares of $150 million at December 31, 
2016 remain unchanged from December 31, 2015. 

The Company purchased 4,346,600 common shares during 
the year ended December 31, 2016 at a cost of $155.7 million 
under its normal course issuer bid (refer to Note 16 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company commenced 
a normal course issuer bid on March 20, 2016 to purchase up 
to 5% of its common shares in order to mitigate the dilutive 
effect of stock options issued under the Company’s stock option 
plan and for other capital management purposes. Other activities 
in 2016 included the declaration of perpetual preferred share 
dividends of $8.8 million or $1.475 per share and common 
share dividends of $542.0 million or $2.25 per share. Changes 
in common share capital are reflected in the Consolidated 
Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity. 

In connection with its normal course issuer bid, the Company 
has established an automatic securities purchase plan for its 
common shares. The automatic securities purchase plan 
provides standard instructions regarding how IGM Financial’s 
common shares are to be purchased under its normal course 
issuer bid during certain pre-determined trading blackout 
periods. Outside of these pre-determined trading blackout 
periods, purchases under the Company’s normal course issuer 
bid will be completed based upon management’s discretion. 

In the fourth quarter of 2016, Standard & Poor’s (S&P) increased 
the rating of the Company’s senior unsecured debentures to 
“A+” from “A” with a stable outlook. Following the Company's 
announcement that it had entered into an agreement to acquire 

a 10% interest in China AMC, S&P changed the Company's 
rating from stable to "CreditWatch negative". Dominion Bond 
Rating Service’s (DBRS) current rating on the Company’s senior 
unsecured debentures is “A (High)” with a stable rating trend.

Credit ratings are intended to provide investors with an 
independent measure of the credit quality of the securities of 
a company and are indicators of the likelihood of payment and 
the capacity of a company to meet its obligations in accordance 
with the terms of each obligation. Descriptions of the rating 
categories for each of the agencies set forth below have been 
obtained from the respective rating agencies’ websites.

These ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 
the securities of the Company and do not address market price 
or other factors that might determine suitability of a specific 
security for a particular investor. The ratings also may not 
reflect the potential impact of all risks on the value of securities 
and are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the 
rating organization.

The A+ rating assigned to IGM Financial’s senior unsecured 
debentures by S&P is the fifth highest of the 22 ratings used 
for long-term debt. This rating indicates S&P’s view that the 
Company’s capacity to meet its financial commitment on the 
obligation is strong, but the obligation is somewhat more 
susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and 
economic conditions than obligations in higher rated categories. 

The A (High) rating assigned to IGM Financial’s senior unsecured 
debentures by DBRS is the fifth highest of the 26 ratings used 
for long-term debt. Under the DBRS long-term rating scale, 
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debt securities rated A (High) are of good credit quality and the 
capacity for the payment of financial obligations is substantial. 
While this is a favourable rating, entities in the A (High) category 
may be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative 
factors are considered manageable. 

According to DBRS, the “Stable” rating trend helps give investors 
an understanding of DBRS’s opinion regarding the outlook for 
the rating. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Table 22 presents the carrying amounts and fair values of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The table excludes fair 
value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. These items include cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts and other receivables, certain other 
financial assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and 
certain other financial liabilities.

Fair value is determined using the following methods and 
assumptions:

• Securities and other financial assets and liabilities are valued 
using quoted prices from active markets, when available. 
When a quoted market price is not readily available, valuation 
techniques are used that require assumptions related to 
discount rates and the timing and amount of future cash 
flows. Wherever possible, observable market inputs are used 
in the valuation techniques.

• Loans classified as held for trading are valued using market 
interest rates for loans with similar credit risk and maturity.

• Loans classified as loans and receivables are valued by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing 
market yields.

• Obligations to securitization entities are valued by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at prevailing market yields for 
securities issued by these securitization entities having similar 
terms and characteristics.

• Deposits and certificates are valued by discounting the 
contractual cash flows using market interest rates currently 
offered for deposits with similar terms and credit risks.

• Long-term debt is valued using quoted prices for each 
debenture available in the market.

• Derivative financial instruments are valued based on quoted 
market prices, where available, prevailing market rates for 
instruments with similar characteristics and maturities, or 
discounted cash flow analysis.

See Note 22 of the Consolidated Financial Statements which 
provides additional discussion on the determination of fair value 
of financial instruments.

Although there were changes to both the carrying values and 
fair values of financial instruments, these changes did not have 
a material impact on the financial condition of the Company 
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016.

TABLE 22: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 DECEMBER 31, 2016 DECEMBER 31, 2015
  
($ millions) CARRYING VALUE FAIR VALUE CARRYING VALUE FAIR VALUE

Financial assets recorded at fair value
 Securities
  – Available for sale $ 158.4 $ 158.4 $ 15.4 $ 15.4
  – Held for trading  66.8  66.8  44.7  44.7
 Loans
  – Held for trading  339.5  339.5  384.2  384.2
 Derivative financial instruments  42.8  42.8  58.4  58.4
Financial assets recorded at amortized cost
 Loans
 – Loans and receivables  7,643.8  7,867.7  7,008.2  7,265.9
Financial liabilities recorded at fair value
 Derivative financial instruments  38.2  38.2  57.8  57.8
 Other financial liabilities  9.8  9.8  4.1  4.1
Financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost
 Deposits and certificates  471.2  472.2  310.1  311.8
 Obligations to securitization entities  7,721.0  7,873.1  7,092.4  7,272.4
 Long-term debt  1,325.0  1,610.9  1,325.0  1,661.2
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to a variety of risks that are inherent 
in its business activities. Its ability to manage these risks is key 
to its ongoing success. The Company emphasizes a strong risk 
management culture and the implementation of an effective 
risk management approach. The risk management approach 
coordinates risk management across the organization and its 
business units and seeks to ensure prudent and measured  
risk-taking in order to achieve an appropriate balance between 
risk and return. Fundamental to our enterprise risk management 
program is protecting and enhancing our reputation.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The Company’s risk management approach is undertaken 
through its Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework 
which includes five core elements: risk governance, risk appetite, 
risk principles, a defined risk management process, and risk 
management culture. The ERM Framework is established under 
the Company’s ERM Policy, which is approved by the Risk 
Management Committee.

RISK GOVERNANCE

The Company’s risk governance structure emphasizes a 
comprehensive and consistent framework throughout 
the Company and its subsidiaries, with identified ownership 
of risk management in each business unit and oversight by 
an executive Risk Management Committee accountable 
to the Executive Committee of the Board. Additional oversight 
is provided by the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 
Department, corporate and distribution compliance groups, 
and the Company’s Internal Audit Department.

The Board of Directors provides oversight and carries out its 
risk management mandate primarily through the following 
committees:

• The Executive Committee is responsible for the oversight of 
enterprise risk management by: i) ensuring that appropriate 
procedures are in place to identify and manage risks and 
establish risk tolerances, ii) ensuring that appropriate policies, 
procedures and controls are implemented to manage risks, 
and iii) reviewing the risk management process on a regular 
basis to ensure that it is functioning effectively. 

• The Investment Committee oversees management of the 
Company’s financial risks, being market risk, credit risk, and 
liquidity and funding risk by: i) ensuring that appropriate 
procedures are in place to identify and manage financial 
risks in accordance with tolerances, ii) monitoring the 
implementation and maintenance of appropriate policies, 
procedures and controls to manage financial risks, and iii) 
reviewing the financial risk management process on a regular 
basis to ensure that it is functioning effectively. 

• The Audit Committee has specific risk oversight 
responsibilities in relation to financial disclosure, internal 
controls and the control environment as well as the 
Company’s compliance activities. 

• Other committees having specific risk oversight 
responsibilities include: i) the Compensation Committee 
which oversees compensation policies and practices, ii) the 
Governance and Nominating Committee which oversees 
corporate governance practices, and iii) the Related Party 
and Conduct Review Committee which oversees conflicts 
of interest as well as the administration of the Code of Business 
Conduct and Ethics for Directors, Officers and Employees 
(Code of Conduct).

Management oversight for risk management resides with 
the executive Risk Management Committee which is comprised 
of the President and Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer, and the General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer. 
The committee is responsible for management providing 
oversight of the Company’s risk management process by: 
i) establishing and maintaining the risk framework and policy, 
ii) defining the Company’s risk appetite, iii) ensuring the Company’s 
risk profile and processes are aligned with corporate strategy 
and risk appetite, and iv) establishing “tone at the top” and 
reinforcing a strong culture of risk management.

The Chief Executive Officers of the operating companies have 
overall responsibility for overseeing risk management of their 
respective companies.

The Company has assigned responsibility for risk management 
using the Three Lines of Defence model, with the First Line 
reflecting the business units having primary responsibility for 
risk management, supported by Second Line risk management 
functions and a Third Line Internal Audit function providing 
assurance and validation of the design and effectiveness of the 
ERM Framework.

First Line of Defence

The leaders of the various business units and support functions 
have primary ownership and accountability for the ongoing 
risk management associated with their respective activities. 
Responsibilities of business unit and support function leaders 
include: i) establishing and maintaining procedures for the 
identification, assessment, documentation and escalation 
of risks, ii) implementing control activities to mitigate risks, 
iii) identifying opportunities for risk reduction or transfer, and 
iv) aligning business and operational strategies with the risk 
culture and risk appetite of the organization as established by 
the Risk Management Committee.
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Second Line of Defence

The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Department provides 
oversight, analysis and reporting to the Risk Management 
Committee on the level of risks relative to the established risk 
appetite for all activities of the Company. Other responsibilities 
include: i) developing and maintaining the enterprise risk 
management program and framework, ii) managing the 
enterprise risk management process, and iii) providing guidance 
and training to business unit and support function leaders. 

The Company has a number of committees of senior business 
leaders which provide oversight of specific business risks, including 
the Financial Risk Management and Information Services Risk 
Oversight committees. These committees perform critical 
reviews of risk assessments, risk management practices and risk  
response plans developed by business units and support functions. 

Other oversight accountabilities reside with the Company’s 
corporate and sales compliance groups which are responsible 
for ensuring compliance with policies, laws and regulations.

Third Line of Defence

The Internal Audit Department is the third line of defence and 
provides independent assurance to senior management and 
the Board of Directors on the effectiveness of risk management 
policies, processes and practices. 

RISK APPETITE AND RISK PRINCIPLES

The Risk Management Committee establishes the Company’s 
appetite for different types of risk through the Risk Appetite 
Framework. Under the Risk Appetite Framework, one of four 
appetite levels is established for each risk type and business 
activity of the Company. These appetite levels range from those 
where the Company has no appetite for risk and seeks to 
minimize any losses, to those where the Company readily accepts 
exposure while seeking to ensure that risks are well understood 
and managed. These appetite levels guide our business units 
as they engage in business activities, and inform them in 
establishing policies, limits, controls and risk transfer activities.

A Risk Appetite Statement and Risk Principles provide further 
guidance to business leaders and employees as they conduct risk 
management activities. The Risk Appetite Statement’s emphasis 
is to maintain the Company’s reputation and brand, ensure 
financial flexibility, and focus on mitigating operational risk.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The Company’s risk management process is designed to foster:

• Ongoing assessment of risks and tolerance in a changing 
operating environment.

• Appropriate identification and understanding of existing and 
emerging risks and risk response.

• Timely monitoring and escalation of risks based upon 
changing circumstances.

Significant risks that may adversely affect the Company’s ability 
to achieve its strategic and business objectives are identified 
through the Company’s ongoing risk management process.

We use a consistent methodology across our organizations 
and business units for identification and assessment of risks. 
Risks are assessed by evaluating the impact and likelihood 
of the potential risk event after consideration of controls and 
any risk transfer activities. The results of these assessments 
are considered relative to risk appetite and tolerances and may 
result in action plans to adjust the risk profile. 

Risk assessments are monitored and reviewed on an ongoing 
basis by business units and by oversight areas including the 
ERM Department. The ERM Department promotes and 
coordinates communication and consultation to support 
effective risk management and escalation. The ERM Department 
regularly reports on the results of risk assessments and on the 
assessment process to the Risk Management Committee and 
to the Executive Committee of the Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT CULTURE

Risk management is intended to be everyone’s responsibility 
within the organization. The ERM Department engages 
all business units in workshops to foster awareness and 
incorporation of our risk framework into our business activities. 

We have an established business planning process which 
reinforces our risk management culture. Our compensation 
programs are typically objectives-based, and do not encourage 
or reward excessive or inappropriate risk taking, and often are 
aligned specifically with risk management objectives.

Our risk management program emphasizes integrity, ethical 
practices, responsible management and measured risk-taking 
with a long-term view. Our standards of integrity and ethics are 
reflected within our Code of Conduct which applies to directors, 
officers and employees.

KEY RISKS OF THE BUSINESS
The Company identifies risks to which its businesses and 
operations could be exposed considering factors both internal 
and external to the organization. These risks are broadly 
grouped into six categories.
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1) FINANCIAL RISK

LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING RISK

Liquidity and funding risk is the risk of the inability to generate 
or obtain sufficient cash in a timely and cost-effective manner 
to meet contractual or anticipated commitments as they come 
due or arise. 

The Company’s liquidity management practices include:

• Maintaining liquid assets and lines of credit to satisfy near 
term liquidity needs.

• Ensuring effective controls over liquidity management processes.

• Performing regular cash forecasts and stress testing.

• Regular assessment of capital market conditions and the 
Company’s ability to access bank and capital market funding.

• Ongoing efforts to diversify and expand long-term mortgage 
funding sources.

• Oversight of liquidity management by the Financial Risk 
Management Committee, a committee of finance business 
leaders, and by the Investment Committee of the Board 
of Directors.

A key funding requirement for the Company is the funding of 
commissions paid on the sale of mutual funds. Commissions on the 
sale of mutual funds continue to be paid from operating cash flows. 

The Company also maintains sufficient liquidity to fund and 
temporarily hold mortgages pending sale or securitization to 
long-term funding sources. Through its mortgage banking 
operations, residential mortgages are sold to third parties 
including certain mutual funds, institutional investors through 
private placements, Canadian bank-sponsored securitization 
trusts, and by issuance and sale of National Housing Act 
Mortgage-Backed Securities (NHA MBS) securities including 
sales to Canada Housing Trust under the CMB Program. 

The Company maintains committed capacity within certain 
Canadian bank-sponsored securitization trusts. Capacity for 
sales under the CMB Program consists of participation in new 
CMB issues and reinvestment of principal repayments held in 
the Principal Reinvestment Accounts. The Company’s continued 
ability to fund residential mortgages through Canadian bank-
sponsored securitization trusts and NHA MBS is dependent on 
securitization market conditions and government regulations 
that are subject to change. A condition of the NHA MBS and 
CMB Program is that securitized loans be insured by an insurer 
that is approved by CMHC. The availability of mortgage insurance 
is dependent upon market conditions and is subject to change.

As part of ongoing liquidity management during 2016 and 2015, 
the Company:

• Continued to expand our funding channels by issuing NHA 
MBS to multiple purchasers.

• Continued to assess additional funding sources for the 
Company’s mortgage banking operations.

• Filed a short form base shelf prospectus to give the Company 
the flexibility to access debt and equity markets.

• Increased the Company’s committed lines of credit by 
$300 million during the fourth quarter of 2016.

• In January 2017, the Company issued $400 million of 10 
year, 3.44% debentures and $200 million of 30 year, 4.56% 
debentures. The net proceeds will be used by IGM Financial 
to finance a substantial portion of its previously announced 
acquisition of a 13.9% equity interest in China AMC and for 
general corporate purposes. 

The Company’s contractual obligations are reflected in Table 23.

The maturity schedule for long-term debt of $1,325 million, 
with no debt repayment due until 2018, is reflected in the 
accompanying chart (Long-Term Debt Maturity Schedule).

TABLE 23: CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

   LESS THAN 1-5 AFTER 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 ($ millions) DEMAND 1 YEAR YEARS 5 YEARS TOTAL

Derivative financial instruments $ – $ 17.7 $ 20.1 $ 0.4 $ 38.2
Deposits and certificates  453.4  8.2  7.4  2.2  471.2
Obligations to securitization entities  –  1,340.0  6,310.5  70.5  7,721.0
Long-term debt  –  –  525.0  800.0  1,325.0
Operating leases(1)  –  30.0  84.5  42.0  156.5
Pension funding(2)  –  37.5  –  –  37.5

Total contractual obligations $ 453.4 $ 1,433.4 $ 6,947.5 $ 915.1 $ 9,749.4

(1) Includes future minimum lease payments related to office space and equipment used in the normal course of business. Lease payments are charged to earnings in the period of use.

(2) The next required actuarial valuation will be completed based on a measurement date of December 31, 2016. Pension funding requirements beyond 2017 are subject to significant 
variability and will be determined based on future actuarial valuations. Pension contribution decisions are subject to change, as contributions are affected by many factors including 
market performance, regulatory requirements, changes in assumptions and management’s ability to change funding policy.
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In addition to IGM Financial’s current balance of cash and cash 
equivalents, liquidity is available through the Company’s lines 
of credit. The Company’s lines of credit with various Schedule I 
Canadian chartered banks totalled $825 million at December 31, 
2016, compared to $525 million at December 31, 2015. The 
lines of credit as at December 31, 2016 consisted of committed 
lines of $650 million (December 31, 2015 – $350 million) and 
uncommitted lines of $175 million (December 31, 2015 - 
$175 million). The Company has accessed its uncommitted lines 
of credit in the past; however, any advances made by a bank 
under the uncommitted lines of credit are at the bank’s sole 
discretion. As at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, 
the Company was not utilizing its committed lines of credit or 
its uncommitted lines of credit. 

The actuarial valuation for funding purposes related to the 
Company’s registered defined benefit pension plan, based on 
a measurement date of December 31, 2013, was completed 
in May 2014. Based on the actuarial valuation, the registered 
pension plan had a solvency deficit of $23.4 million compared 
to $106.3 million in the previous actuarial valuation, which 
was based on a measurement date of December 31, 2012. 
The reduction in the solvency deficit resulted primarily from 
higher interest rates and market returns on the plan assets, 
and is required to be funded over five years. During 2016, 
the Company made contributions of $19.7 million (2015 - 
$19.6 million). The Company expects to make contributions 
of approximately $37.5 million in 2017. Pension contribution 
decisions are subject to change, as contributions are affected 
by many factors including market performance, regulatory 
requirements, changes in assumptions and management’s ability 
to change funding policy. The next required actuarial valuation 
will be based on a measurement date of December 31, 2016.

Management believes cash flows from operations, available 
cash balances and other sources of liquidity described above are 
sufficient to meet the Company’s liquidity needs. The Company 
continues to have the ability to meet its operational cash 
flow requirements, its contractual obligations, and its declared 
dividends. The current practice of the Company is to declare 
and pay dividends to common shareholders on a quarterly basis 
at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The declaration of 
dividends by the Board of Directors is dependent on a variety 
of factors, including earnings which are significantly influenced 
by the impact that debt and equity market performance has on 
the Company’s fee income and commission and certain other 
expenses. The Company’s liquidity position and its management 
of liquidity and funding risk have not changed materially since 
December 31, 2015. 

CREDIT RISK 

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss to the Company 
if a counterparty to a transaction fails to meet its obligations. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, securities holdings, 
mortgage portfolios, and derivatives are subject to credit risk. 
The Company monitors its credit risk management practices 
on an ongoing basis to evaluate their effectiveness.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

At December 31, 2016, cash and cash equivalents of 
$611.0 million (2015 - $983.0 million) consisted of cash 
balances of $84.5 million (2015 - $105.4 million) on deposit 
with Canadian chartered banks and cash equivalents of 
$526.5 million (2015 - $877.6 million). Cash equivalents are 
comprised of Government of Canada treasury bills totalling 
$44.1 million (2015 - $132.2 million), provincial government 
treasury bills and promissory notes of $197.1 million (2015 - 
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$446.6 million), bankers’ acceptances and other short-term 
notes issued by Canadian chartered banks of $246.8 million 
(2015 - $298.8 million), and highly rated corporate commercial 
paper of $38.5 million (2015 – nil). 

The Company manages credit risk related to cash and cash 
equivalents by adhering to its Investment Policy that outlines 
credit risk parameters and concentration limits. The Company 
regularly reviews the credit ratings of its counterparties. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk on these financial 
instruments is their carrying value. 

The Company’s exposure to and management of credit risk 
related to cash and cash equivalents and fixed income securities 
have not changed materially since December 31, 2015. 

Mortgage Portfolio

As at December 31, 2016, residential mortgages, recorded on 
the Company’s balance sheet, of $8.0 billion (2015 - $7.4 billion) 
consisted of $7.6 billion sold to securitization programs (2015 
- $7.0 billion), $339.5 million held pending sale or securitization 
(2015 - $384.2 million) and $29.2 million related to the 
Company’s intermediary operations (2015 - $27.7 million).

The Company manages credit risk related to residential 
mortgages through: 

• Adhering to its lending policy and underwriting standards;

• Its loan servicing capabilities; 

• Use of client-insured mortgage default insurance and 
mortgage portfolio default insurance held by the Company; 
and 

• Its practice of originating its mortgages exclusively through its 
own network of Mortgage Planning Specialists and Investors 
Group Consultants as part of a client’s comprehensive 
financial plan. 

In certain instances, credit risk is also limited by the terms and 
nature of securitization transactions as described below: 

• Under the NHA MBS program totalling $4.9 billion 
(December 31, 2015 - $4.6 billion), the Company is obligated 
to make timely payment of principal and coupons irrespective 
of whether such payments were received from the mortgage 
borrower. However, as required by the NHA MBS program, 
100% of the loans are insured by an approved insurer. 

• Credit risk for mortgages securitized by transfer to bank-
sponsored securitization trusts totalling $2.7 billion 
(December 31, 2015 – $2.4 billion) is limited to amounts 
held in cash reserve accounts and future net interest income, 
the fair values of which were $54.7 million (December 31, 
2015 - $47.7 million) and $45.0 million (December 31, 
2015 - $38.9 million), respectively, at December 31, 2016. 

Cash reserve accounts are reflected on the balance sheet, 
whereas rights to future net interest income are not reflected 
on the balance sheet and will be recorded over the life 
of the mortgages. This risk is further mitigated by insurance 
with 29.1% of mortgages held in ABCP Trusts insured at 
December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 – 36.6%). 

At December 31, 2016, residential mortgages recorded on 
balance sheet were 73.9% insured (December 31, 2015 – 
76.8%). As at December 31, 2016, impaired mortgages on 
these portfolios were $2.6 million, compared to $2.9 million at 
December 31, 2015. Uninsured non-performing mortgages over 
90 days on these portfolios were $0.9 million at December 31, 
2016, compared to $1.4 million at December 31, 2015.

The Company also retains certain elements of credit risk on 
mortgage loans sold to the Investors Mortgage and Short 
Term Income Fund and to the Investors Canadian Corporate 
Bond Fund through an agreement to repurchase mortgages 
in certain circumstances benefiting the funds. These loans are 
not recorded on the Company’s balance sheet as the Company 
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership associated with these loans.

The Company regularly reviews the credit quality of the 
mortgages and the adequacy of the collective allowance for 
credit losses.

The Company’s collective allowance for credit losses was 
$0.7 million at December 31, 2016, unchanged from December 31, 
2015, and is considered adequate by management to absorb 
all credit-related losses in the mortgage portfolios based 
on: i) historical credit performance experience and recent 
trends, ii) current portfolio credit metrics and other relevant 
characteristics, and iii) regular stress testing of losses under 
adverse real estate market conditions.

The Company’s exposure to and management of credit risk 
related to mortgage portfolios have not changed materially 
since December 31, 2015.

Derivatives

The Company is exposed to credit risk through derivative 
contracts it utilizes to hedge interest rate risk, to facilitate 
securitization transactions, to hedge market risk related to 
certain stock-based compensation arrangements, and to hedge 
foreign exchange risk on payments due on the close of the 
China AMC transaction. These derivatives are discussed more 
fully under the Market Risk section of this MD&A. 

To the extent that the fair value of the derivatives is in a gain position, 
the Company is exposed to credit risk that its counterparties fail to 
fulfil their obligations under these arrangements.
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The Company’s derivative activities are managed in accordance 
with its Investment Policy which includes counterparty limits 
and other parameters to manage counterparty risk. The aggregate 
credit risk exposure related to derivatives that are in a gain 
position of $42.8 million (2015 - $58.4 million) does not give 
effect to any netting agreements or collateral arrangements. 
The exposure to credit risk, considering netting agreements 
and collateral arrangements and including rights to future net 
interest income, was $3.0 million at December 31, 2016 (2015 
- $1.0 million). Counterparties are all Canadian Schedule I 
chartered banks and, as a result, management has determined 
that the Company’s overall credit risk related to derivatives was 
not significant at December 31, 2016. Management of credit 
risk related to derivatives has not changed materially since 
December 31, 2015. 

Additional information related to the Company’s securitization 
activities and utilization of derivative contracts can be found in 
Notes 2, 6 and 21 to the Annual Financial Statements.

MARKET RISK 

Market risk is the potential for loss to the Company from changes 
in the values of its financial instruments due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates or equity prices.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its mortgage 
portfolio and on certain of the derivative financial instruments 
used in the Company’s mortgage banking operations. 

The Company manages interest rate risk associated with its 
mortgage banking operations by entering into interest rate 
swaps with Canadian Schedule I chartered banks as follows: 

• The Company has in certain instances funded floating rate 
mortgages with fixed rate Canada Mortgage Bonds as part 
of the securitization transactions under the CMB Program. 
As previously discussed, as part of the CMB Program, the 
Company is party to a swap whereby it is entitled to receive 
investment returns on reinvested mortgage principal and is 
obligated to pay Canada Mortgage Bond coupons. This swap 
had a negative fair value of $23.1 million (December 31, 2015 
– negative $47.4 million) and an outstanding notional amount 
of $1.0 billion at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 - 
$740 million). The Company enters into interest rate swaps 
with Canadian Schedule I chartered banks to hedge the risk 
that the interest rates earned on floating rate mortgages and 
reinvestment returns decline. The fair value of these swaps 
totalled $30.0 million (December 31, 2015 - $54.5 million), 
on an outstanding notional amount of $2.1 billion at 
December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 - $1.8 billion). The 
net fair value of these swaps of $6.9 million at December 31, 
2016 (December 31, 2015 - $7.1 million) are recorded on 

balance sheet and have an outstanding notional amount 
of $3.1 billion (December 31, 2015 - $2.6 billion).

• The Company is exposed to the impact that changes in interest 
rates may have on the value of mortgages committed to or 
held pending sale or securitization to long-term funding sources. 
The Company enters into interest rate swaps to hedge the 
interest rate risk related to funding costs for mortgages 
held by the Company pending sale or securitization. The fair 
value of these swaps was $0.4 million (December 31, 2015 
- negative $0.1 million) on an outstanding notional amount 
of $123 million at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 - 
$88 million).

As at December 31, 2016, the impact to annual net earnings 
of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would have been 
an increase of approximately $0.2 million (December 31, 2015 
- a decrease of $0.7 million). The Company’s exposure to and 
management of interest rate risk have not changed materially 
since December 31, 2015.

Equity Price Risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risk on its equity 
securities which are classified as either available for sale or fair 
value through profit or loss. The fair value of the equity securities 
was $225.2 million at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 
- $60.0 million), as shown in Table 17. 

The Company sponsors a number of deferred compensation 
arrangements for employees where payments to participants 
are deferred and linked to the performance of the common 
shares of IGM Financial Inc. The Company hedges its exposure 
to this risk through the use of forward agreements and total 
return swaps.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on its 
investments in Personal Capital and China AMC. The Company 
has hedged its exposure to the final payments due on the close 
of the China AMC transaction through the use of forward 
currency contracts. 

RISKS RELATED TO ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

At December 31, 2016, IGM Financial’s total assets under 
management were $141.8 billion compared to $133.6 billion 
at December 31, 2015. 

The Company’s primary sources of revenues are management, 
administration and other fees which are applied as an annual 
percentage of the level of assets under management. As a result, 
the level of the Company’s revenues and earnings are indirectly 
exposed to a number of financial risks that affect the value of 
assets under management on an ongoing basis. These include 
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market risks, such as changes in equity prices, interest rates and 
foreign exchange rates, as well as credit risk on debt securities, 
loans and credit exposures from other counterparties within our 
client portfolios. 

Changing financial market conditions may also lead to a change 
in the composition of the Company’s assets under management 
between equity and fixed income instruments, which could 
result in lower revenues depending upon the management fee 
rates associated with different asset classes and mandates.

The Company’s exposure to the value of assets under 
management aligns it with the experience of its clients. 
Assets under management are broadly diversified by asset class, 
geographic region, industry sector, investment team and style. 
The Company regularly reviews the sensitivity of its assets under 
management, revenues, earnings and cash flow to changes in 
financial markets. The Company believes that over the long 
term, exposure to investment returns on its client portfolios is 
beneficial to the Company’s results and consistent with stakeholder 
expectations, and generally it does not engage in risk transfer 
activities such as hedging in relation to these exposures.

2) OPERATIONAL RISK 

OPERATIONAL RISK 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate 
or failed internal processes or systems, human interaction or 
external events, but excludes business risk. 

Operational risk affects all business activities, including the 
processes in place to manage other risks. As a result, operational 
risk can be difficult to measure, given that it forms part of other 
risks of the Company and may not always be separately identified. 
Our Company is exposed to a broad range of operational risks, 
including information technology security and system failures, 

errors relating to transaction processing, financial models and 
valuations, fraud and misappropriation of assets, and inadequate 
application of internal control processes. The impact can result 
in significant financial loss, reputational harm or regulatory actions.

The Company’s risk management framework emphasizes 
operational risk management and internal control. The Company 
has a very low appetite for risk in this area.

The business unit leaders are responsible for management of the 
day to day operational risks of their respective business units. 
Specific programs, policies, training, standards and governance 
processes have been developed to support the management of 
operational risk.

Operational risks relating to people and processes are mitigated 
through policies and process controls. Oversight of risks and 
ongoing evaluation of the effectiveness of controls is provided by 
the Company’s compliance departments, ERM Department and 
Internal Audit Department.

Operational risks driven by systems are managed through controls 
over technology development and change management. 
Information security is a significant risk to our industry and 
our Company’s operations. The Company uses systems and 
technology to support its business operations and the client 
and financial advisor experience. As a result, we are exposed to 
risks relating to cyber security and the increasing sophistication 
of cyber attacks in the marketplace. Such an attack could 
compromise confidential information of the Company and that 
of clients or other stakeholders, and could result in negative 
consequences including lost revenue, litigation, regulatory 
scrutiny or reputational damage. The Company continues to 
monitor and enhance its defences and procedures to prevent, 
detect, respond to and manage cyber security threats.

TABLE 24: IGM FINANCIAL ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT – ASSET AND CURRENCY MIX

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016     MUTUAL FUNDS TOTAL

Cash  0.9 % 1.2 %
Short-term fixed income and mortgages 7.3  7.3
Other fixed income 22.6  22.6
Domestic equity 29.9  29.9
Foreign equity 36.1  35.9
Real Property 3.2  3.1

   100.0 % 100.0 %

CAD  63.2 % 63.4 %
USD  25.0  24.9
Other 11.8  11.7

   100.0 % 100.0 %
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The Company has a business continuity management program 
to support the sustainment, management and recovery of critical 
operations and processes in the event of a business disruption.

The Company has an insurance review process where it assesses and 
determines the nature and extent of insurance that is appropriate 
to provide adequate protection against unexpected losses, and where 
it is required by law, regulators or contractual agreements.

MODEL RISK

The Company uses a variety of models to assist in: the valuation of 
financial instruments, operational scenario testing, management 
of cash flows, capital management, and assessment of potential 
acquisitions. These models incorporate internal assumptions, 
observable market inputs and available market prices. Effective 
controls exist over the development, implementation and 
application of these models. However, changes in the internal 
assumptions or other factors affecting the models could have an 
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

Legal and Regulatory Compliance Risk is the risk of not 
complying with laws, contractual agreements or regulatory 
requirements. This includes distribution compliance, investment 
management compliance, accounting and internal controls, and 
reporting and communications.

IGM Financial is subject to complex and changing legal, taxation 
and regulatory requirements, including the requirements 
of agencies of the federal, provincial and territorial governments 
in Canada which regulate the Company and its activities. 
The Company and its subsidiaries are also subject to the 
requirements of self-regulatory organizations to which they 
belong. These and other regulatory bodies regularly adopt new 
laws, rules, regulations and policies that apply to the Company 
and its subsidiaries. These requirements include those that apply 
to IGM Financial as a publicly traded company and those that 
apply to the Company’s subsidiaries based on the nature of their 
activities. They include regulations related to securities markets, 
the provision of financial products and services, including fund 
management, distribution, insurance and mortgages, and other 
activities carried on by the Company in the markets in which 
it operates. Regulatory standards affecting the Company and 
the financial services industry are significant and are being 
continually changed. The Company and its subsidiaries are 
subject to reviews as part of the normal ongoing process 
of oversight by the various regulators.

Failure to comply with laws, rules or regulations could lead to 
regulatory sanctions and civil liability, and may have an adverse 
reputational or financial effect on the Company. The Company 
manages legal and regulatory compliance risk through its efforts 
to promote a strong culture of compliance. The monitoring of 

regulatory developments and their impact on the Company 
is overseen by the Regulatory Initiatives Committee chaired 
by the Vice-President, Regulatory Affairs. It also continues 
to develop and maintain compliance policies, processes and 
oversight, including specific communications on compliance 
and legal matters, training, testing, monitoring and reporting. 
The Audit Committee of the Company receives regular reporting 
on compliance initiatives and issues.

IGM Financial promotes a strong culture of ethics and integrity 
through its Code of Conduct approved by the Board of Directors, 
which outlines standards of conduct that apply to all IGM 
Financial directors, officers and employees. The Code of Conduct 
incorporates many policies relating to the conduct of directors, 
officers and employees, and covers a variety of relevant topics, 
such as anti-money laundering and privacy. Individuals subject 
to the Code of Conduct attest annually that they understand the 
requirements and have complied with its provisions. 

Business units are responsible for management of legal and 
regulatory compliance risk, and implementing appropriate 
policies, procedures and controls. The Company has a number 
of different compliance departments responsible for providing 
oversight of investment management and distribution-related 
compliance activities. The Internal Audit Department also 
provides oversight and investigations concerning regulatory 
compliance matters. 

CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject to legal actions arising in the normal 
course of its business. Although it is difficult to predict the 
outcome of any such legal actions, based on current knowledge 
and consultation with legal counsel, management does not 
expect the outcome of any of these matters, individually or in 
aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
consolidated financial position.

3) GOVERNANCE, OVERSIGHT AND STRATEGIC RISK 

Governance, oversight and strategic risk is the risk of potential 
adverse impacts resulting from inadequate or inappropriate 
governance, oversight, management of incentives and conflicts, 
and strategic planning. 

IGM Financial believes in the importance of good corporate 
governance and the central role played by directors in the 
governance process. We believe that sound corporate governance 
is essential to the well being of the Company and its shareholders. 

Oversight of IGM Financial is performed by the Board of Directors 
directly and through its seven committees. The Company 
previously had two Co-Presidents and Chief Executive Officers 
responsible for the management of the Company. Effective 
May 6, 2016, a sole President and Chief Executive Officer of 
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IGM Financial was named. The Company’s activities are carried 
out principally by three operating companies - Investors Group 
Inc., Mackenzie Financial Corporation and Investment Planning 
Counsel Inc. - each of which are managed by a President and 
Chief Executive Officer.

The Company has a business planning process that supports 
development of an annual business plan, approved by the Board 
of Directors, which incorporates objectives and targets for the 
Company. Components of management compensation are 
associated with the achievement of earnings targets and other 
objectives associated with the plan. Strategic plans and direction 
are part of this planning process and are integrated into the 
Company’s risk management program. 

ACQUISITION RISK

The Company is also exposed to risks related to its acquisitions. 
The Company undertakes thorough due diligence prior to 
completing an acquisition, but there is no assurance that the 
Company will achieve the expected strategic objectives or cost 
and revenue synergies subsequent to an acquisition. Subsequent 
changes in the economic environment and other unanticipated 
factors may affect the Company’s ability to achieve expected 
earnings growth or expense reductions. The success of an 
acquisition is dependent on retaining assets under management, 
clients, and key employees of an acquired company.

4) REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS 

Regulatory development risk is the potential for changes to 
regulatory, legal, or tax requirements that may have an adverse 
impact upon the Company’s business activities or financial results.

The Company is exposed to the risk of changes in laws, taxation 
and regulation that could have an adverse impact on the 
Company. Particular regulatory initiatives may have the effect 
of making the products of the Company’s subsidiaries appear to 
be less competitive than the products of other financial service 
providers, to third party distribution channels and to clients. 
Regulatory differences that may impact the competitiveness 
of the Company’s products include regulatory costs, tax 
treatment, disclosure requirements, transaction processes or 
other differences that may be as a result of differing regulation 
or application of regulation. Regulatory developments may 
also impact product structures, pricing, and dealer and advisor 
compensation. While the Company and its subsidiaries actively 
monitor such initiatives, and where feasible comment upon or 
discuss them with regulators, the ability of the Company and its 
subsidiaries to mitigate the imposition of differential regulatory 
treatment of financial products or services is limited.

CLIENT RELATIONSHIP MODEL AND POINT OF SALE

Effective May 30, 2016, the Fund Facts disclosure document for 
mutual funds is now required to be delivered by dealers to clients 
before accepting an instruction for the purchase of a mutual fund. 
This concludes the CSA’s staged approach to implementation 
of the point of sale (POS) project for mutual funds. 

Effective for annual periods commencing no later than July 
15, 2016, Phase 2 of the Client Relationship Model (CRM2) 
adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) in 
March, 2013, requires dealers, among other things, to provide 
their clients with enhanced information on the performance 
of their investments and the costs associated with them, 
including the compensation paid to the dealer (the Investment 
Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada and the Mutual 
Fund Dealers Association of Canada have adopted rules that 
are to the same effect). These new requirements will provide 
important information to our clients and will build on already 
required existing disclosure related to distribution and fund 
management costs. 

BEST INTEREST STANDARD, TARGETED REFORMS AND 
MUTUAL FUND FEES

On April 28, 2016, the CSA published Consultation Paper 
33-404 Proposals to Enhance the Obligations of Advisers, 
Dealers and Representatives Toward Their Clients (the BIS 
Consultation Paper), with the comment period closing on 
September 30, 2016. The Consultation Paper proposes a set 
of targeted reforms which all CSA jurisdictions are consulting 
on relating to the client-registrant relationship, including the 
regulation of conflicts of interest, the know-your-client and 
know-your-product requirements, the suitability obligation, 
the use by registrants of business titles and proficiency. All of 
the CSA jurisdictions except the British Columbia Securities 
Commission are also consulting on a regulatory best interest 
standard, accompanied by guidance, that would form both 
an over-arching standard and the governing principle against 
which all other client-related obligations would be interpreted. 
The Company’s subsidiaries submitted comment letters on the 
BIS Consultation Paper. In November and December, 2016 
the Company participated in a series of roundtables hosted 
by certain jurisdictions to further explore the proposals in the 
BIS Consultation Paper. The Company will continue its active 
dialogue and engagement with regulators on this subject.

On January 10, 2017, the CSA published CSA Staff Notice 
81-408 Consultation on the Option of Discontinuing Embedded 
Commissions (the Fees Consultation Paper) which seeks input 
on the option of discontinuing embedded commissions and 
the potential impacts of such a change on Canadian investors 
and market participants. The Fees Consultation Paper was 
originally expected to be issued in the fall of 2016 and follows 
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the publication of the CSA’s initial consultation paper on mutual 
fund fee structures in December 2012. The comment period 
expires on June 9, 2017.

The Company will continue its active dialogue and engagement 
with regulators on both of these subjects.

COOPERATIVE CAPITAL MARKETS REGULATORY SYSTEM

In 2013, the Government of Canada, as part of its Economic 
Action Plan, indicated an intention to establish a common 
securities regulator for Canada’s capital markets working 
cooperatively with the provinces and territories. In September 
2014, the Government of Canada and participating provincial 
jurisdictions published two proposed pieces of legislation to 
implement the cooperative capital markets regulatory system, 
namely the Provincial Capital Markets Act (CMA) and the Capital 
Markets Stability Act (CMSA). 

On August 25, 2015, a revised consultation draft of the CMA 
along with accompanying commentary was published, along 
with certain proposed initial draft regulations (Regulations). 
The CMA and Regulations would together constitute the 
single set of provincial/territorial laws replacing provincial and 
territorial securities legislation under the proposed cooperative 
capital markets regulatory system in the six jurisdictions 
(Ontario, British Columbia, Saskatchewan, New Brunswick, 
Prince Edward Island and Yukon) which have currently agreed 
to participate. On May 5, 2016, a revised consultation draft 
of the CMSA was published for comment. This proposed capital 
markets legislation addresses national data collection, systemic 
risk related to capital markets and criminal enforcement. 

Of note, opposition from Quebec, Alberta and Manitoba remains 
strong and the Quebec government has now challenged the 
validity of the cooperative capital markets regulatory system 
directing a reference to the Quebec Court of Appeal. The 
remaining provinces and territories have also not chosen to join 
the cooperative system to date. Also noteworthy, on July 22, 
2016, the Government of Canada and participating provincial 
jurisdictions announced the Capital Markets Regulatory 
Authority’s initial board of directors and set new times for 
implementation of the CMA and CMSA, from the previously 
publicized date of June 30, 2016, to now June 30, 2018, at 

which time the Capital Markets Regulatory Authority (CMRA) 
will become operational. The Company is continuing to monitor 
this initiative and any impact it may have on its activities and 
those of its subsidiaries, particularly in the area of the regulation 
of mutual funds.

5) BUSINESS RISK

GENERAL BUSINESS CONDITIONS 

General Business Conditions Risk refers to the potential for an 
unfavourable impact on IGM Financial resulting from competitive 
or other external factors relating to the marketplace.

Global economic conditions, changes in equity markets, 
demographics and other factors including political and 
government instability, can affect investor confidence, income 
levels and savings decisions. This could result in reduced sales of 
IGM Financial’s products and services and/or result in investors 
redeeming their investments. These factors may also affect the 
level of financial markets and the value of the Company’s assets 
under management, as described more fully under the Risks 
Related to Assets Under Management section of this MD&A.

The Company, across its operating subsidiaries, is focused on 
communicating with clients and emphasizing the importance of 
financial planning across economic cycles. The Company and the 
industry continue to take steps to educate Canadian investors 
on the merits of financial planning, diversification and long-term 
investing. In periods of volatility Consultants and independent 
financial advisors play a key role in assisting investors in 
maintaining perspective and focus on their long-term objectives.

Redemption rates for long-term funds are summarized in Table 
25 and are discussed in the Investors Group and Mackenzie 
Segment Operating Results sections of this MD&A.

PRODUCT / SERVICE OFFERING

There is potential for unfavourable impacts on IGM Financial 
resulting from inadequate product or service performance, 
quality or breadth. 

IGM Financial and its subsidiaries operate in a highly competitive 
environment, competing with other financial service providers, 
investment managers and product and service types. Client 
development and retention can be influenced by a number of 

TABLE 25: TWELVE MONTH TRAILING REDEMPTION RATE FOR LONG-TERM FUNDS

     2016 2015 
     DEC. 31 DEC. 31

IGM Financial Inc.
 Investors Group 8.8 % 8.7 %
 Mackenzie 15.0 % 16.2 %
 Counsel 15.7 % 13.6 %
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factors, including products and services offered by competitors, 
relative service levels, relative pricing, product attributes, 
reputation and actions taken by competitors. This competition 
could have an adverse impact upon the Company’s financial 
position and operating results. Please refer to The Competitive 
Landscape section of this MD&A for a further discussion.

The Company provides Consultants, independent financial 
advisors, as well as retail and institutional clients with a high 
level of service and support and a broad range of investment 
products, with a focus on building enduring relationships. 
The Company’s subsidiaries also continually review their 
respective product and service offering, and pricing, to ensure 
competitiveness in the marketplace.

The Company strives to deliver strong investment performance 
on its products relative to benchmarks and peers. Poor 
investment performance relative to benchmarks or peers 
could reduce the level of assets under management and sales 
and asset retention, as well as adversely impact our brands. 
Meaningful and/or sustained underperformance could affect 
the Company’s results. The Company’s objective is to cultivate 
investment processes and disciplines that provide it with a 
competitive advantage, and does so by diversifying its assets 
under management and product shelf by investment team, 
brand, asset class, mandate, style and geographic region.

BUSINESS / CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS 

Business/Client relationships risk refers to the risk potential for 
unfavourable impacts on IGM Financial resulting from changes 
to other key relationships. These relationships primarily include 
Investors Group clients and consultants, Mackenzie retail 
distribution, strategic and significant business partners, clients 
of Mackenzie funds, and sub-advisors and other product suppliers.

Investors Group Consultant network – Investors Group derives all of 
its mutual fund sales through its Consultant network. Investors 
Group Consultants have regular direct contact with clients 
which can lead to a strong and personal client relationship 
based on the client’s confidence in that individual Consultant. 
The market for financial advisors is extremely competitive. The 
loss of a significant number of key Consultants could lead to the 
loss of client accounts which could have an adverse effect on 
Investors Group’s results of operations and business prospects. 
Investors Group is focused on strengthening its distribution 
network of Consultants and on responding to the complex 
financial needs of its clients by delivering a diverse range of 
products and services in the context of personalized financial 
advice, as discussed in the Investors Group Review of the 
Business section of this MD&A. 

Mackenzie – Mackenzie derives the majority of its mutual fund 
sales through third party financial advisors. Financial advisors 

generally offer their clients investment products in addition 
to, and in competition with Mackenzie. Mackenzie also derives 
sales of its investment products and services from its strategic 
alliance and institutional clients. Due to the nature of the 
distribution relationship in these relationships and the relative 
size of these accounts, gross sale and redemption activity can be 
more pronounced in these accounts than in a retail relationship. 
Mackenzie’s ability to market its investment products is highly 
dependent on continued access to these distribution networks. 
The inability to have such access could have a material adverse 
effect on Mackenzie’s operating results and business prospects. 
Mackenzie is well positioned to manage this risk and to 
continue to build and enhance its distribution relationships. 
Mackenzie’s diverse portfolio of financial products and its long-
term investment performance record, marketing, educational 
and service support has made Mackenzie one of Canada’s 
leading investment management companies. These factors 
are discussed further in the Mackenzie Review of the Business 
section of this MD&A. 

PEOPLE RISK 

People risk refers to the potential inability to attract or retain 
key employees or Consultants, develop to an appropriate level 
of proficiency, or manage personnel succession or transition.

Management, investment and distribution personnel play an 
important role in developing, implementing, managing and 
distributing products and services offered by IGM Financial. 
The loss of these individuals or an inability to attract, retain and 
motivate sufficient numbers of qualified personnel could affect 
IGM Financial’s business and financial performance.

6) ENVIRONMENTAL RISK 

Environmental risk is the risk of loss resulting from environmental 
issues involving our business activities and our operations.

Environmental risk covers a broad spectrum of issues, such as 
climate change, biodiversity and ecosystem health, pollution, 
waste and the unsustainable use of water and other resources. 
Key environmental risks to IGM Financial include:

• Direct risks associated with the ownership and operation 
of our businesses, which includes management and operation 
of company-owned or managed assets and business operations; 

• Indirect risks as a result of the products and services we offer 
and our procurement practices; 

• Identification and management of emerging environmental 
regulatory issues; and 

• Failure to understand and appropriately leverage environment 
related trends to meet client demands for products and services. 

IGM Financial has a long-standing commitment to responsible 
management, as articulated in the Company’s Corporate 
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Responsibility Statement as approved by the Board of Directors 
and also within the Company’s Environmental Policy which 
commit us to responsibly manage our environmental footprint. 

Failure to adequately manage environmental risks could 
adversely impact our results or our reputation.

IGM Financial manages environmental risks across the Company, 
with business unit management having responsibility for 
identifying, assessing, controlling and monitoring environmental 
risks pertaining to their operations. IGM Financial’s Executive 
Management Corporate Responsibility Committee oversees its 
commitment to environmental responsibility and risk management.

Investors Group and Mackenzie are signatories to the Principles 
for Responsible Investment (PRI). Under the PRI, investors formally 
commit to incorporate environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) issues into their investment processes. In addition, 
Investors Group, Mackenzie and Investment Planning Counsel 
have implemented investing policies which provide information 
on how these ESG issues are implemented at each company.

IGM Financial reports on its environmental management 
and performance in its Corporate Responsibility Report. In 
addition, the Company participates in the Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP) survey, which promotes corporate disclosures on 
greenhouse gas emissions and climate change management.
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THE FINANCIAL SERVICES ENVIRONMENT
Canadians held $3.8 trillion in discretionary financial assets with 
financial institutions at December 31, 2015 based on the most 
recent report from Investor Economics. The nature of holdings 
was diverse, ranging from demand deposits held for short-term 
cash management purposes to longer-term investments held for 
retirement purposes. Approximately 66% ( $2.5 trillion) of these 
financial assets are held within the context of a relationship with 
a financial advisor, and this is the primary channel serving the 
longer-term savings needs of Canadians. Of the $1.3 trillion held 
outside of a financial advisory relationship, approximately 62% 
consisted of bank deposits. 

Financial advisors represent the primary distribution channel 
for the Company’s products and services, and the core emphasis 
of the Company’s business model is to support these financial 
advisors as they work with clients to plan for and achieve 
their financial goals. Multiple sources of emerging research 
show significantly better financial outcomes for Canadians 
who use financial advisors compared to those who do not. 
The Company actively promotes the value of financial advice 
and the importance of a relationship with an advisor to develop 
and remain focused on long-term financial plans and goals. 

Approximately 42% of Canadian discretionary financial assets or 
$1.6 trillion resided in investment funds at December 31, 2015, 
making it the largest financial asset class held by Canadians. 
Other asset types include deposit products and direct securities 
such as stocks and bonds. Approximately 77% of investment 
funds are comprised of mutual fund products, with other 
product categories including segregated funds, hedge funds, 
pooled funds, closed end funds and exchange traded funds. 
With $137 billion in mutual fund assets under management, 
the Company is among the country’s largest investment fund 
managers. Management believes that investment funds are likely 
to remain the preferred savings vehicle of Canadians. Investment 
funds provide investors with the benefits of diversification, 
professional management, flexibility and convenience, and are 
available in a broad range of mandates and structures to meet 
most investor requirements and preferences.

Competition and technology have fostered a trend towards 
financial service providers offering a comprehensive range 
of proprietary products and services. Traditional distinctions 
between bank branches, full service brokerages, financial 
planning firms and insurance agent sales forces have become 
obscured as many of these financial service providers strive 
to offer comprehensive financial advice implemented through 
access to a broad product shelf. Accordingly, the Canadian 
financial services industry is characterized by a number of large, 
diversified, vertically-integrated participants, similar to IGM 
Financial, who offer both financial planning and investment 
management services.

OUTLOOK 

Canadian banks distribute financial products and services 
through their traditional bank branches, as well as through their 
full service and discount brokerage subsidiaries. Bank branches 
continue to place increased emphasis on both financial planning 
and mutual funds. In addition, each of the “big six” banks has 
one or more mutual fund management subsidiaries. Collectively, 
mutual fund assets of the “big six” bank-owned mutual fund 
managers and affiliated firms represented 43.0% of total 
industry long-term mutual fund assets at December 31, 2016.

As a result of consolidation activity in the last several years, the 
Canadian mutual fund management industry is characterized by 
large, often vertically-integrated, firms. The industry continues 
to be very concentrated, with the ten largest firms and their 
subsidiaries representing 69.4% of industry long-term mutual 
fund assets and 70.7% of total mutual fund assets under 
management at December 31, 2016. Management anticipates 
continuing consolidation in this segment of the industry as 
smaller participants are acquired by larger organizations.

Management believes that the financial services industry will 
continue to be influenced by the following trends:

• Shifting demographics as the number of Canadians in their 
prime savings and retirement years continue to increase. 

• Changes in investor attitudes based on economic conditions.

• Continued importance of the role of the financial advisor.

• Public policy related to retirement savings.

• Changes in the regulatory environment.

• An evolving competitive landscape.

• Advancing and changing technology.

THE COMPETITIVE LANDSCAPE
IGM Financial and its subsidiaries operate in a highly competitive 
environment. Investors Group and Investment Planning Counsel 
compete directly with other retail financial service providers, 
including other financial planning firms, as well as full service 
brokerages, banks and insurance companies. Investors Group, 
Mackenzie and Investment Planning Counsel compete directly 
with other investment managers for assets under management, 
and their products compete with stocks, bonds and other asset 
classes for a share of the investment assets of Canadians. 

Competition from other financial service providers, alternative 
product types or delivery channels, and changes in regulations 
or public preferences could impact the characteristics of product 
and service offerings of the Company, including pricing, product 
structures, dealer and advisor compensation and disclosure. 
The Company monitors developments on an ongoing basis, and 
engages in policy discussions and develops product and service 
responses as appropriate. 
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IGM Financial continues to focus on its commitment to provide 
quality investment advice and financial products, service 
innovations, effective management of the Company and long-
term value for its clients and shareholders. Management believes 
that the Company is well-positioned to meet competitive 
challenges and capitalize on future opportunities. 

The Company enjoys several competitive strengths, including: 

• Broad and diversified distribution with an emphasis on those 
channels emphasizing comprehensive financial planning 
through a relationship with a financial advisor.

• Broad product capabilities, leading brands and quality sub-
advisory relationships.

• Enduring client relationships and the long-standing heritages 
and cultures of its subsidiaries.

• Benefits of being part of the Power Financial group of companies. 

BROAD AND DIVERSIFIED DISTRIBUTION

IGM Financial’s distribution strength is a competitive advantage. 
In addition to owning two of Canada’s largest financial planning 
organizations, Investors Group and Investment Planning Counsel, 
IGM Financial has, through Mackenzie, access to distribution 
through over 30,000 independent financial advisors. Mackenzie 

also, in its growing strategic alliance business, partners with 
Canadian and U.S. manufacturing and distribution complexes 
to provide investment management to a number of retail 
investment fund mandates.

BROAD PRODUCT CAPABILITIES

IGM Financial’s subsidiaries continue to develop and launch 
innovative products and strategic investment planning tools 
to assist advisors in building optimized portfolios for clients. 

ENDURING RELATIONSHIPS

IGM Financial enjoys significant advantages as a result of 
the enduring relationships that advisors enjoy with clients. 
In addition, the Company’s subsidiaries have strong heritages 
and cultures which are challenging for competitors to replicate.

BENEFITS OF BEING PART OF THE  
POWER FINANCIAL GROUP OF COMPANIES

As part of the Power Financial group of companies, IGM 
Financial benefits through expense savings from shared service 
arrangements, as well as through access to distribution, 
products and capital.
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SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires management to exercise judgment in the process of 
applying accounting policies and requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. 
In applying these policies, management makes subjective and 
complex judgments that frequently require estimates about 
matters that are inherently uncertain. Many of these policies are 
common in the financial services industry; others are specific 
to IGM Financial’s businesses and operations. IGM Financial’s 
significant accounting policies are described in detail in Note 2 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical accounting estimates relate to the fair value of financial 
instruments, goodwill and intangibles, income taxes, deferred 
selling commissions, provisions and employee benefits.

The major critical accounting estimates are summarized below: 

• Fair value of financial instruments – The Company’s financial 
instruments are carried at fair value, except for loans, deposits 
and certificates, obligations to securitization entities, and 
long-term debt which are all carried at amortized cost. 
The fair value of publicly traded financial instruments is 
determined using published market prices. The fair value 
of financial instruments where published market prices are 
not available, including derivatives related to the Company’s 
securitized loans, are determined using various valuation 
models which maximize the use of observable market inputs 
where available. Valuation methodologies and assumptions 
used in valuation models are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Changes in these assumptions or valuation methodologies 
could result in significant changes in net earnings.

  Investments in proprietary mutual funds and corporate 
investments classified as available for sale result in unrealized 
gains and losses on securities which are recorded in Other 
comprehensive income until realized or until there is objective 
evidence of impairment, at which time they are reclassified 
to the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Management 
regularly reviews securities classified as available for sale to 
assess whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 
The Company considers such factors as the nature of the 
investment and the length of time and the extent to which 
the fair value has been below cost. A significant change in this 
assessment may result in unrealized losses being recognized 
in net earnings. During 2016, the Company assessed the 
measurement of the available for sale securities and determined 
there was no impairment in the value of these securities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

• Goodwill and intangible assets – Goodwill, indefinite life 
intangible assets, and definite life intangible assets are 
reflected in Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
The Company tests the fair value of goodwill and indefinite 
life intangible assets for impairment at least once a year and 
more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates the 
asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized 
if the amount of the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows (cash generating units). Finite life intangible 
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not 
be recoverable.

  These tests involve the use of estimates and assumptions 
appropriate in the circumstances. In assessing the recoverable 
amounts, valuation approaches are used that include 
discounted cash flow analysis and application of capitalization 
multiples to financial and operating metrics based upon 
precedent acquisition transactions and trading comparables. 
Assumptions and estimates employed include future changes 
in assets under management resulting from net sales and 
investment returns, pricing and profit margin changes, 
discount rates, and capitalization multiples.

  The Company completed its annual impairment tests 
of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets based on 
March 31, 2016 financial information and determined there 
was no impairment in the value of those assets. 

• Income taxes – The provision for income taxes is determined 
on the basis of the anticipated tax treatment of transactions 
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 
The determination of the provision for income taxes requires 
interpretation of tax legislation in a number of jurisdictions. 
Tax planning may allow the Company to record lower 
income taxes in the current year and income taxes recorded 
in prior years may be adjusted in the current year to reflect 
management’s best estimates of the overall adequacy 
of its provisions. Any related tax benefits or changes in 
management’s best estimates are reflected in the provision 
for income taxes. The recognition of deferred tax assets 
depends on management’s assumption that future earnings 
will be sufficient to realize the future benefit. The amount 
of the deferred tax asset or liability recorded is based on 
management’s best estimate of the timing of the realization 
of the assets or liabilities. If our interpretation of tax legislation 
differs from that of the tax authorities or if timing of reversals 
is not as anticipated, the provision for income taxes could 
increase or decrease in future periods. Additional information 



70 IGM FINANCIAL INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

related to income taxes is included in the Summary of 
Consolidated Operating Results in this MD&A and in Note 14 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

• Deferred selling commissions – Commissions paid on the sale of 
certain mutual fund products are deferred and amortized over 
a maximum period of seven years. The Company regularly 
reviews the carrying value of deferred selling commissions 
with respect to any events or circumstances that indicate 
impairment. Among the tests performed by the Company to 
assess recoverability is the comparison of the future economic 
benefits derived from the deferred selling commission asset in 
relation to its carrying value. At December 31, 2016, there were 
no indications of impairment to deferred selling commissions.

• Provisions – A provision is recognized when there is a present 
obligation as a result of a past transaction or event, it is 
“probable” that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the obligation. In determining the best estimate for a 
provision, a single estimate, a weighted average of all possible 
outcomes, or the midpoint where there is a range of equally 
possible outcomes are all considered. A significant change in 
assessment of the likelihood or the best estimate may result 
in additional adjustments to net earnings.

• Employee benefits – The Company maintains a number 
of employee benefit plans. These plans include a funded 
registered defined benefit pension plan for all eligible employees, 
unfunded supplementary executive retirement plans for 
certain executive officers (SERPs) and an unfunded post-
employment health care and life insurance plan for eligible 
retirees. The funded registered defined benefit pension plan 
provides pensions based on length of service and final average 
earnings. The measurement date for the Company’s defined 
benefit pension plan assets and for the accrued benefit 
obligations on all defined benefit plans is December 31.

  Due to the long-term nature of these plans, the calculation 
of the accrued benefit liability depends on various assumptions 
including discount rates, rates of return on assets, the level 
and types of benefits provided, healthcare cost trend rates, 
projected salary increases, retirement age, and mortality and 
termination rates. The discount rate assumption is determined 
using a yield curve of AA corporate debt securities. All other 
assumptions are determined by management and reviewed 
by independent actuaries who calculate the pension and 
other future benefits expenses and accrued benefit obligations. 
Actual experience that differs from the actuarial assumptions 
will result in actuarial gains or losses as well as changes 
in benefits expense. The Company records actuarial gains 
and losses on all of its defined benefit plans in Other 
comprehensive income.

  During 2016, the performance of the defined benefit pension 
plan assets was positively impacted by market conditions. 
Corporate bond yields decreased in 2016 thereby impacting 
the discount rate used to measure the Company’s accrued 
benefit liability. The discount rate utilized to value the defined 
benefit pension plan accrued benefit liability at December 31, 
2016 was 4.05% compared to 4.25% at December 31, 
2015. Pension plan assets increased to $372.1 million at 
December 31, 2016 from $336.3 million at December 31, 
2015. The increase in plan assets was due to market 
performance of $31.0 million comprised of interest income 
of $14.4 million calculated based on the discount rate, which 
was recorded as a reduction to the pension expense, and 
actuarial gains of $16.6 million, which were recorded in 
Other comprehensive income. The assets in the Company’s 
registered defined benefit pension plan also increased due to 
the Company contributing $19.7 million (2015 - $19.6 million) 
to the pension plan. The decrease in the discount rate utilized 
to value the defined benefit pension plan obligation resulted 
in actuarial losses of $17.5 million which were recorded in 
Other comprehensive income. Demographic assumptions 
and experience adjustments were revised which resulted in 
net actuarial gains of $0.2 million. The total defined benefit 
pension plan obligation was $481.2 million at December 31, 
2016 compared to $439.2 million at December 31, 2015. As a 
result of these changes, the defined benefit pension plan had 
an accrued benefit liability of $109.1 million at December 31, 
2016 compared to $102.9 million at the end of 2015. The 
unfunded SERPs and other post-retirement benefits plans had 
an accrued benefit liability of $62.5 million and $44.8 million, 
respectively, at December 31, 2016 compared to $56.5 million 
and $48.8 million in 2015.  

  A decrease of 0.25% in the discount rate utilized in 2017 
would result in a change of $21.2 million in the accrued 
pension obligation, $19.5 million in other comprehensive 
income, and $1.7 million in pension expense. Additional 
information regarding the Company’s accounting and 
sensitivities related to pensions and other post-retirement 
benefits is included in Notes 2 and 13 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DEFERRED TAXES ON INDEFINITE 
LIFE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In November 2016, the IFRS Interpretation Committee (the 
Committee) met to discuss whether to add a request, IAS 12 
Income Taxes - Expected manner of recovery of intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives, to its agenda. The Committee was asked 
to clarify how a company determines the expected manner of 
recovery of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life for 
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deferred tax measurement purposes. The Committee decided 
not to add the item to its agenda as it indicated that current 
guidance was sufficient to allow a company to determine how 
to measure deferred taxes on these intangible assets. In its 
commentary, the Committee indicated that guidance related 
to how to determine tax rates for non-depreciable assets 
should not be applied to determining tax rates for indefinite 
life intangible assets. The Committee indicated the fact that 
a company does not amortize an indefinite life intangible 
asset does not necessarily mean that the carrying value will 
be recovered only through sale and not use. As a result, the 
Company has retroactively applied a change in accounting 
policy to reflect the Committee’s discussion on this matter. 
On conversion to IFRS, the Company utilized the exemption 
for business combinations that provides for very limited 
ability to restate prior business combinations. Accordingly, the 
Company has reduced retained earnings for changes to business 
combinations that occurred prior to the conversion to IFRS 
and increased goodwill for changes to business combinations 
that occurred subsequent to the conversion to IFRS. The 
impact of these changes at January 1, 2015 were increases 
to Goodwill of $0.4 million and deferred income taxes liability 
of $122.1 million, and a reduction to retained earnings of 
$121.7 million. 

FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES
The Company continuously monitors the potential changes 
proposed by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) and analyzes the effect that changes in the standards 
may have on the Company’s operations.

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The IASB issued IFRS 9 which replaces IAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the current standard 
for accounting for financial instruments. The standard was 
completed in three separate phases:

• Classification and measurement: This phase requires that 
financial assets be classified at either amortized cost or 
fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.

• Impairment methodology: This phase replaces the current 
incurred loss model for impairment of financial assets with 
an expected loss model.

• Hedge accounting: This phase replaces the current rule-based 
hedge accounting requirements in IAS 39 with guidance 
that more closely aligns the accounting with an entity’s risk 
management activities.

The transition to IFRS 9 is managed by a committee comprised 
of senior levels of management. Periodic reporting on the 
progress against plan is provided to the committee and other 
affected stakeholders within the Company. To date, the 
Company’s efforts have been focused on updating accounting 
policies to address key aspects of the Standard including 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, 
reviewing the impact to its impairment models and assessing 
the use of hedge accounting under IFRS 9.

The combined application of the contractual cash flow 
characteristics and business model tests as at January 1, 2018 
may result in some assets currently classified as held for trading 
under IAS 39 being reclassified to fair value through other 
comprehensive income or amortized cost under IFRS 9. At this 
stage, it is not possible to reliably quantify the potential financial 
effect to the Company from the adoption of IFRS 9. 

The Company will update accounting policy manuals, internal 
control documents and implement changes to business 
and financial reporting processes and systems to support 
the implementation of the Standard by its effective date of 
January 1, 2018.

IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The IASB issued IFRS 15 which outlines a single comprehensive 
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. The model requires an entity to 
recognize revenue as the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer in an amount that reflects the expected consideration. 
This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018 and the impact of the standard is 
currently being assessed. 

IFRS 16 LEASES

The IASB issued IFRS 16 which requires a lessee to recognize a 
right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a corresponding lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments for all leases. A lessee 
recognizes the related expense as depreciation on the right-of-
use asset and interest on the lease liability. Short-term (less than 
12 months) and low-value asset leases are exempt from these 
requirements. The standard is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The impact of this 
standard is currently being assessed.

OTHER 

The IASB is currently undertaking a number of projects which 
will result in changes to existing IFRS standards that may affect 
the Company. Updates will be provided as the projects develop.
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed 
to provide reasonable assurance that (a) material information 
relating to the Company is made known to the President and 
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer by others, 
particularly during the period in which the annual filings are 
being prepared, and (b) information required to be disclosed by 
the Company in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports 
filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in securities legislation. 

The Company's management, under the supervision of the 
President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluations 
as of December 31, 2016, the President and Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the 
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. The 
Company’s management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.

All internal control systems have inherent limitations and may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions. Therefore, 
even those systems determined to be effective can provide 
only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and presentation.

The Company’s management, under the supervision of the 
President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting based on the Internal 

Control - Integrated Framework (COSO 2013 Framework) 
published by The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission. The Company transitioned to the COSO 
2013 Framework during 2014. Based on their evaluations 
as of December 31, 2016, the President and Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective 
in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. 

During the fourth quarter of 2016, there have been no changes 
in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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OTHER INFORMATION

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
IGM Financial enters into transactions with Great-West Life 
Assurance Company (Great-West), London Life Insurance 
Company (London Life) and The Canada Life Assurance 
Company (Canada Life), which are all subsidiaries of its affiliate, 
Lifeco. These transactions are in the normal course of operations 
and have been recorded at fair value as described below:

• During 2016 and 2015, the Company provided to and 
received from Great-West certain administrative services 
enabling each organization to take advantage of economies 
of scale and areas of expertise. 

• The Company distributes insurance products under a 
distribution agreement with Great-West and Canada Life 
and received $101.8 million in distribution fees (2015 - 
$70.9 million). The Company received $16.9 million (2015 
- $17.5 million) and paid $21.7 million (2015 - $21.2 million) 
to Great-West and related subsidiary companies for the 
provision of sub-advisory services for certain investment 
funds. The Company paid $70.5 million (2015 – $72.0 million) 
to London Life related to the distribution of certain mutual 
funds of the Company.

• In order to manage its overall liquidity position, the 
Company’s mortgage banking operation is active in the 
securitization market and also sells residential mortgage 
loans to third parties, on a fully serviced basis. During 2016, 
the Company sold residential mortgage loans to Great-West 
and London Life for $183.7 million compared to $205.6 million 
in 2015.

In 2014 and 2015, the Company entered into tax loss 
consolidation transactions with its parent company, Power 
Financial Corporation, after obtaining advance tax rulings. 

The Company acquired an aggregate of $2.00 billion of 4.51% 
preferred shares of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Power 
Financial Corporation and, as sole consideration for the 
preferred shares, the Company issued $2.00 billion of 4.50% 
secured demand debentures to Power Financial Corporation. 
The Company has legally enforceable rights to settle these 
financial instruments on a net basis and the Company intends 
to exercise these rights.

The preferred shares and debentures and related dividend 
income and interest expense are offset in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Company. Tax savings arise due to 
the tax deductibility of the interest expense.

For further information on transactions involving related parties, 
see Notes 8 and 25 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
Outstanding common shares of IGM Financial as at 
December 31, 2016 totalled 240,515,968. Outstanding stock 
options as at December 31, 2016 totalled 8,484,030, of which 
3,858,518 were exercisable. As at February 7, 2017, outstanding 
common shares totalled 240,521,828 and outstanding stock 
options totalled 8,478,170, of which 3,852,658 were exercisable.

Perpetual preferred shares of $150 million were outstanding as 
at December 31, 2016, unchanged at February 7, 2017.

SEDAR
Additional information relating to IGM Financial, including 
the Company’s most recent financial statements and Annual 
Information Form, is available at www.sedar.com.
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The Consolidated Financial Statements of IGM Financial Inc. have been prepared by Management, which is responsible for the integrity, 
objectivity and reliability of the information presented, including selecting appropriate accounting principles and making judgments 
and estimates. These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Financial information presented elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent with that in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for comparable periods.

Systems of internal control and supporting procedures are maintained to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial 
information and the safeguarding of all assets controlled by the Company. These controls and supporting procedures include quality 
standards in hiring and training employees, the establishment of organizational structures providing a well-defined division of 
responsibilities and accountability for performance, and the communication of policies and guidelines through the organization. Internal 
controls are reviewed and evaluated extensively by the internal auditor and are subject to scrutiny by the external auditors.

Ultimate responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements rests with the Board of Directors. The Board is assisted in 
discharging this responsibility by an Audit Committee, consisting entirely of independent directors. This Committee reviews the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and recommends them for approval by the Board. In addition, the Audit Committee reviews the 
recommendations of the internal auditor and the external auditors for improvements in internal control and the action of Management 
to implement such recommendations. In carrying out its duties and responsibilities, the Committee meets regularly with Management 
and with both the internal auditor and the external auditors to review the scope and timing of their respective audits, to review their 
findings and to satisfy itself that their responsibilities have been properly discharged.

Deloitte LLP, independent auditors appointed by the shareholders, have examined the Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Company in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and have expressed their opinion upon the completion 
of their examination in their Report to the Shareholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee to 
discuss their audit and related findings.

 

Jeffrey R. Carney Kevin E. Regan, fca
President and Chief Executive Officer   Executive Vice-President and  

Chief Financial Officer

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
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To the Shareholders of IGM Financial Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IGM Financial Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheets as at December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2015, and the consolidated statements of earnings, consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statements of cash 
flows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of IGM Financial Inc. as 
at December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and January 1, 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
February 10, 2017

Winnipeg, Manitoba

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31  
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except shares and per share amounts)   2016 2015

Revenues
 Management fees $ 2,025,181 $ 2,036,234
 Administration fees  421,618  417,563
 Distribution fees  410,135  379,558
 Net investment income and other  83,623  83,640
 Proportionate share of affiliate's earnings (Note 8)  104,226  110,950

     3,044,783  3,027,945

Expenses     
 Commission  1,090,048  1,062,069
 Non–commission (Note 3)  915,602  882,969
 Interest (Note 15)  92,196  92,115

     2,097,846  2,037,153

Earnings before income taxes  946,937  990,792
Income taxes (Note 14)  167,633  210,250

Net earnings  779,304  780,542
Perpetual preferred share dividends  8,850  8,850

Net earnings available to common shareholders $ 770,454 $ 771,692

     
Average number of common shares
(in thousands) (Note 23)     
 – Basic  241,300  248,173
 – Diluted  241,402  248,299
     
Earnings per share
(in dollars) (Note 23)     
 – Basic $ 3.19 $ 3.11
 – Diluted $ 3.19 $ 3.11

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)     
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31  
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)   2016 2015

Net earnings $ 779,304 $ 780,542

 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax     
 Items that will not be reclassified to Net earnings     
   Employee benefits     
   Net actuarial gains (losses), net of tax of $(356) and $(4,304)  961  11,636
   Investment in affiliate – employee benefits and other      
   Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of nil  (16,247)  (4,581)
 
 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Net earnings      
   Available for sale securities      
   Net unrealized gains (losses), net of tax of $(1,297) and $(1,445)  6,899  3,929
   Reclassification of realized (gains) losses to net earnings, net of tax of $343 and $534  (940)  (1,465)

     5,959  2,464
   Investment in affiliate and other 
   Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of $(326) and $457  (41,121)  69,205

     (50,448)  78,724

Total comprehensive income $ 728,856 $ 859,266

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)     
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 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER 31 JANUARY 1 
 2016 2015 2015

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  RESTATED RESTATED 
  (NOTE 2) (NOTE 2)

Assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 611,032 $ 983,005 $ 1,215,313
 Securities (Note 4)  225,184  60,035  89,545
 Client funds on deposit  455,474  291,749  203,763
 Accounts and other receivables  287,071  272,922  267,612
 Income taxes recoverable  13,627  10,243  22,710
 Loans (Note 5)  7,983,269  7,392,448  7,018,893
 Derivative financial instruments (Note 21)  42,821  58,364  39,449
 Other assets (Note 7)  240,509  45,653  45,757
 Investment in affiliate (Note 8)  888,851  904,257  794,381
 Capital assets  161,337  140,356  121,854
 Deferred selling commissions (Note 9)  726,608  727,527  710,447
 Deferred income taxes (Note 14)  61,454  64,946  69,405
 Intangible assets (Note 10)  1,267,789  1,219,720  1,161,513
 Goodwill (Note 10)  2,660,267  2,660,267  2,656,950

   $ 15,625,293 $ 14,831,492 $ 14,417,592

Liabilities      
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 431,049 $ 386,727 $ 374,369
 Income taxes payable  3,393  53,267  30,916
 Derivative financial instruments (Note 21)  38,163  57,836  29,788
 Deposits and certificates (Note 11)  471,202  310,074  223,328
 Other liabilities (Note 12)  447,943  449,018  528,289
 Obligations to securitization entities (Note 6)  7,721,024  7,092,414  6,754,048
 Deferred income taxes (Note 14)  440,759  430,451  432,666
 Long-term debt (Note 15)  1,325,000  1,325,000  1,325,000

    10,878,533  10,104,787  9,698,404

Shareholders' Equity      
 Share capital      
  Perpetual preferred shares  150,000  150,000  150,000
  Common shares  1,597,208  1,623,948  1,655,581
 Contributed surplus  39,552  35,569  33,504
 Retained earnings  3,042,442  2,949,182  2,990,821
 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (82,442)  (31,994)  (110,718)

    4,746,760  4,726,705  4,719,188

   $ 15,625,293 $ 14,831,492 $ 14,417,592

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)

These financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on February 10, 2017.

Jeffrey R. Carney John McCallum
Director Director

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 SHARE CAPITAL

     ACCUMULATED 
 PERPETUAL    OTHER 
 PREFERRED COMMON   COMPREHENSIVE TOTAL 
 SHARES SHARES CONTRIBUTED RETAINED INCOME (LOSS) SHAREHOLDERS’ 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) (Note 16) (Note 16) SURPLUS EARNINGS (Note 19) EQUITY

2016

Balance, beginning of year            
 As previously reported $ 150,000 $ 1,623,948 $ 35,569 $ 3,070,873 $ (31,994) $ 4,848,396  
 Change in accounting policy (Note 2)  –  –  –  (121,691)  –  (121,691)

 As restated  150,000  1,623,948  35,569  2,949,182  (31,994)  4,726,705

           
Net earnings  –  –  –  779,304  –  779,304
Other comprehensive 
 income (loss), net of tax  –  –  –  –  (50,448)  (50,448)

Total comprehensive income  –  –  –  779,304  (50,448)  728,856

           
Common shares           
 Issued under stock option plan  –  2,099  –  –  –  2,099
 Purchased for cancellation  –  (28,839)  –  –  –  (28,839)
Stock options           
 Current period expense  –  –  4,097  –  –  4,097
 Exercised  –  –  (114)  –  –  (114)
Perpetual preferred share dividends  –  –  –  (8,850)  –  (8,850)
Common share dividends  –  –  –  (541,987)  –  (541,987)
Common share cancellation 
 excess and other (Note 16)  –  –  –  (135,207)  –  (135,207)

Balance, end of year $ 150,000 $ 1,597,208 $ 39,552 $ 3,042,442 $ (82,442) $ 4,746,760

2015 RESTATED (Note 2)           
Balance, beginning of year           
 As previously reported $ 150,000 $ 1,655,581 $ 33,504 $ 3,112,512 $ (110,718) $ 4,840,879
 Change in accounting policy (Note 2)  –  –  –  (121,691)  –  (121,691)

 As restated  150,000  1,655,581  33,504  2,990,821  (110,718)  4,719,188

           
Net earnings  –  –  –  780,542  –  780,542
Other comprehensive 
 income (loss), net of tax  –  –  –  –  78,724  78,724

Total comprehensive income  –  –  –  780,542  78,724  859,266

           
Common shares           
 Issued under stock option plan  –  14,908  –  –  –  14,908
 Purchased for cancellation  –  (46,541)  –  –  –  (46,541)
Stock options           
 Current period expense  –  –  4,452  –  –  4,452
 Exercised  –  –  (2,387)  –  –  (2,387)
Perpetual preferred share dividends  –  –  –  (8,850)  –  (8,850)
Common share dividends  –  –  –  (556,450)  –  (556,450)
Common share cancellation excess           
 and other (Note 16)  –  –  –  (256,881)  –  (256,881)

Balance, end of year $ 150,000 $ 1,623,948 $ 35,569 $ 2,949,182 $ (31,994) $ 4,726,705

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31  
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)   2016 2015

Operating activities    
 Earnings before income taxes $ 946,937 $ 990,792
 Income taxes paid  (213,004)  (181,514)
 Adjustments to determine net cash from operating activities    
  Deferred selling commission amortization  235,787  232,840
  Amortization of capital and intangible assets  43,006  39,272
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities and other  (41,209)  (121,068)

     971,517  960,322
  Deferred selling commissions paid  (234,868)  (249,920)

     736,649  710,402

Financing activities    
 Net decrease in deposits and certificates  (491)  (1,239)
 Net increase in obligations to securitization entities  631,134  335,983
 Issue of common shares  3,376  14,231
 Common shares purchased for cancellation  (155,673)  (288,367)
 Perpetual preferred share dividends paid  (8,850)  (8,850)
 Common share dividends paid  (544,450)  (560,147)

     (74,954)  (508,389)

Investing activities    
 Purchase of securities  (231,322)  (127,947)
 Proceeds from the sale of securities  80,338  167,446
 Net increase in loans  (582,889)  (360,875)
 Net additions to capital assets  (42,306)  (36,814)
 Net cash used in additions to intangible assets and acquisitions  (64,501)  (76,131)
 Deposit on investments in China Asset Management Co., Ltd.  (192,988)  –

     (1,033,668)  (434,321)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (371,973)  (232,308)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  983,005  1,215,313

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 611,032 $ 983,005

Cash   $ 84,570 $ 105,436
Cash equivalents  526,462  877,569

    $ 611,032 $ 983,005

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information related to operating activities    
 Interest and dividends received $ 256,522 $ 250,602
 Interest paid $ 209,998 $ 221,308

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)



IGM FINANCIAL INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 83

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016 and 2015 (In thousands of Canadian dollars, except shares and per share amounts)

NOTE 1  CORPORATE INFORMATION

IGM Financial Inc. (the Company) is a publicly listed company 
(TSX: IGM), incorporated and domiciled in Canada. The 
registered address of the Company is 447 Portage Avenue, 
Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada. The Company is controlled by 
Power Financial Corporation.

IGM Financial Inc. is a financial services company which 
serves the financial needs of Canadians through its principal 
subsidiaries, each operating distinctly within the advice segment 
of the financial services market. The Company’s wholly-owned 
principal subsidiaries are Investors Group Inc. and Mackenzie 
Financial Corporation.

NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The policies set out below were 
consistently applied to all the periods presented unless 
otherwise noted.

USE OF JUDGMENT, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires management to exercise judgment in the process of 
applying accounting policies and requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The key areas where 
judgment has been applied include: the determination of which 
financial assets should be derecognized; the assessment of the 
appropriate classification of financial instruments, including 
those classified as fair value through profit or loss; and the 
assessment that significant influence exists for its investment in 
affiliate. Key components of the financial statements requiring 
management to make estimates include: the fair value of 
financial instruments, goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, 
deferred selling commissions, provisions and employee benefits. 
Actual results may differ from such estimates. Further detail of 
judgments and estimates are found in the remainder of Note 2 
and in Notes 6, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14 and 22.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts 
of the Company and all subsidiaries on a consolidated basis 
after elimination of intercompany transactions and balances. 
Subsidiaries are entities the Company controls when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to 
direct the relevant activities of the entity.

The Company’s investment in Great-West Lifeco Inc. (Lifeco) 
is accounted for using the equity method. The investment in 
Lifeco was initially recorded at cost and the carrying amount 

is increased or decreased to recognize the Company’s share of 
Lifeco’s comprehensive income and the dividends received since 
the date of acquisition.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
Deferred Taxes on Indefinite Life Intangible Assets

In November 2016, the IFRS Interpretation Committee (the 
Committee) met to discuss whether to add a request, IAS 12 
Income Taxes - Expected manner of recovery of intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives, to its agenda. The Committee was asked 
to clarify how a company determines the expected manner of 
recovery of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life for 
deferred tax measurement purposes. The Committee decided 
not to add the item to its agenda as it indicated that current 
guidance was sufficient to allow a company to determine how 
to measure deferred taxes on these intangible assets. In its 
commentary, the Committee indicated that guidance related 
to how to determine tax rates for non-depreciable assets 
should not be applied to determining tax rates for indefinite 
life intangible assets. The Committee indicated the fact that 
a company does not amortize an indefinite life intangible 
asset does not necessarily mean that the carrying value will 
be recovered only through sale and not use. As a result, the 
Company has retroactively applied a change in accounting 
policy to reflect the Committee’s discussion on this matter.  
On conversion to IFRS, the Company utilized the exemption 
for business combinations that provides for very limited 
ability to restate prior business combinations. Accordingly, the 
Company has reduced retained earnings for changes to business 
combinations that occurred prior to the conversion to IFRS and 
increased goodwill for changes to business combinations that 
occurred subsequent to the conversion to IFRS.  The impact of 
these changes at January 1, 2015 were increases to Goodwill of 
$0.4 million and deferred income taxes liability of $122.1 million, 
and a reduction to retained earnings of $121.7 million. 
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NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Management fees are based on the net asset value of 
investment fund or other assets under management 
and are recognized on an accrual basis as the service is 
performed. Administration fees are also recognized on an 
accrual basis as the service is performed. Distribution fees 
derived from investment fund and securities transactions are 
recognized on a trade date basis. Distribution fees derived 
from insurance and other financial services transactions are 
recognized on an accrual basis.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

All financial assets are classified in one of the following 
categories: available for sale, fair value through profit or 
loss, or loans and receivables. The classification depends on 
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets 
upon initial recognition. Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are financial assets classified as held for trading 
or upon initial recognition are designated by the Company 
as fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified 
as held for trading if acquired with the intent to sell in the 
short-term. Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedging instruments. Loans 
and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative 
financial instruments that are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any of the other categories. 

All financial assets are recorded at fair value in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, except loans and receivables 
which are recorded at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. Financial liabilities are classified either as 
financial liabilities measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method or as fair value through profit or 
loss, which are recorded at fair value.

Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classified 
as available for sale as well as other comprehensive 
income amounts, including unrealized foreign currency 
translation gains and losses related to the Company’s 
investment in its affiliate, are recorded in the Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income on a net of tax basis. 
Accumulated other comprehensive income forms part 
of Shareholders’ equity.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and temporary 
investments consisting of highly liquid investments with 

short-term maturities. Interest income is recorded on an 
accrual basis in Net investment income and other in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

SECURITIES

Securities, which are recorded on a trade date basis, are classified 
as either available for sale or fair value through profit or loss.

Available for sale securities comprise equity securities held for 
long-term investment, investments in proprietary investment 
funds and fixed income securities. Realized gains and losses 
on disposal of available for sale securities, dividends declared, 
interest income, as well as the amortization of discounts or 
premiums using the effective interest method, are recorded 
in Net investment income and other in the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings. Unrealized gains and losses on available 
for sale securities are recorded in Other comprehensive income 
until they are realized or until management determines that 
there is objective evidence of impairment in value, at which time 
they are reclassified to the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Fair value through profit or loss securities are held for trading 
and are comprised of fixed income and equity securities and 
investments in proprietary investment funds. Unrealized and 
realized gains and losses, dividends declared, and interest income 
on these securities are recorded in Net investment income and 
other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

LOANS

Loans are classified as either held for trading or loans and receivables, 
based on the Company’s intent to sell the loans in the near term.

Loans classified as held for trading are recorded at fair value, with 
changes in fair value recorded in Net investment income and 
other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Loans classified 
as loans and receivables are recorded at amortized cost less an 
allowance for credit losses. Interest income is accounted for on 
the accrual basis using the effective interest method for all loans 
and is recorded in Net investment income and other in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

A loan is classified as impaired when, in the opinion of 
management, there no longer is reasonable assurance of the 
timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest. A 
loan is also classified as impaired when interest or principal is 
contractually past due 90 days, except in circumstances where 
management has determined that the collectibility of principal 
and interest is not in doubt. 

The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses which is 
considered adequate by management to absorb all credit related  
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NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

losses in its portfolio. Specific allowances are established as a 
result of reviews of individual loans. There is a second category 
of allowance, the collective allowance, which is allocated against 
sectors rather than specifically against individual loans. This allow-
ance is established where a prudent assessment by management 
suggests that losses have occurred but where such losses cannot 
yet be identified on an individual loan basis. 

DERECOGNITION

The Company enters into transactions where it transfers financial 
assets recognized on its balance sheet. The determination of 
whether the financial assets are derecognized is based on the extent 
to which the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. The 
gains or losses and the servicing fee revenue for financial assets 
that are derecognized are reported in Net investment income and 
other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The transactions 
for financial assets that are not derecognized are accounted for as 
secured financing transactions.

DEFERRED SELLING COMMISSIONS

Commissions paid on the sale of certain investment funds are 
deferred and amortized over their estimated useful lives, not 
exceeding a period of seven years. Commissions paid on the 
sale of deposits are deferred and amortized over their estimated 
useful lives, not exceeding a period of five years. When a client 
redeems units or shares in investment funds that are subject to 
a deferred sales charge, a redemption fee is paid by the client 
and is recorded as revenue by the Company. Any unamortized 
deferred selling commission asset recognized on the initial 
sale of these investment fund units or shares is recorded as 
a disposal. The Company regularly reviews the carrying value 
of deferred selling commissions with respect to any events 
or circumstances that indicate impairment. Among the tests 
performed by the Company to assess recoverability is the 
comparison of the future economic benefits derived from the 
deferred selling commission asset in relation to its carrying value.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets are recorded at cost of $383.0 million at 
December 31, 2016 (2015 - $357.9 million), less accumulated 
amortization of $221.7 million (2015 - $217.5 million). Buildings, 
furnishings and equipment are amortized on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 17 years 
for equipment and furnishings and 10 to 50 years for the building 
and its components. Capital assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company tests the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite 
life intangible assets for impairment at least once a year and 
more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates the asset 
may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized if the amount 
of the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal or its value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash generating units). 

Investment fund management contracts have been assessed to 
have an indefinite useful life as the contractual right to manage 
the assets has no fixed term. 

Trade names have been assessed to have an indefinite useful life 
as they contribute to the revenues of the Company’s integrated 
asset management business as a whole and the Company intends 
to utilize them for the foreseeable future.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding a period of 
20 years. Finite life intangible assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Company maintains a number of employee benefit plans 
including defined benefit plans and defined contribution pension 
plans for eligible employees. These plans are related parties in 
accordance with IFRS. The Company’s defined benefit plans include 
a funded defined benefit pension plan for eligible employees, 
unfunded supplementary executive retirement plans (SERP) for 
certain executive officers, and an unfunded post-employment 
health care, dental and life insurance plan for eligible retirees.

The defined benefit pension plan provides pensions based on 
length of service and final average earnings.

The cost of the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined 
using the projected unit credit method prorated on service 
based upon management’s assumptions about discount 
rates, compensation increases, retirement ages of employees, 
mortality and expected health care costs. Any changes in 
these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension 
obligations. The Company’s accrued benefit liability in respect of 
defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by 
discounting the amount of the benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in current and prior periods 
and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The Company 
determines the net interest component of the pension 
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NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)  
expense for the period by applying the discount rate used to 
measure the accrued benefit liability at the beginning of the 
annual period to the net accrued benefit liability. The discount 
rate used to value liabilities is determined using a yield curve 
of AA corporate debt securities.

If the plan benefits are changed, or a plan is curtailed, any past 
service costs or curtailment gains or losses are recognized 
immediately in net earnings.

Current service costs, past service costs and curtailment gains 
or losses are included in Non-commission expenses.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans represent 
actuarial gains and losses and the actual return on plan assets, 
less interest calculated at the discount rate. Remeasurements 
are recognized immediately through Other comprehensive 
income (OCI) and are not reclassified to net earnings.

The accrued benefit liability represents the deficit related to defined 
benefit plans and is included in Other liabilities. 

Payments to the defined contribution pension plans are 
expensed as incurred.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company uses the fair value based method to account 
for stock options granted to employees. The fair value of stock 
options is determined on each grant date. Compensation expense 
is recognized over the period that the stock options vest, with a 
corresponding increase in Contributed surplus. When stock options 
are exercised, the proceeds together with the amount recorded in 
Contributed surplus are added to Share capital.

The Company recognizes a liability for cash settled awards 
including those granted under the Performance Share Unit plan 
and the Deferred Share Unit plan. Compensation expense is 
recognized over the vesting period, net of related hedges. The 
liability is remeasured at fair value at each reporting period.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the 
Company has a present obligation where a reliable estimate can 
be made, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation.

INCOME TAXES

The Company uses the liability method in accounting for income 
taxes whereby deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect 
the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and 
their tax bases and tax loss carryforwards. Deferred income 

tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the enacted or 
substantively enacted tax rates which are anticipated to be in 
effect when the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing Net earnings 
available to common shareholders by the average number of 
common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted earnings per 
share is determined using the same method as basic earnings 
per share except that the average number of common shares 
outstanding includes the potential dilutive effect of outstanding 
stock options granted by the Company as determined by the 
treasury stock method.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the Company 
in the management of equity price and interest rate risks. 
The Company does not utilize derivative financial instruments 
for speculative purposes.

The Company formally documents all hedging relationships, 
as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes 
linking all derivatives to specific assets and liabilities on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets or to anticipated future 
transactions. The Company also formally assesses, both at 
the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the 
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of 
hedged items. Derivative financial instruments are recorded at 
fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Derivative financial instruments specifically designated as a 
hedge and meeting the criteria for hedge effectiveness offset 
the changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. A 
hedge is designated either as a cash flow hedge or a fair value 
hedge. A cash flow hedge requires the change in fair value of 
the derivative, to the extent effective, to be recorded in Other 
comprehensive income, which is reclassified to the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings when the hedged item affects earnings. 
The change in fair value of the ineffective portion of the 
derivative in a cash flow hedge is recorded in the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings. A fair value hedge requires the change 
in fair value of the hedging derivative and the change in fair 
value of the hedged item relating to the hedged risk to both be 
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

The Company enters into interest rate swaps as part of its 
mortgage banking and intermediary operations. These swap 
agreements require the periodic exchange of net interest 
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payments without the exchange of the notional principal 
amount on which the payments are based. These instruments 
are not designated as hedging instruments. Changes in fair 
value are recorded in Net investment income and other in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

The Company also enters into total return swaps and forward 
agreements to manage its exposure to fluctuations in the total 
return of its common shares related to deferred compensation 
arrangements. Total return swap and forward agreements 
require the exchange of net contractual payments periodically 
or at maturity without the exchange of the notional principal 
amounts on which the payments are based. Certain of these 
derivatives are not designated as hedging instruments and 
changes in fair value are recorded in Non-commission expense 
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Derivatives continue to be utilized on a basis consistent with the 
risk management policies of the Company and are monitored by 
the Company for effectiveness as economic hedges even if specific 
hedge accounting requirements are not met. 

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
is presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets when 
the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognized amounts and intends to settle on a net basis or 
to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Company reclassified certain comparative figures to 
conform to the current year’s presentation. The reclassifications 
had no impact on the net earnings of the Company.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

The Company continuously monitors the potential changes 
proposed by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) and analyzes the effect that changes in the standards 
may have on the Company’s operations.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The IASB issued IFRS 9 which replaces IAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the current standard 
for accounting for financial instruments. The standard was 
completed in three separate phases:

• Classification and measurement: This phase requires that 
financial assets be classified at either amortized cost or 
fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.

NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

• Impairment methodology: This phase replaces the current 
incurred loss model for impairment of financial assets with 
an expected loss model.

• Hedge accounting: This phase replaces the current rule-based 
hedge accounting requirements in IAS 39 with guidance 
that more closely aligns the accounting with an entity’s risk 
management activities.

The transition to IFRS 9 is managed by a committee comprised 
of senior levels of management. Periodic reporting on the 
progress against plan is provided to this committee and 
other affected stakeholders within the Company. To date, the 
Company’s efforts have been focused on updating accounting 
policies to address key aspects of the Standard including 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, 
reviewing the impact to its impairment models and assessing 
the use of hedge accounting under IFRS 9.

The combined application of the contractual cash flow 
characteristics and business model tests as at January 1, 2018 
may result in some assets currently classified as held for trading 
under IAS 39 being reclassified to fair value through other 
comprehensive income or amortized cost under IFRS 9. At this 
stage, it is not possible to reliably quantify the potential financial 
effect to the Company from the adoption of IFRS 9.

The Company will update accounting policy manuals, internal 
control documents and implement changes to business and financial 
reporting processes and systems to support the implementation 
of the Standard by its effective date of January 1, 2018.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The IASB issued IFRS 15 which outlines a single comprehensive 
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. The model requires an entity to rec-
ognize revenue as the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer in an amount that reflects the expected consideration. 
This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018 and the impact of the standard is 
currently being assessed. 

IFRS 16 Leases

The IASB issued IFRS 16 which requires a lessee to recognize a 
right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a corresponding lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments for all leases. A lessee 
recognizes the related expense as depreciation on the right-
of-use asset and interest on the lease liability. Short-term (less 
than 12 months) and low-value asset leases are exempt from 
these requirements. The standard is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The impact of this 
standard is currently being assessed.
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NOTE 3  NON-COMMISSION EXPENSE

   2016 2015 

Salaries and employee benefits $ 440,199 $ 408,870 
Occupancy  55,440  55,831 
Amortization of capital and intangible assets  43,006  39,272
Other   376,957  378,996 

    $ 915,602 $ 882,969

NOTE 4 SECURITIES

 2016 2015
  
  FAIR  FAIR 
 COST VALUE COST VALUE

Available for sale: 
 Corporate investments $ 141,641 $ 151,949 $ 5,711 $ 9,273 
 Proprietary investment funds  6,097  6,431  5,941  6,092

     147,738  158,380  11,652  15,365

Fair value through profit or loss: 
 Equity securities  15,523  17,695  12,220  10,462 
 Proprietary investment funds  49,407  49,109  33,710  34,208

     64,930  66,804  45,930  44,670

    $ 212,668 $ 225,184 $ 57,582 $ 60,035 

AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Corporate Investments

Corporate investments is primarily comprised of the Company’s 
investments in Personal Capital Corporation (Personal Capital), 
WealthSimple Financial Corporation (WealthSimple) and Portag3 
Ventures (Portag3).

In May 2016, the Company invested $64.5 million (USD 
$50 million) in Personal Capital, a market-leading digital wealth 
advisor that is incorporated in and operates in the U.S. In December 
2016, the Company invested an additional $32.8 million (USD 
$25 million) in Personal Capital.

In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company invested a total of 
$35 million in WealthSimple and Portag3. WealthSimple is an 
online investment manager that provides financial investment 
guidance. The investment was entered into through a limited 
partnership controlled by the Company’s parent, Power Financial 
Corporation. Portag3 is an early-stage investment fund dedicated to 
backing innovating financial services companies and is controlled 
by the Company’s parent, Power Financial Corporation.

Proprietary Investment Funds

The Company manages and provides services and earns 
management and administration fees, in respect of investment 
funds that are not recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
As at December 31, 2016, there were $137.0 billion in investment 
fund assets under management (2015 - $127.5 billion). The 
Company’s investments in proprietary investment funds are 
classified on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
available for sale securities. These investments are generally made 
in the process of launching a new fund and are sold as third 
party investors subscribe. This balance represents the Company’s 
maximum exposure to loss associated with these investments.

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Proprietary Investment Funds

Certain investment funds are consolidated where the Company 
has made the assessment that it controls the investment 
fund. As at December 31, 2016, the underlying investments 
related to these consolidated investment funds primarily 
consisted of cash and short-term investments of $18.1 million 
(2015 - $6.0 million), equity securities of $31.3 million (2015 
- $23.3 million) and fixed income securities of nil (2015 - 
$5.6 million). The underlying securities of these funds are 
classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value.
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 CONTRACTUAL MATURITY

 1 YEAR 1 – 5 OVER 2016 2015 
 OR LESS YEARS 5 YEARS TOTAL TOTAL

 Loans and receivables         
 Residential mortgages   $ 1,238,079 $ 6,401,939 $ 4,507 $ 7,644,525 $ 7,008,936

 Less: Collective allowance          722  705

            7,643,803  7,008,231
Held for trading          339,466  384,217

           $ 7,983,269 $ 7,392,448

The change in the collective allowance for credit losses is as follows:
Balance, beginning of year $ 705 $ 762
Write-offs, net of recoveries  (502)  (132)
Provision for credit losses  519  75

Balance, end of year $ 722 $ 705

Total impaired loans as at December 31, 2016 were $2,607 
(2015 - $2,902).

Total interest income on loans classified as loans and receivables 
was $194.2 million (2015 - $189.2 million). Total interest 
expense on obligations to securitization entities, related to 
securitized loans, was $128.7 million (2015 - $132.1 million). 
Gains realized on the sale of residential mortgages totalled 

$16.1 million (2015 - $20.7 million). Fair value adjustments 
related to mortgage banking operations totalled negative 
$2.3 million (2015 - negative $1.3 million). These amounts were 
included in Net investment income and other. Net investment 
income and other also includes other mortgage banking related 
items including interest income on mortgages held for trading, 
portfolio insurance, issue costs, and other items.

NOTE 6  SECURITIZATIONS

The Company securitizes residential mortgages through the 
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) sponsored 
National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities (NHA MBS) 
Program and Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) Program and 
through Canadian bank-sponsored asset-backed commercial 
paper (ABCP) programs. These transactions do not meet 
the requirements for derecognition as the Company retains 
prepayment risk and certain elements of credit risk. Accordingly, 
the Company has retained these mortgages on its balance 
sheets and has recorded offsetting liabilities for the net proceeds 
received as Obligations to securitization entities which are 
recorded at amortized cost.

The Company earns interest on the mortgages and pays interest 
on the obligations to securitization entities. As part of the CMB 
transactions, the Company enters into a swap transaction 
whereby the Company pays coupons on CMBs and receives 
investment returns on the NHA MBS and the reinvestment of 
repaid mortgage principal. A component of this swap, related 

to the obligation to pay CMB coupons and receive investment 
returns on repaid mortgage principal, is recorded as a derivative 
and had a negative fair value of $23.1 million at December 31, 
2016 (2015 - negative $47.4 million).

Under the NHA MBS and CMB Program, the Company has 
an obligation to make timely payments to security holders 
regardless of whether amounts are received from mortgagors. 
All mortgages securitized under the NHA MBS and CMB 
Program are insured by CMHC or another approved insurer 
under the program. As part of the ABCP transactions, the 
Company has provided cash reserves for credit enhancement 
which are recorded at cost. Credit risk is limited to these cash 
reserves and future net interest income as the ABCP Trusts have 
no recourse to the Company’s other assets for failure to make 
payments when due. Credit risk is further limited to the extent 
these mortgages are insured.

NOTE 5  LOANS
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NOTE 6  SECURITIZATIONS (continued)

  OBLIGATIONS TO 
 SECURITIZED SECURITIZATION  
2016 MORTGAGES ENTITIES NET

Carrying value 
 NHA MBS and CMB Program $ 4,942,474 $ 4,987,298 $ (44,824)
 Bank sponsored ABCP  2,672,817  2,733,726  (60,909)

 Total $ 7,615,291 $ 7,721,024 $ (105,733)

Fair value $ 7,838,295 $ 7,873,118 $ (34,823)

2015

Carrying value 
 NHA MBS and CMB Program $ 4,611,583 $ 4,669,974 $ (58,391)
 Bank sponsored ABCP  2,369,681  2,422,440  (52,759)

 Total $ 6,981,264 $ 7,092,414 $ (111,150)

Fair value $ 7,238,046 $ 7,272,394 $ (34,348)

The carrying value of Obligations to securitization entities, 
which is recorded net of issue costs, includes principal payments 
received on securitized mortgages that are not due to be settled 

until after the reporting period. Issue costs are amortized over 
the life of the obligation on an effective interest rate basis.

NOTE 7  OTHER ASSETS

   2016 2015 

China Asset Management Co., Ltd. $ 193,463 $ –
Deferred and prepaid expenses  43,428  43,224
Other   3,618  2,429

    $ 240,509 $ 45,653 

As at December 31, 2016, other assets included a deposit of 
$193.5 million (RMB¥1.0 billion) related to the Company's 
investment in China Asset Management Co., Ltd. (China AMC), 
a fund management company in China. On December 29, 2016 
and January 5, 2017, the Company entered into agreements 
to acquire 10% and 3.9% interests, respectively, in China AMC. 
The aggregate consideration for the investment is approximately 

$647 million (RMB¥3.3 billion). The transactions are expected 
to close in the first half of 2017, subject to customary closing 
conditions, including Chinese regulatory approvals.

Total other assets of $19.8 million as at December 31, 2016 
(2015 - $20.9 million) are expected to be realized within one year. 
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NOTE 8  INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATE

Investment in affiliate represents the Company’s investment in 
Lifeco. Lifeco is a publicly listed company that is incorporated 
and domiciled in Canada and is controlled by Power Financial 
Corporation. Lifeco is a financial services holding company 
with interests in the life insurance, health insurance, retirement 
savings, investment management and reinsurance businesses, 
primarily in Canada, the United States, Europe and Asia.

At December 31, 2016, the Company held 39,737,388 
(2015 - 39,737,388) shares of Lifeco, which represented an 
equity interest of 4.0% (2015 - 4.0%). The Company uses the 

equity method to account for its investment in Lifeco as it 
exercises significant influence. Significant influence arises from 
several factors, including but not limited to, the following: 
common control of Lifeco by Power Financial Corporation, 
directors common to the boards of the Company and Lifeco, 
certain shared strategic alliances, significant intercompany 
transactions and service agreements that influence the financial 
and operating policies of both companies. The Company’s 
proportionate share of Lifeco’s earnings is recorded in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

   2016 2015

Balance, beginning of year $ 904,257 $ 794,381
Proportionate share of earnings  104,226  110,950
Dividends received  (54,996)  (51,818)
Proportionate share of other comprehensive income (loss) and other adjustments  (64,636)  50,744

Balance, end of year $ 888,851 $ 904,257

Share of equity, end of year $ 764,889 $ 776,386

Fair value, end of year $ 1,397,564 $ 1,371,337

Lifeco directly owned 9,200,000 shares of the Company at 
December 31, 2016.

Lifeco’s financial information as at December 31, 2016 can be 
obtained in its publicly available information.

NOTE 9  DEFERRED SELLING COMMISSIONS

   2016 2015

Cost   $ 1,374,250 $ 1,356,177
Less: accumulated amortization  (647,642)  (628,650)

    $ 726,608 $ 727,527

Changes in deferred selling commissions:
Balance, beginning of year $ 727,527 $ 710,447
Changes due to: 
 Sales of investment funds  234,868  249,920 
 Amortization  (235,787)  (232,840)

     (919)  17,080

Balance, end of year $ 726,608 $ 727,527

Amortization of deferred selling commissions includes 
$31.2 million (2015 - $30.3 million) of disposals related to 

redemption activity and is recorded in Commission expense in 
the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
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NOTE 10  GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The components of goodwill and intangible assets are as follows:

 FINITE LIFE INDEFINITE LIFE
  
  DISTRIBUTION 
  AND OTHER MUTUAL FUND  TOTAL 
  MANAGEMENT MANAGEMENT TRADE INTANGIBLE  
 SOFTWARE CONTRACTS CONTRACTS NAMES ASSETS GOODWILL

2016

Cost  $ 289,032 $ 111,465 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,426,233 $ 2,660,267
Less: accumulated amortization  (89,793)  (68,651)  –  –  (158,444)  –

   $ 199,239 $ 42,814 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,267,789 $ 2,660,267

Changes in goodwill  
  and intangible assets:      
Balance, beginning of year $ 144,353 $ 49,631 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,219,720 $ 2,660,267
Additions  63,506  862  –  –  64,368  –
Disposals  (90)  (1,675)  –  –  (1,765)  –
Amortization  (8,530)  (6,004)  –  –  (14,534)  –

Balance, end of year $ 199,239 $ 42,814 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,267,789 $ 2,660,267

2015      

Cost  $ 225,617 $ 112,278 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,363,631 $ 2,660,267
Less: accumulated amortization  (81,264)   (62,647)  –  –  (143,911)  –

   $ 144,353 $ 49,631 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,219,720 $ 2,660,267

Changes in goodwill  
  and intangible assets:      
Balance, beginning of year $ 80,167 $ 55,610 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,161,513 $ 2,656,950
Additions  72,321  1,743  –  –  74,064  3,317
Disposals  –  (589)  –  –  (589)  –
Amortization  (8,135)  (7,133)  –  –  (15,268)  –

Balance, end of year $ 144,353 $ 49,631 $ 740,559 $ 285,177 $ 1,219,720 $ 2,660,267

The goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets consisting of investment fund management contracts and trade names are allocated 
to each cash generating unit (CGU) as summarized in the following table:

 2016 2015
  
  INDEFINITE  INDEFINITE 
  LIFE  LIFE 
  INTANGIBLE  INTANGIBLE 
 GOODWILL ASSETS GOODWILL ASSETS

Investors Group $ 1,347,781 $ – $ 1,347,781 $ –
Mackenzie  1,168,580  1,002,681  1,168,580  1,002,681
Other   143,906  23,055  143,906  23,055

Total   $ 2,660,267 $ 1,025,736 $ 2,660,267 $ 1,025,736
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The Company tests whether goodwill and indefinite life 
intangible assets are impaired by assessing the carrying amounts 
with the recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of the 
Company’s CGUs is based on the best available evidence of 
fair value less costs of disposal. Fair value is initially assessed 
with reference to valuation multiples of comparable publicly-
traded financial institutions and precedent business acquisition 
transactions. These valuation multiples may include price-to-
earnings or other conventionally used measures for investment 
managers or other financial service providers (multiples of value 

to assets under management, revenues, or other measures 
of profitability). This assessment may give regard to a variety of 
relevant considerations, including expected growth, risk and capital 
market conditions, among other factors. The valuation multiples 
used in assessing fair value represent Level 2 fair value inputs.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the Company’s CGUs was 
compared with the carrying amount and it was determined there 
was no impairment. Changes in assumptions and estimates used 
in determining the recoverable amounts of CGUs can result in 
significant adjustments to the valuation of the CGUs.

NOTE 11  DEPOSITS AND CERTIFICATES

Deposits and certificates are classified as other financial liabilities 
measured at amortized cost.

Included in the assets of the Consolidated Balance Sheets are 
cash and cash equivalents, client funds on deposit and loans 
amounting to $471.2 million (2015 - $310.1 million) related to 
deposits and certificates.

 TERM TO MATURITY
 
  1 YEAR 1–5 OVER 2016 2015 
 DEMAND OR LESS YEARS 5 YEARS TOTAL TOTAL

Deposits $ 453,367 $ 7,831 $ 6,413 $ 777 $ 468,388 $ 306,859
Certificates  –  372  1,005  1,437  2,814  3,215

   $ 453,367 $ 8,203 $ 7,418 $ 2,214 $ 471,202 $ 310,074

NOTE 12  OTHER LIABILITIES

   2016 2015

Dividends payable $ 137,503 $ 139,965
Interest payable  27,406  21,131
Accrued benefit liabilities (Note 13)  216,387  208,182
Provisions  32,052  37,992
Other   34,595  41,748

    $ 447,943 $ 449,018

The Company establishes restructuring provisions related to 
business acquisitions, divestitures and other items, as well as 
other provisions in the normal course of its operations. Changes 
in provisions during 2016 consisted of additional estimates of 

$0.7 million, provision reversals of $2.6 million and payments of 
$4.0 million. 

Total other liabilities of $207.6 million as at December 31, 2016 
(2015 - $215.5 million) are expected to be settled within one year. 

NOTE 10  GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
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NOTE 13  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The Company maintains a number of employee pension and 
post-employment benefit plans. These plans include a funded 
registered defined benefit pension plan for all eligible employees, 
unfunded supplementary executive retirement plans (SERPs) for 
certain executive officers, and an unfunded post-employment 
health care, dental and life insurance plan for eligible retirees.

Effective July 1, 2012, the defined benefit pension plan was 
closed to new members. For all eligible employees hired after 
July 1, 2012, the Company has a registered defined contribution 
pension plan.

The defined benefit pension plan is a separate trust that is 
legally separated from the Company. The defined benefit 
pension plan is registered under the Pension Benefits Act of 
Manitoba (Act) and the Income Tax Act (ITA). As required by the 
Act, the defined benefit pension plan is governed by a pension 
committee which includes current and retired employees. The 
Pension Committee has certain responsibilities as described in 
the Act but may delegate certain activities to the Company. The 
ITA governs the employer’s ability to make contributions and 
also has parameters that the plan must meet with respect to 
investments in foreign property.

The defined benefit pension plan provides lifetime pension 
benefits to all eligible employees based on length of service and 
final average earnings subject to limits established by the ITA. 
Death benefits are available on the death of an active member 
or a retired member.

Employees who are not senior officers are required to make 
annual contributions based on a percentage of salaries which 
are subject to a maximum amount.

The actuarial valuation for funding purposes related to the 
Company’s registered defined benefit pension plan, based on 
a measurement date of December 31, 2013, was completed 
in May 2014. Based on the actuarial valuation, the registered 
pension plan had a solvency deficit of $23.4 million compared 

to $106.3 million in the previous actuarial valuation, which 
was based on a measurement date of December 31, 2012. 
The reduction in solvency deficit resulted primarily from 
higher interest rates and market returns on the plan assets, 
and is required to be funded over five years. During 2016, 
the Company made contributions of $19.7 million (2015 - 
$19.6 million). The Company expects to make contributions 
of approximately $37.5 million in 2017. Pension contribution 
decisions are subject to change, as contributions are affected 
by many factors including market performance, regulatory 
requirements, changes in assumptions and management’s ability 
to change funding policy. The next required actuarial valuation 
will be based on a measurement date of December 31, 2016. 

The SERPs are non-registered, non-contributory defined benefit 
plans which provide supplementary benefits to certain retired 
executives. 

The other post-employment benefit plan is a non-contributory 
plan and provides eligible employees a reimbursement of 
medical costs or a fixed amount per year to cover medical costs 
during retirement.

The SERPs and other post-employment benefit plans are managed 
by the Company with oversight from the Board of Directors.

The defined benefit plans expose the Company to actuarial 
risks such as mortality risk which represents life expectancy 
and impacts the calculation of the obligations; interest rate 
risk which impacts the discount rate used to calculate the 
obligations and the actual return on plan assets; salary risk 
as estimated salary increases are used in the calculation of 
the obligations; and investment risk as the nature of the 
investments impact the actual return on the plan assets. The 
risks are managed by regular monitoring of the plans, applicable 
regulations and other factors that could impact the Company’s 
expenses and cash flows.
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Plan assets, benefit obligations and funded status:

 2016 2015
  
 DEFINED  OTHER POST– DEFINED  OTHER POST– 
 BENEFIT  EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT  EMPLOYMENT 
 PENSION PLAN SERPS BENEFITS PENSION PLAN SERPS BENEFITS

Fair value of plan assets            
 Balance, beginning of year $ 336,278 $ – $ – $ 310,095 $ – $ – 
 Employee contributions  3,179  –  –  3,687  –  – 
 Employer contributions  19,674  –  –  19,593  –  – 
 Benefits paid  (18,013)  –  –  (11,466)  –  – 
 Interest income  14,443  –  –  12,956  –  – 
 Remeasurements: 
  –Return on plan assets  16,526  –  –  1,413  –  –

 Balance, end of year   372,087  –  –  336,278  –  –

Accrued benefit obligation 
 Balance, beginning of year  439,167  56,481  48,812  415,946  54,392  50,966 
 Benefits paid  (18,013)  (2,958)  (2,192)  (11,466)  (1,527)  (1,994) 
 Current service cost  21,173  1,102  1,082  22,723  1,299  1,455 
 Past service cost  –  2,860  –  –  –  2,461 
 Employee contributions  3,179  –  –  3,687  –  – 
 Interest expense  18,405  2,240  1,843  16,890  2,118  2,038 
 Remeasurements: 
  Actuarial losses (gains) 
   –Demographic assumption  –  –  (4,856)  1,803  –  (3,545) 
   –Experience adjustments  (169)  1,854  (822)  (907)  879  (904) 
   –Financial assumptions  17,459  882  945  (9,509)  (680)  (1,665)

 Balance, end of year  481,201  62,461  44,812  439,167  56,481  48,812

Accrued benefit liability $ 109,114 $ 62,461 $ 44,812 $ 102,889 $ 56,481 $ 48,812

Significant actuarial assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit obligation:

 2016 2015
  
 DEFINED  OTHER POST– DEFINED  OTHER POST– 
 BENEFIT  EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT  EMPLOYMENT 
 PENSION PLAN SERPS BENEFITS PENSION PLAN SERPS BENEFITS

Discount rate 4.05% 3.60%–3.90% 3.70% 4.25% 3.85%–4.15% 3.90%
Rate of compensation increase 3.90% 3.75% N/A 3.90% 3.75% N/A
Health care cost trend rate (1) N/A N/A 5.83% N/A N/A 5.89%
Mortality rates at age 65 
 for current pensioners 23.5 years 23.5 years 23.5 years 23.3 years 23.3 years 23.3 years

(1) Trending to 4.50% in 2034 and remaining at that rate thereafter.

NOTE 13  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (continued)

The weighted average duration of the pension plans’ defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 18.4 years (2015 - 
18.1 years).

Benefit expense:

 2016 2015
  
 DEFINED  OTHER POST- DEFINED  OTHER POST- 
 BENEFIT  EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT  EMPLOYMENT 
 PENSION PLAN SERPS BENEFITS PENSION PLAN SERPS BENEFITS

Current service cost $ 21,173 $ 1,102 $ 1,082 $ 22,723 $ 1,299 $ 1,455 
Past service cost  –  2,860  –  –  –  2,461 
Net interest cost  3,962  2,240  1,843  3,934  2,118  2,038

   $ 25,135 $ 6,202 $ 2,925 $ 26,657 $ 3,417 $ 5,954

Sensitivity analysis:

The calculation of the accrued benefit liability and the related benefit expense are sensitive to the significant actuarial assumptions. The 
following table presents the sensitivity analysis:

 2016 2015
  
 INCREASE INCREASE INCREASE INCREASE 
 (DECREASE) (DECREASE) (DECREASE) (DECREASE) 
 IN LIABILITY IN EXPENSE IN LIABILITY IN EXPENSE

Defined benefit pension plan       
 Discount rate (+ / - 0.25%)       
  Increase $ (19,883) $ (1,667) $ (18,004) $ (1,797)
  Decrease  21,246  1,709  19,237  1,854
 Rate of compensation increase  (+ / - 0.25%)       
  Increase  8,106  850  7,014  855
  Decrease  (8,017)  (835)  (6,914)  (842)
 Mortality       
  Increase 1 year  10,762  775  7,461  823
SERPs
 Discount rate (+ / - 0.25%)       
  Increase  (1,822)  32  (1,697)  19
  Decrease  1,909  (36)  1,779  (22)
 Rate of compensation increase (+ / - 0.25%)       
  Increase  119  23  132  26
  Decrease  (117)  (23)  (131)  (26)
 Mortality       
  Increase 1 year  1,419  57  1,236  57
Other post-employment benefits       
 Discount rate (+ / - 0.25%)       
  Increase  (1,183)  25  (1,346)  23
  Decrease  1,238  (26)  1,410  (26)
 Health care cost trend rates (+ / - 1.00%)       
  Increase  2,060  76  1,922  75
  Decrease  (1,770)  (64)  (1,654)  (64)
 Mortality       
  Increase 1 year  1,383  71  1,370  71

The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is 
unlikely to occur as changes in certain assumptions may be correlated.

NOTE 13  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (continued)

Asset allocation of defined benefit pension plan by asset category:

   2016 2015 

Equity securities  67.5 %  67.7 % 
Fixed income securities  31.7   29.1  
Cash and cash equivalents  0.8   3.2 

    100.0 % 100.0 %

The defined benefit pension plan adheres to its Statement of 
Investment Policies and Procedures which includes investment 
objectives, asset allocation guidelines and investment limits by 
asset class. The defined benefit pension plan assets are invested 
in proprietary investment funds with the exception of cash on 
deposit with Schedule I Canadian chartered banks.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLANS

The Company maintains a number of defined contribution 
pension plans for eligible employees. The total expense recorded in 
Non-commission expense was $3.4 million (2015 - $2.0 million).

GROUP RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN (RSP)

The Company maintains a group RSP for eligible employees. 
The Company’s contributions are recorded in Non-commission 
expense as paid and totalled $6.2 million (2015 - $6.2 million).

NOTE 14  INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense:

   2016 2015

Income taxes recognized in net earnings    
 Current taxes    
  Tax on current year's earnings $ 193,151 $ 216,966 
  Adjustments in respect of prior years   (37,682)   (4,342)

     155,469   212,624  
 Deferred taxes   12,164   (2,374)

    $ 167,633 $ 210,250 

Effective income tax rate:

   2016 2015

Income taxes at Canadian federal and provincial statutory rates  26.84 %  26.72 % 
Effect of:  
 Proportionate share of affiliate's earnings (Note 8)  (2.96)  (3.01) 
 Tax loss consolidation (Note 25)  (2.56)  (2.44)  
 Reduction in income tax estimates related to certain tax filings  (3.59)  -   
 Other items  (0.03)  (0.05) 

Effective income tax rate  17.70 %  21.22 %

NOTE 13  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
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NOTE 14  INCOME TAXES (continued)

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Sources of deferred income taxes:

   2016 2015

Deferred income tax assets   
 Accrued benefit liabilities $ 58,395 $ 56,180 
 Loss carryforwards  3,693  4,555 
 Other  46,331  47,440

     108,419  108,175

Deferred income tax liabilities    
 Deferred selling commissions  184,656  195,090 
 Intangible assets  263,783  263,471 
 Other  39,285  15,119

     487,724  473,680

    $ 379,305 $ 365,505

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

   2016 2015

Deferred income tax assets $ 61,454 $ 64,946 
Deferred income tax liabilities  440,759  430,451

    $ 379,305 $ 365,505

NOTE 15  LONG-TERM DEBT

MATURITY RATE SERIES 2016 2015

March 7, 2018  6.58%  2003 $ 150,000 $ 150,000 
April 8, 2019  7.35%  2009  375,000  375,000  
December 13, 2027  6.65%  1997  125,000  125,000 
May 9, 2031  7.45%  2001  150,000  150,000 
December 31, 2032  7.00%  2002  175,000  175,000 
March 7, 2033  7.11%  2003  150,000  150,000 
December 10, 2040  6.00%  2010  200,000  200,000 

        $ 1,325,000 $ 1,325,000 

Long-term debt consists of unsecured debentures which are 
redeemable by the Company, in whole or in part, at any time, at 
the greater of par and a formula price based upon yields at the 
time of redemption.

Long-term debt is classified as other financial liabilities and is 
recorded at amortized cost.

Interest expense relating to long-term debt was $92.2 million 
(2015 - $92.1 million).

On January 26, 2017, the Company issued $400 million of 10 
year, 3.44% debentures priced to provide a yield to maturity of 
3.448% and $200 million of 30 year, 4.56% debentures priced 
to provide a yield to maturity of 4.560%. The offering was made 
pursuant to a prospectus supplement to the Company's short 
form base shelf prospectus dated November 29, 2016. The net 
proceeds will be used by the Company to finance a substantial 
portion of the announced acquisitions of an equity interest in 
China AMC (Note 7) and for general corporate purposes.
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NOTE 16  SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORIZED

Unlimited number of:
 First preferred shares, issuable in series
 Second preferred shares, issuable in series
 Class 1 non-voting shares
 Common shares, no par value

ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING
 2016 2015
  
  STATED  STATED 
 SHARES VALUE SHARES VALUE

Perpetual preferred shares - classified as equity:       
 First preferred shares, Series B  6,000,000 $ 150,000  6,000,000 $ 150,000

Common shares:       
 Balance, beginning of year 244,788,138  $ 1,623,948   251,469,346 $ 1,655,581
 Issued under Stock Option Plan (Note 18)  74,430  2,099  337,292  14,908
 Purchased for cancellation  (4,346,600)  (28,839)  (7,018,500)  (46,541)

 Balance, end of year 240,515,968  $ 1,597,208   244,788,138 $ 1,623,948

NORMAL COURSE ISSUER BID

In 2016, 4,346,600 (2015 - 7,018,500) shares were purchased 
at a cost of $155.7 million (2015 - $288.4 million). The premium 
paid to purchase the shares in excess of the stated value was 
charged to Retained earnings.

The Company commenced a normal course issuer bid on March 
20, 2016 which is effective until March 19, 2017. Pursuant to 
this bid, the Company may purchase up to 12.1 million or 5% 
of its common shares outstanding as at March 10, 2016. On 
March 20, 2015, the Company commenced a normal course 
issuer bid, effective until March 19, 2016, which authorized 
it to purchase up to 12.5 million or 5% of its common shares 
outstanding as at March 13, 2015. 

In connection with its normal course issuer bid, the Company 
has established an automatic securities purchase plan for 
its common shares. The automatic securities purchase plan 
provides standard instructions regarding how the Company’s 
common shares are to be purchased under its normal course 
issuer bid during certain pre-determined trading blackout 
periods. Outside of these pre-determined trading blackout 
periods, purchases under the Company’s normal course issuer 
bid will be completed based upon management’s discretion.

NOTE 17  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s capital management objective is to maximize 
shareholder returns while ensuring that the Company is 
capitalized in a manner which appropriately supports regulatory 
capital requirements, working capital needs and business 
expansion. The Company’s capital management practices are 
focused on preserving the quality of its financial position by 
maintaining a solid capital base and a strong balance sheet. 
Capital of the Company consists of long-term debt, perpetual 
preferred shares and common shareholders’ equity. The 
Company regularly assesses its capital management practices in 
response to changing economic conditions.

The Company’s capital is primarily utilized in its ongoing 
business operations to support working capital requirements, 
long-term investments made by the Company, business 
expansion and other strategic objectives. Subsidiaries subject 
to regulatory capital requirements include investment dealers, 
mutual fund dealers, exempt market dealers, portfolio managers, 
investment fund managers and a trust company. These 
subsidiaries are required to maintain minimum levels of capital 
based on either working capital, liquidity or shareholders’ equity. 
The Company’s subsidiaries have complied with all regulatory 
capital requirements.
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The total outstanding long-term debt was $1,325.0 million 
at December 31, 2016, unchanged from December 31, 2015. 
Long-term debt is comprised of debentures which are senior 
unsecured debt obligations of the Company subject to standard 
covenants, including negative pledges, but which do not include 
any specified financial or operational covenants.

Perpetual preferred shares of $150 million at December 31, 
2016 remain unchanged from December 31, 2015.

The Company purchased 4,346,600 common shares during 
the year ended December 31, 2016 at a cost of $155.7 million 

under its normal course issuer bid (Note 16). The Company 
commenced a normal course issuer bid on March 20, 2016 to 
purchase up to 5% of its common shares in order to mitigate 
the dilutive effect of stock options issued under the Company’s 
stock option plan and for other capital management purposes. 
Other activities in 2016 included the declaration of perpetual 
preferred share dividends of $8.9 million or $1.475 per share 
and common share dividends of $542.0 million or $2.25 per 
share. Changes in common share capital are reflected in the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.

NOTE 18  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

STOCK OPTION PLAN

Under the terms of the Company’s Stock Option Plan (Plan), 
options to purchase common shares are periodically granted to 
employees at prices not less than the weighted average trading 
price per common share on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 
five trading days preceding the date of the grant. The options 
are subject to time vesting conditions set out at the grant date. 
Options vest over a period of up to 7.5 years from the grant 
date and are exercisable no later than 10 years after the grant 
date. At December 31, 2016, 20,956,261 (2015 - 21,030,691) 
common shares were reserved for issuance under the Plan.

During 2016, the Company granted 2,226,665 options to 
employees (2015 - 1,295,770). The weighted-average fair 
value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 
2016 has been estimated at $1.68 per option (2015 - $3.49) 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted-
average closing share price at the grant dates was $35.57. The 
assumptions used in these valuation models include:

   2016 2015

Exercise price $ 35.50 $ 43.97 
Risk-free interest rate  0.95%  1.04%
Expected option life  6 years  6 years
Expected volatility  18.00%  20.00%
Expected dividend yield  6.34%  5.12%

Expected volatility has been estimated based on the historic 
volatility of the Company’s share price over six years which 
is reflective of the expected option life. Stock options were 
exercised regularly throughout 2016 and the average share price 
in 2016 was $36.55.

The Company recorded compensation expense related to its 
stock option program of $4.1 million (2015 - $4.4 million).

NOTE 17  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
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 2016 2015
  
  WEIGHTED-  WEIGHTED- 
 NUMBER OF AVERAGE NUMBER OF AVERAGE 
 OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE

Balance, beginning of year  7,441,165 $ 44.80  6,940,248 $ 44.57 
Granted  2,226,665  35.50  1,295,770  43.97 
Exercised  (74,430)  26.67  (337,292)  37.12 
Forfeited  (1,109,370)  39.86  (457,561)  44.59

Balance, end of year  8,484,030 $ 43.16  7,441,165 $ 44.80

Exercisable, end of year  3,858,518 $ 44.73  3,526,658 $ 44.28

 EXPIRY EXERCISE OPTIONS OPTIONS 
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 DATE PRICE ($) OUTSTANDING EXERCISABLE

 2017 50.60 - 50.92 514,076 514,076 
 2018 43.19 - 44.60 244,390 244,390 
 2019 26.67 - 44.00 342,483 338,239 
 2020 40.45 - 42.82 741,860 681,974 
 2021 42.49 - 46.72 554,949 513,178 
 2022 45.56 - 47.23 846,422 580,064 
 2023 44.73 - 47.26 1,100,030 524,580 
 2024 53.81 905,751 287,641 
 2025 43.28 - 43.97 1,159,759 174,376 
 2026 34.88 - 38.17 2,074,310 -

   8,484,030 3,858,518

PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT PLAN 

The Company has a Performance Share Unit (PSU) plan for 
eligible employees to assist in retaining and further aligning the 
interests of senior management with those of the shareholders. 
Under the terms of the plan, PSUs are awarded annually and 
are subject to time and performance vesting conditions. The 
value of each PSU is based on the share price of the Company’s 
common shares. The PSUs are cash settled and vest over a three 
year period. Certain employees can elect at the time of grant 
to receive a portion of their PSUs in the form of deferred share 
units which vest over a three year period. Deferred share units 
are redeemable when a participant is no longer an employee 
of the Company or any of its affiliates by a lump sum payment 
based on the value of the deferred share unit at that time. 
Additional PSUs and deferred share units are issued in respect 
of dividends payable on common shares based on a value of 
the PSU or deferred share unit at the dividend payment date. 
The Company recorded compensation expense, excluding the 
impact of hedging, of $10.9 million in 2016 (2015 - $4.3 million) 
and a liability of $14.6 million at December 31, 2016 (2015 - 
$11.6 million). 

SHARE PURCHASE PLANS

Under the Company’s share purchase plans, eligible employees 
and Investors Group consultants can elect each year to have 
a percentage of their annual earnings withheld, subject to a 
maximum, to purchase the Company’s common shares. The 
Company matches 50% of the contribution amounts. All con-
tributions are used by the plan trustee to purchase common 
shares in the open market. Shares purchased with Company 
contributions vest after a maximum period of three years fol-
lowing the date of purchase. The Company’s contributions 
are recorded in Non-commission expense as paid and totalled 
$12.4 million (2015 - $12.0 million).

DEFERRED SHARE UNIT PLAN

The Company has a Deferred Share Unit (DSU) plan for the 
directors of the Company to promote a greater alignment of 
interest between directors and shareholders of the Company. 
Under the terms of the plan, directors are required to receive 
50% of their annual board retainer in the form of DSUs and 
may elect to receive the balance of their annual board retainer 
in cash or DSUs. Directors may elect to receive certain fees in 
a combination of DSUs and cash. The number of DSUs granted 

NOTE 18  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

STOCK OPTION PLAN (continued)
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is determined by dividing the amount of remuneration payable 
by the average closing price on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
of the common shares of the Company on the last five days of 
the fiscal quarter (value of DSU). A director who has elected 
to receive DSUs will receive additional DSUs in respect of 
dividends payable on common shares, based on the value of a 
DSU at the dividend payment date. DSUs are redeemable when 
a participant is no longer a director, officer or employee of the 

Company or any of its affiliates by cash payments, based on the 
value of the deferred share units at that time. At December 31, 
2016, the fair value of the DSUs outstanding was $12.9 million 
(2015 - $12.3 million). Any difference between the change in 
fair value of the DSUs and the change in fair value of the total 
return swap, which is an economic hedge for the DSU plan, is 
recognized in Non-commission expense in the period in which 
the change occurs.

NOTE 19  ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

  AVAILABLE INVESTMENT  
 EMPLOYEE FOR SALE IN AFFILIATE  
2016 BENEFITS SECURITIES AND OTHER TOTAL

Balance, beginning of year $ (111,874) $ 2,658 $ 77,222 $ (31,994) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)  961  5,959  (57,368)  (50,448)

Balance, end of year $ (110,913) $ 8,617 $ 19,854 $ (82,442)

2015

Balance, beginning of year $ (123,510) $ 194 $ 12,598 $ (110,718) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)  11,636  2,464  64,624  78,724 

Balance, end of year $ (111,874) $ 2,658 $ 77,222 $ (31,994)

Amounts are recorded net of tax.

NOTE 20 RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company actively manages its liquidity, credit and market risks.

LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING RISK RELATED TO FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity and funding risk is the risk of the inability to generate 
or obtain sufficient cash in a timely and cost-effective manner 
to meet contractual or anticipated commitments as they come 
due or arise.

The Company’s liquidity management practices include: 

• Maintaining liquid assets and lines of credit to satisfy near 
term liquidity needs.

• Ensuring effective controls over liquidity management 
processes.

• Performing regular cash forecasts and stress testing.

• Regular assessment of capital market conditions and the 
Company’s ability to access bank and capital market funding. 

• Ongoing efforts to diversify and expand long-term mortgage 
funding sources.

• Oversight of liquidity by management and by Committees of 
the Board of Directors.

A key funding requirement for the Company is the funding of 
commissions paid on the sale of investment funds. Commissions 
on the sale of investment funds continue to be paid from 
operating cash flows.

The Company also maintains sufficient liquidity to fund and 
temporarily hold mortgages pending sale or securitization to 
long-term funding sources. Through its mortgage banking 
operations, residential mortgages are sold to third parties 
including certain mutual funds, institutional investors through 
private placements, Canadian bank-sponsored securitization 
trusts, and by issuance and sale of National Housing Act 
Mortgage Backed Securities (NHA MBS) securities including 
sales to Canada Housing Trust under the Canada Mortgage 
Bond Program (CMB Program). 

NOTE 18  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

DEFERRED SHARE UNIT PLAN (continued)
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LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING RISK RELATED TO FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (continued)  

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are approved issuers of 
NHA MBS and are approved sellers into the CMB Program. 
Capacity for sales under the CMB Program consists of 

participation in new CMB issues and reinvestment of principal 
repayments held in the Principal Reinvestment Accounts.

The Company maintains committed capacity within certain 
Canadian bank-sponsored securitization trusts.

The Company’s contractual maturities of certain financial liabilities were as follows:

  LESS THAN  
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 ($ millions) DEMAND 1 YEAR 1 – 5 YEARS AFTER 5 YEARS TOTAL

Derivative financial instruments   $ – $ 17.7 $ 20.1 $ 0.4 $ 38.2
Deposits and certificates    453.4  8.2  7.4  2.2  471.2
Obligations to securitization entities    –  1,340.0  6,310.5  70.5  7,721.0
Long–term debt    –  –  525.0  800.0  1,325.0
Pension funding (1)    –  37.5  –  –  37.5

Total contractual maturities   $ 453.4 $ 1,403.4 $ 6,863.0 $ 873.1 $ 9,592.9

(1)  The next required actuarial valuation will be completed based on a measurement date of December 31, 2016. Pension funding requirements beyond 2017 are subject to significant 
variability and will be determined based on future actuarial valuations. Pension contribution decisions are subject to change, as contributions are affected by many factors including 
market performance, regulatory requirements, changes in assumptions and management's ability to change funding policy.

In addition to the Company’s current balance of cash and 
cash equivalents, liquidity is available through the Company’s 
lines of credit. The Company’s lines of credit with various 
Schedule I Canadian chartered banks totalled $825 million as at 
December 31, 2016, compared to $525 million at December 31, 
2015. The lines of credit as at December 31, 2016 consisted 
of committed lines of $650 million (2015 - $350 million) and 
uncommitted lines of $175 million (2015 - $175 million). 
The Company has accessed its uncommitted lines of credit in 
the past; however, any advances made by a bank under the 
uncommitted lines of credit are at the bank’s sole discretion. 
As at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the 
Company was not utilizing its committed lines of credit or its 
uncommitted lines of credit.

The Company’s liquidity position and its management of 
liquidity and funding risk have not changed materially since 
December 31, 2015.

CREDIT RISK RELATED TO FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss to the Company 
if a counterparty to a transaction fails to meet its obligations. 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, securities holdings, 
mortgage portfolios, and derivatives are subject to credit risk. 
The Company monitors its credit risk management practices on 
an ongoing basis to evaluate their effectiveness.

At December 31, 2016, cash and cash equivalents of 
$611.0 million (2015 - $983.0 million) consisted of cash 

balances of $84.5 million (2015 - $105.4 million) on deposit 
with Canadian chartered banks and cash equivalents of 
$526.5 million (2015 - $877.6 million). Cash equivalents are 
comprised of Government of Canada treasury bills totalling 
$44.1 million (2015 - $132.2 million), provincial government 
treasury bills and promissory notes of $197.1 million (2015 - 
$446.6 million), bankers’ acceptances and other short-term 
notes issued by Canadian chartered banks of $246.8 million 
(2015 - $298.8 million), and highly rated corporate commercial 
paper of $38.5 million (2015 - nil). The Company manages 
credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents by adhering to 
its Investment Policy that outlines credit risk parameters and 
concentration limits. The Company regularly reviews the credit 
ratings of its counterparties. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk on these financial instruments is their carrying value. 

As at December 31, 2016, residential mortgages, recorded on 
the Company’s balance sheet, of $8.0 billion (2015 - $7.4 billion) 
consisted of $7.6 billion sold to securitization programs (2015 
- $7.0 billion), $339.5 million held pending sale or securitization 
(2015 - $384.2 million) and $29.2 million related to the 
Company’s intermediary operations (2015 - $27.7 million).

The Company manages credit risk related to residential 
mortgages through: 

• Adhering to its lending policy and underwriting standards;

• Its loan servicing capabilities; 

NOTE 20  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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• Use of client-insured mortgage default insurance and 
mortgage portfolio default insurance held by the Company; 
and 

• Its practice of originating its mortgages exclusively through its 
own network of Mortgage Planning Specialists and Investors 
Group Consultants as part of a client’s comprehensive 
financial plan. 

In certain instances, credit risk is also limited by the terms and 
nature of securitization transactions as described below: 

• Under the NHA MBS program totalling $4.9 billion (2015 
- $4.6 billion), the Company is obligated to make timely 
payment of principal and coupons irrespective of whether 
such payments were received from the mortgage borrower. 
However, as required by the NHA MBS program, 100% of the 
loans are insured by an approved insurer.

• Credit risk for mortgages securitized by transfer to bank-
sponsored securitization trusts totalling $2.7 billion 
(2015 - $2.4 billion) is limited to amounts held in cash 
reserve accounts and future net interest income, the fair 
values of which were $54.7 million (2015 - $47.7 million) 
and $45.0 million (2015 - $38.9 million), respectively, at 
December 31, 2016. Cash reserve accounts are reflected 
on the balance sheet, whereas rights to future net interest 
income are not reflected on the balance sheet and will be 
recorded over the life of the mortgages. This risk is further 
mitigated by insurance with 29.1% of mortgages held in ABCP 
Trusts insured at December 31, 2016 (2015 - 36.6%). 

At December 31, 2016, residential mortgages recorded on 
balance sheet were 73.9% insured (2015 - 76.8%). As at 
December 31, 2016, impaired mortgages on these portfolios 
were $2.6 million, compared to $2.9 million at December 31, 
2015. Uninsured non-performing mortgages over 90 days 
on these portfolios were $0.9 million at December 31, 2016, 
compared to $1.4 million at December 31, 2015.

The Company also retains certain elements of credit risk on 
mortgage loans sold to the Investors Mortgage and Short 
Term Income Fund and to the Investors Canadian Corporate 
Bond Fund through an agreement to repurchase mortgages 
in certain circumstances benefiting the funds. These loans are 
not recorded on the Company’s balance sheet as the Company 
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership associated with these loans.

The Company regularly reviews the credit quality of the 
mortgages and the adequacy of the collective allowance for 
credit losses.

The Company’s collective allowance for credit losses was 
$0.7 million at December 31, 2016, unchanged from December 31, 
2015, and is considered adequate by management to absorb 
all credit-related losses in the mortgage portfolios based 
on: i) historical credit performance experience and recent 
trends, ii) current portfolio credit metrics and other relevant 
characteristics, and iii) regular stress testing of losses under 
adverse real estate market conditions.

The Company’s exposure to and management of credit risk 
related to cash and cash equivalents, fixed income securities 
and mortgage portfolios have not changed materially since 
December 31, 2015.

The Company is exposed to credit risk through derivative 
contracts it utilizes to hedge interest rate risk, to facilitate 
securitization transactions, to hedge market risk related to 
certain stock-based compensation arrangements and to hedge 
foreign exchange risk on payments due on the close of the 
China AMC transaction. These derivatives are discussed more 
fully under the Market Risk section.

To the extent that the fair value of the derivatives is in a 
gain position, the Company is exposed to credit risk that 
its counterparties fail to fulfil their obligations under these 
arrangements.

The Company’s derivative activities are managed in accordance 
with its Investment Policy which includes counterparty limits 
and other parameters to manage counterparty risk. The 
aggregate credit risk exposure related to derivatives that 
are in a gain position of $42.8 million (2015 - $58.4 million) 
does not give effect to any netting agreements or collateral 
arrangements. The exposure to credit risk, considering netting 
agreements and collateral arrangements and including rights 
to future net interest income, was $3.0 million at December 31, 
2016 (2015 - $1.0 million). Counterparties are all Canadian 
Schedule I chartered banks and, as a result, management 
has determined that the Company’s overall credit risk related 
to derivatives was not significant at December 31, 2016. 
Management of credit risk related to derivatives has not 
changed materially since December 31, 2015.

NOTE 20  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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MARKET RISK RELATED TO FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Market risk is the potential for loss to the Company from 
changes in the values of its financial instruments due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates, interest rates or equity prices.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its loan portfolio 
and on certain of the derivative financial instruments used in the 
Company’s mortgage banking operations. 

The Company manages interest rate risk associated with its 
mortgage banking operations by entering into interest rate 
swaps with Canadian Schedule I chartered banks as follows:

• The Company has in certain instances funded floating rate 
mortgages with fixed rate Canada Mortgage Bonds as part 
of the securitization transactions under the CMB Program. 
As previously discussed, as part of the CMB Program, the 
Company is party to a swap whereby it is entitled to receive 
investment returns on reinvested mortgage principal and is 
obligated to pay Canada Mortgage Bond coupons. This swap 
had a negative fair value of $23.1 million (2015 - negative 
$47.4 million) and an outstanding notional value of $1.0 billion 
at December 31, 2016 (2015 - $740 million). The Company 
enters into interest rate swaps with Canadian Schedule I 
chartered banks to hedge the risk that the interest rates 
earned on floating rate mortgages and reinvestment returns 
decline. The fair value of these swaps totalled $30.0 million 
(2015 - $54.5 million), on an outstanding notional amount of 
$2.1 billion at December 31, 2016 (2015 - $1.8 billion). The 
net fair value of these swaps of $6.9 million at December 31, 
2016 (2015 - $7.1 million) are recorded on balance sheet and 
have an outstanding notional amount of $3.1 billion (2015 - 
$2.6 billion).

• The Company is exposed to the impact that changes in 
interest rates may have on the value of mortgages committed 
to or held pending sale or securitization to long-term 
funding sources. The Company enters into interest rate 

swaps to hedge the interest rate risk related to funding 
costs for mortgages held by the Company pending sale 
or securitization. The fair value of these swaps totalled 
$0.4 million (2015 - negative $0.1 million) on an outstanding 
notional amount of $123 million at December 31, 2016 (2015 
- $88 million).

As at December 31, 2016, the impact to annual net earnings 
of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would have been 
an increase of approximately $0.2 million (2015 - decrease of 
$0.7 million). The Company’s exposure to and management 
of interest rate risk have not changed materially since 
December 31, 2015.

Equity Price Risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risk on its equity 
securities (Note 4) which are classified as either available for sale 
or fair value through profit or loss. 

The Company sponsors a number of deferred compensation 
arrangements for employees where payments to participants 
are deferred and linked to the performance of the common 
shares of IGM Financial Inc. The Company hedges its exposure 
to this risk through the use of forward agreements and total 
return swaps.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on its 
investments in Personal Capital and China AMC. The Company 
has hedged its exposure to the final payments due on the close 
of the China AMC transaction through the use of forward 
currency contracts.

RISKS RELATED TO ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Risks related to the performance of the equity markets, changes 
in interest rates and changes in foreign currencies relative to 
the Canadian dollar can have a significant impact on the level 
and mix of assets under management. These changes in assets 
under management directly impact earnings.

NOTE 21  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company enters into derivative contracts which are 
either exchange-traded or negotiated in the over-the-counter 
market on a diversified basis with Schedule I chartered banks 
or Canadian bank-sponsored securitization trusts that are 
counterparties to the Company’s securitization transactions. 
In all cases, the derivative contracts are used for non-trading 
purposes. Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements 

between two parties to exchange the related interest payments 
based on a specified notional amount and reference rate for a 
specified period. Total return swaps are contractual agreements 
to exchange payments based on a specified notional amount 
and the underlying security for a specific period. Options are 
contractual agreements which convey the right, but not the 
obligation, to buy or sell specific financial instruments at a 

NOTE 20  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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fixed price at a future date. Forward contracts are contractual 
agreements to buy or sell a financial instrument on a future date 
at a specified price.

Certain of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are 
subject to master netting arrangements and are presented on 
a gross basis. The amount subject to credit risk is limited to the 
current fair value of the instruments which are in a gain position 
and recorded as assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 

total estimated fair value represents the total amount that the 
Company would receive or pay to terminate all agreements at 
each year end. However, this would not result in a gain or loss 
to the Company as the derivative instruments which correlate 
to certain assets and liabilities provide offsetting gains or losses.

The following table summarizes the Company’s derivative 
financial instruments:

 NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE
  
 1 YEAR 1–5 OVER  CREDIT  
2016 OR LESS YEARS 5 YEARS TOTAL RISK ASSET LIABILITY

Swaps $ 1,476,604 $ 1,787,241 $ 16,315 $ 3,280,160 $ 40,970 $ 40,970 $ 32,277 
Options purchased  467,200  –  –  467,200  67  67  –  
Forward contracts  326,499  20,046  –  346,545  1,784  1,784  5,886 

   $ 2,270,303 $ 1,807,287 $ 16,315 $ 4,093,905 $ 42,821 $ 42,821 $ 38,163 

2015

Swaps $ 743,122 $ 1,929,462 $ 2,901 $ 2,675,485 $ 58,364 $ 58,364 $ 52,621 
Forward contracts  7,848  18,661  –  26,509  –  –  5,215 

   $ 750,970 $ 1,948,123 $ 2,901 $ 2,701,994 $ 58,364 $ 58,364 $ 57,836 

The credit risk related to the Company’s derivative financial 
instruments after giving effect to any netting agreements was 
$4.7 million (2015 - $1.8 million).

The credit risk related to the Company’s derivative financial 
instruments after giving effect to netting agreements and 

including rights to future net interest income, was $3.0 million 
(2015 - $1.0 million). Rights to future net interest income are 
related to the Company’s securitization activities and are not 
reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

NOTE 22  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Fair values are management’s estimates and are calculated using 
market conditions at a specific point in time and may not reflect 
future fair values. The calculations are subjective in nature, involve 
uncertainties and are matters of significant judgment.

All financial instruments measured at fair value and those for 
which fair value is disclosed are classified into one of three levels 
that distinguish fair value measurements by the significance of 
the inputs used for valuation.

Fair value is determined based on the price that would be 
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the most 
advantageous market, utilizing a hierarchy of three different 
valuation techniques, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

Level 1 –  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 –  Observable inputs other than Level 1 quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted 
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in 
markets that are not active; or inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable or corroborated by 
observable market data; and

Level 3 –  Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or 
no market activity. Valuation techniques are primarily 
model-based.

Markets are considered inactive when transactions are not 
occurring with sufficient regularity. Inactive markets may be 
characterized by a significant decline in the volume and level 
of observed trading activity or through large or erratic bid/
offer spreads. In those instances where traded markets are 
not considered sufficiently active, fair value is measured using 

NOTE 21  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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valuation models which may utilize predominantly observable 
market inputs (Level 2) or may utilize predominantly non-
observable market inputs (Level 3). Management considers all 
reasonably available information including indicative broker 
quotations, any available pricing for similar instruments, 
recent arm’s length market transactions, any relevant 
observable market inputs, and internal model-based estimates. 
Management exercises judgment in determining the most 
appropriate inputs and the weighting ascribed to each input as 
well as in the selection of valuation methodologies.

Fair value is determined using the following methods and 
assumptions:

  Securities and other financial assets and financial liabilities 
are valued using quoted prices from active markets, when 
available. When a quoted market price is not readily available, 
valuation techniques are used that require assumptions 
related to discount rates and the timing and amount of future 
cash flows. Wherever possible, observable market inputs are 
used in the valuation techniques.

  Loans classified as Level 2 are valued using market interest 
rates for loans with similar credit risk and maturity.

  Loans classified as Level 3 are valued by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at prevailing market yields. 

  Obligations to securitization entities are valued by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at prevailing market yields for 
securities issued by these securitization entities having similar 
terms and characteristics.

  Deposits and certificates are valued by discounting the 
contractual cash flows using market interest rates currently 
offered for deposits with similar terms and credit risks.

  Long-term debt is valued using quoted prices for each 
debenture available in the market.

  Derivative financial instruments are valued based on quoted 
market prices, where available, prevailing market rates for 
instruments with similar characteristics and maturities, or 
discounted cash flow analysis.

Level 1 financial instruments include exchange-traded equity 
securities and open-end investment fund units and other 
financial liabilities in instances where there are quoted prices 
available from active markets.

Level 2 assets and liabilities include fixed income securities, loans, 
derivative financial instruments, deposits and certificates and long-
term debt. The fair value of fixed income securities is determined 
using quoted market prices or independent dealer price quotes. 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments and deposits and 
certificates are determined using valuation models, discounted 
cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques using primarily 
observable market inputs. The fair value of long-term debt is 
determined using indicative broker quotes.

Level 3 assets and liabilities include securities with little or 
no trading activity valued using broker-dealer quotes, loans, 
other financial assets, obligations to securitization entities and 
derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments 
consist of principal reinvestment account swaps which represent 
the component of a swap entered into under the CMB Program 
whereby the Company pays coupons on Canada Mortgage 
Bonds and receives investment returns on the reinvestment 
of repaid mortgage principal. Fair value is determined by 
discounting the projected cashflows of the swaps. The notional 
amount, which is an input used to determine the fair value 
of the swap, is determined using an average unobservable 
prepayment rate of 15% which is based on historical 
prepayment patterns. An increase (decrease) in the assumed 
mortgage prepayment rate increases (decreases) the notional 
amount of the swap.

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair 
values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including 
their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The table distinguishes 
between those financial instruments recorded at fair value and 
those recorded at amortized cost. The table also excludes fair 
value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. These items include cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts and other receivables, certain other 
financial assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and 
certain other financial liabilities.

NOTE 22  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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   FAIR VALUE

 CARRYING VALUE LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL 

2016 

Financial assets recorded at fair value
 Securities
  –Available for sale   $ 158,380 $ 6,431 $ – $ 151,949 $ 158,380
  –Held for trading    66,804  63,049  2,317  1,438  66,804
 Loans     
  –Held for trading    339,466  –  339,466  –  339,466
 Derivative financial instruments     42,821  –  39,976  2,845  42,821
Financial assets recorded at amortized cost
 Loans     
  –Loans and receivables    7,643,803  –  29,452  7,838,295  7,867,747
Financial liabilities recorded at fair value     
 Derivative financial instruments    38,163  –  12,263  25,900  38,163
 Other financial liabilities    9,781  9,770  11  –  9,781
Financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost     
 Deposits and certificates    471,202  –  472,219  –  472,219
 Obligations to securitization entities    7,721,024  –  –  7,873,118  7,873,118
 Long–term debt    1,325,000  –  1,610,942  –  1,610,942

2015 

Financial assets recorded at fair value
 Securities
  –Available for sale   $ 15,365 $ 6,092 $ – $ 9,273 $ 15,365
  –Held for trading    44,670  42,215  1,167  1,288  44,670
 Loans         
  –Held for trading    384,217  –  384,217  –  384,217
 Derivative financial instruments    58,364  –  58,364  –  58,364
Financial assets recorded at amortized cost         
 Loans         
  –Loans and receivables    7,008,231  –  27,856  7,238,046  7,265,902
Financial liabilities recorded at fair value         
 Derivative financial instruments    57,836  –  10,422  47,414  57,836
 Other financial liabilities    4,145  4,145  –  –  4,145
Financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost         
 Deposits and certificates    310,074  –  311,770  –  311,770
 Obligations to securitization entities    7,092,414  –  –  7,272,394  7,272,394
 Long–term debt    1,325,000  –  1,661,150  –  1,661,150

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in 2016 and 2015.

NOTE 22  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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The following table provides a summary of changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

   GAINS/(LOSSES) 
  GAINS/ INCLUDED IN 
  (LOSSES) OTHER PURCHASES 
 BALANCE INCLUDED IN COMPREHENSIVE AND  TRANSFERS BALANCE 
2016 JANUARY 1 NET EARNINGS(1) INCOME(2) ISSUANCES SETTLEMENTS IN/OUT DECEMBER 31

Assets 
 Securities 
  –Available for sale $ 9,273 $ – $ 6,746 $ 135,930 $ – $ – $ 151,949 
  –Held for trading  1,288  (51)  –  183  –  18  1,438 
Liabilities 
 Derivative financial 
  instruments, net  47,414  11,218  –  4,112  17,253  –  23,055

2015

Assets 
 Securities 
  –Available for sale(3) $ – $ – $ 3,562 $ – $ – $ 5,711 $ 9,273 
  –Held for trading  1,603  21  –  69  –  (405)  1,288 
Liabilities               
 Derivative financial               
  instruments, net  26,327  (33,929)  –  (143)  12,699  –  47,414

(1)  Included in Net investment income in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

(2)  Included in Available for sale securities – Net unrealized gains (losses) in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

(3)  Available for sale securities previously recorded at cost were remeasured at fair value using recent market transactions.

NOTE 23 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

   2016 2015 

Earnings   
 Net earnings $ 779,304 $ 780,542 
 Perpetual preferred share dividends  8,850  8,850

 Net earnings available to common shareholders $ 770,454 $ 771,692

Number of common shares (in thousands)   
 Average number of common shares outstanding  241,300  248,173 
 Add: Potential exercise of outstanding stock options(1)  102  126

 Average number of common shares outstanding – Diluted basis  241,402  248,299

Earnings per common share (in dollars)  
 Basic  $ 3.19 $ 3.11 
 Diluted $ 3.19 $ 3.11

(1) Excludes 1,809 thousand shares in 2016 related to outstanding stock options that were anti-dilutive (2015 - 1,145 thousand).

NOTE 22  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company is subject to legal actions arising in the normal 
course of its business. Although it is difficult to predict the 
outcome of any such legal actions, based on current knowledge 
and consultation with legal counsel, management does not 
expect the outcome of any of these matters, individually or in 
aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
consolidated financial position. The Company is currently in 
discussions with the Ontario Securities Commission regarding 
potential distributions to Investment Planning Counsel clients, 
related to clients who may have been eligible for lower fees 
in certain circumstances. At December 31, 2016, no reliable 
estimate of a possible payment was determinable.

COMMITMENTS

The Company is committed to the following annual future 
minimum lease payments under its operating leases: 2017 - 

$30.0 million; 2018 - $26.3 million; 2019 - $22.9 million; 2020 
- $20.5 million; and 2021 and thereafter - $56.8 million.

GUARANTEES

In the normal course of operations, the Company executes 
agreements that provide for indemnifications to third parties in 
transactions such as business dispositions, business acquisitions, 
loans and securitization transactions. The Company has also 
agreed to indemnify its directors and officers. The nature 
of these agreements precludes the possibility of making 
a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount 
the Company could be required to pay third parties as the 
agreements often do not specify a maximum amount and 
the amounts are dependent on the outcome of future 
contingent events, the nature and likelihood of which cannot 
be determined. Historically, the Company has not made any 
payments under such indemnification agreements. No provisions 
have been recognized related to these agreements.

NOTE 25  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED ENTITIES

The Company enters into transactions with The Great-West 
Life Assurance Company (Great-West), London Life Insurance 
Company (London Life) and The Canada Life Assurance 
Company (Canada Life), which are all subsidiaries of its affiliate, 
Lifeco, which is a subsidiary of Power Financial Corporation. 
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and 
have been recorded at fair value:

• During 2016 and 2015, the Company provided to and 
received from Great-West certain administrative services. The 
Company distributes insurance products under a distribution 
agreement with Great-West and Canada Life and received 
$101.8 million in distribution fees (2015 - $70.9 million). The 
Company received $16.9 million (2015 - $17.5 million) and 
paid $21.7 million (2015 - $21.2 million) to Great-West and 
related subsidiary companies for the provision of sub-advisory 
services for certain investment funds. The Company paid 
$70.5 million (2015 - $72.0 million) to London Life related to 
the distribution of certain investment funds of the Company.

• During 2016, the Company sold residential mortgage loans 
to Great-West and London Life for $183.7 million (2015 - 
$205.6 million).

In 2014 and 2015, the Company entered into tax loss 
consolidation transactions with its parent company, Power 
Financial Corporation, after obtaining advance tax rulings. 
The Company acquired an aggregate of $2.00 billion of 4.51% 
preferred shares of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Power 
Financial Corporation and, as sole consideration for the 
preferred shares, the Company issued $2.00 billion of 4.50% 
secured demand debentures to Power Financial Corporation. 
The Company has legally enforceable rights to settle these 
financial instruments on a net basis and the Company intends 
to exercise these rights.

The preferred shares and debentures and related dividend 
income and interest expense are offset in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Company. Tax savings arise due 
to the tax deductibility of the interest expense.

NOTE 24  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES
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KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

The total compensation and other benefits to directors and employees classified as key management, being individuals having authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, are as follows:

   2016 2015

Compensation and employee benefits $ 5,081 $ 4,451 
Post-employment benefits  7,326  1,215 
Share-based payments  3,666  3,973

    $ 16,073 $ 9,639

Share-based payments exclude the fair value remeasurement of the deferred share units associated with changes in the Company’s 
share price (Note 18).

NOTE 26  SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company’s reportable segments are:

• Investors Group

• Mackenzie

• Corporate and Other

These segments reflect the current organizational structure 
and internal financial reporting. Management measures and 
evaluates the performance of these segments based on earnings 
before interest and taxes.

Investors Group earns fee-based revenues in the conduct of 
its core business activities which are primarily related to the 
distribution, management and administration of its investment 
funds. It also earns fee revenues from the provision of brokerage 

services and the distribution of insurance and banking products. 
In addition, Investors Group earns intermediary revenues 
primarily from mortgage banking and servicing activities and 
from the assets funded by deposit and certificate products.

Mackenzie earns fee-based revenues from services it provides as 
fund manager to its investment funds and as investment advisor 
to sub-advisory and institutional accounts.

Corporate and Other includes Investment Planning Counsel, 
equity income from its investment in Lifeco (Note 8), net 
investment income on unallocated investments, other income, 
and also includes consolidation elimination entries.

NOTE 25  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
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 INVESTORS  CORPORATE 
 GROUP MACKENZIE AND OTHER TOTAL

2016

Revenues       
 Management fees $ 1,295,975 $ 666,750 $ 62,456 $ 2,025,181 
 Administration fees  309,903  93,028  18,687  421,618 
 Distribution fees  227,105  9,253  173,777  410,135 
 Net investment income and other  71,668  4,042  112,139  187,849

     1,904,651  773,073  367,059  3,044,783

Expenses       
 Commission  624,883  291,346  173,819  1,090,048 
 Non-commission  543,561  310,282  61,759  915,602

     1,168,444  601,628  235,578  2,005,650

Earnings before undernoted $ 736,207 $ 171,445 $ 131,481  1,039,133

Interest expense        (92,196)

Earnings before income taxes        946,937 
Income taxes        167,633

Net earnings        779,304 
Perpetual preferred share dividends        8,850

Net earnings available to common shareholders       $ 770,454 

 
Identifiable assets $ 9,548,190 $ 1,294,982 $ 2,121,854 $ 12,965,026 
Goodwill  1,347,781  1,168,580  143,906  2,660,267

Total assets $ 10,895,971 $ 2,463,562 $ 2,265,760 $ 15,625,293

2015

Revenues       
 Management fees $ 1,277,897 $ 700,149 $ 60,935 $ 2,038,981 
 Administration fees  302,797  98,521  16,245  417,563 
 Distribution fees  195,533  10,602  173,423  379,558 
 Net investment income and other  70,048  5,985  119,157  195,190

     1,846,275  815,257  369,760  3,031,292

Expenses  
 Commission  586,267  304,484  171,318  1,062,069 
 Non-commission  499,333  294,493  58,575  852,401

     1,085,600  598,977  229,893  1,914,470

Earnings before undernoted $ 760,675 $ 216,280 $ 139,867  1,116,822

Interest expense        (92,115) 
Restructuring and other charges        (33,915)

Earnings before income taxes        990,792 
Income taxes        210,250

Net earnings        780,542 
Perpetual preferred share dividends        8,850

Net earnings available to common shareholders       $ 771,692

 
Identifiable assets $ 8,683,234 $ 1,330,639 $ 2,157,352 $ 12,171,225 
Goodwill  1,347,781  1,168,580  143,906  2,660,267

Total assets $ 10,031,015 $ 2,499,219 $ 2,301,258 $ 14,831,492

NOTE 26  SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)
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QUARTERLY REVIEW

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2016 2015
  
($ thousands, except per share amounts) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenues                
 Management  $ 525,651 $ 518,308 $ 497,386 $ 483,836 $ 501,313 $ 508,531 $ 517,279 $ 509,111
 Administration  109,009  107,931  104,328  100,350  104,737  104,595  105,995  102,236
 Distribution  117,777  101,048  96,342  94,968  97,044  92,695  95,286  94,533
 Net investment income and other  22,223  23,114  22,409  15,877  19,853  19,545  15,161  29,081
 Proportionate share of affiliate's earnings  26,493  26,049  23,876  27,808  29,178  26,362  29,508  25,902

     801,153  776,450  744,341  722,839  752,125  751,728  763,229  760,863

Expenses                
 Commission  288,203  273,202  267,128  261,515  264,357  263,158  267,687  266,867
 Non–commission  231,115  224,880  231,740  227,867  245,023  208,471  215,853  213,622
 Interest  23,205  23,165  22,913  22,913  23,201  23,200  22,964  22,750

     542,523  521,247  521,781  512,295  532,581  494,829  506,504  503,239

Earnings before income taxes  258,630  255,203  222,560  210,544  219,544  256,899  256,725  257,624
Income taxes  23,419  55,389  47,457  41,368  43,474  55,660  56,051  55,065

Net earnings   235,211  199,814  175,103  169,176  176,070  201,239  200,674  202,559
Perpetual preferred share dividends  2,212  2,213  2,212  2,213  2,212  2,213  2,212  2,213

Net earnings available to 
 common shareholders $ 232,999 $ 197,601 $ 172,891 $ 166,963 $ 173,858 $ 199,026 $ 198,462 $ 200,346

Reconciliation of Non–IFRS 
 Financial Measures(1)                
Operating earnings available to common 
 shareholders – non – IFRS measure $ 198,999 $ 197,601 $ 172,891 $ 166,963 $ 198,167 $ 199,026 $ 198,462 $ 200,346
 Reduction in income tax estimates  
  related to certain tax filings  34,000  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
 Restructuring and other charges, net of tax  –  –  –  –  (24,309)  –  –  –
Net earnings available to common 
 shareholders – IFRS $ 232,999 $ 197,601 $ 172,891 $ 166,963 $ 173,858 $ 199,026 $ 198,462 $ 200,346

Diluted earnings per share (¢)                
 Net earnings  97  82  72  69  71  81  80  80
 Operating earnings (1)  83  82  72  69  81  81  80  80
Dividends per share (¢)  56.25  56.25  56.25  56.25  56.25  56.25  56.25  56.25

STATISTICAL DATA ($ millions)

Mutual funds 
 Investors Group 
  Sales $ 2,089 $ 1,626 $ 1,778 $ 2,267 $ 1,821 $ 1,810 $ 1,894 $ 2,365
  Redemption rate (%)  – total  9.6  9.7  9.6  9.5  9.4  9.3  9.3  9.2 

– long-term funds  8.8  8.9  8.8  8.7  8.7  8.4  8.5  8.5
  Net sales (redemptions)  261  (194)  (168)  467  –  139  27  588
  Assets under management  81,240  78,892  76,203   75,223  74,897  73,532  75,844  76,497
 Mackenzie                 
  Sales  1,953  1,651  1,494  1,841  1,652  1,485  1,855  1,973
  Redemption rate (%)  – total  15.6  16.0  15.9  16.8  16.6  16.5  16.3  14.9 

– long-term funds  15.0  15.4  15.4  16.4  16.2  16.0  15.9  14.4
  Net sales (redemptions)  (24)  (70)  (375)  (198)  (427)  (180)  (545)  (106)
  Assets under management  51,314  50,252  48,210  47,627  48,445  47,420  49,853  50,944
 Investment Planning Counsel                
  Sales  207  177  213  262  203  185  157  196
  Redemption rate (%)  – total  16.0  15.8  15.8  14.9  13.8  13.4  13.1  12.9 

– long-term funds  15.7  15.5  15.6  14.7  13.6  13.1  12.8  12.6
  Net sales (redemptions)  24  35  31  79  42  54  21  60
  Assets under management  4,501  4,485  4,316  4,229  4,178  4,005  4,053  4,126
 Combined mutual fund assets 
  under management (2)  137,053  133,626  128,725  127,076  127,517  124,899  129,691  131,509
Total assets under management (2)  141,829  139,867  134,681  132,913  133,648  130,923  135,971  148,388
Corporate assets   15,625  15,177  15,113  14,792  14,831  14,592  14,491  14,415

Consultants – Investors Group  4,947  5,380  5,366  5,321  5,320  5,221  5,176  5,156

(1) Refer to page 17 of the MD&A for an explanation of the Company's use of non–IFRS financial measures.

(2) Adjusted for inter–segment assets.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

      CAGR(1)      CAGR(1) 
     IFRS 5 YEAR IFRS    CGAAP 10 YEAR
   
($ thousands, except  
per share amounts) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 % 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 %

        RESTATED 

Fee income 2,856,934 2,833,355 2,762,578 2,513,186 2,424,574 2.1 2,571,076 2,467,813 2,227,028 2,502,516 2,700,961 1.8 
Net investment income 
 and other 187,849 194,590 164,706 176,836 152,582 3.1 161,376 140,874 62,945 165,563 191,227 (1.1)

    3,044,783 3,027,945 2,927,284 2,690,022 2,577,156 2.2 2,732,452 2,608,687 2,289,973 2,668,079 2,892,188 1.6 
Expenses  2,097,846 2,037,153 1,962,321 1,708,642 1,618,989 5.1 1,635,154 1,600,831 1,517,343 1,644,729 1,658,371 3.4

Income before undernoted 946,937 990,792 964,963 981,380 958,167 (2.9) 1,097,298 1,007,856 772,630 1,023,350 1,233,817 (1.6) 
Income taxes 167,633 210,250 202,862 210,626 190,504 (7.7) 250,497 268,805 216,595 292,551 354,682 (6.6)

    779,304 780,542 762,101 770,754 767,663 (1.6) 846,801 739,051 556,035 730,799 879,135 – 
Discontinued operations – – – – –  62,644 1,753 3,057 – – 

Net earnings 779,304 780,542 762,101 770,754 767,663 (3.0) 909,445 740,804 559,092 730,799 879,135 – 
Perpetual preferred 
 share dividends 8,850 8,850 8,850 8,850 8,850  8,850 10,105 – – – 

Net earnings available to 
 common shareholders 770,454 771,692 753,251 761,904 758,813 (3.1) 900,595 730,699 559,092 730,799 879,135 (0.1)

Operating earnings available 
 to common shareholders (2) 736,454 796,001 826,100 763,510 746,404 (2.4) 832,991 758,943 618,861 766,142 863,867 (0.4)

Diluted earnings per share ($) 
 Net earnings 3.19 3.11 2.98 3.02 2.97 (1.7) 3.48 2.78 2.12 2.76 3.29 1.0 
 Operating earnings (2) 3.05 3.21 3.27 3.02 2.92 (1.1) 3.22 2.89 2.34 2.89 3.23 0.7 
Dividends per share ($) 2.25 2.25 2.18 2.15 2.15 1.4 2.10 2.05 2.05 2.00 1.78 3.9 

Return on average common  
 equity (ROE) (%)             
 Net earnings 17.1 16.9 16.2 17.3 17.6  21.3 17.6 13.3 17.3 21.9 
 Operating earnings (2) 16.3 17.4 17.8 17.3 17.3  19.7 18.2 14.7 18.2 21.5 

Average shares 
 outstanding (thousands)             
 – Basic 241,300 248,173 252,108 252,013 254,853  258,151 261,855 263,217 263,323 264,604  
 – Diluted 241,402 248,299 252,778 252,474 255,277  259,075 262,867 264,324 264,808 267,303 

Share price (closing $) 38.20 35.34 46.31 56.09 41.60 (2.9) 44.23 43.46 42.41 35.45 50.03 (2.5)

(1) Compound annual growth rate.

(2) Non-IFRS or Non-GAAP Financial Measures - Excludes other items as follows:
 2016 -  A favourable change in income tax provision estimates of $34.0 million related to certain tax filings.
 2015 - An after-tax charge of $24.3 million, recorded in the fourth quarter, related to restructuring and other charges.
 2014 -  An after-tax charge of $59.2 million, recorded in the fourth quarter, related to distributions to clients, as well as other costs and an after-tax charge of $13.6 million, 

recorded in the second quarter, related to restructuring and other charges.
 2013 -  An after-tax charge of $10.6 million related to restructuring and other charges and an after-tax benefit of $9.0 million representing the Company's proportionate share of 

net changes in Great-West Lifeco Inc.'s (Lifeco)  litigation provision.
 2012 -  A favourable change in income tax provision estimates of $24.4 million related to certain tax filings, an after-tax charge of $5.6 million representing the Company's 

proportionate share of net changes in Lifeco's litigation provisions, and a non-cash income tax charge of $6.4 million resulting from increases in Ontario corporate income 
tax rates and their effect on the deferred income tax liability related to indefinite life intangible assets arising from prior business acquisitions.

 2011 -  Net earnings from discontinued operations of $62.6 million and an after-tax benefit of $5.0 million representing the Company's proportionate share of net changes in 
Lifeco's litigation provisions.

 2010 -  Net earnings from discontinued operations of $1.8 million, a non-recurring after-tax charge of $21.8 million related to the transition to IFRS, and an after-tax charge of 
$8.2 million representing the Company's proportionate share of Lifeco's incremental litigation provision. 

 2009 -  Net earnings from discontinued operations, a non-cash charge on available for sale equity securities, net of tax, a non-cash income tax benefit and the premium paid on the 
redemption of Series A preferred shares.

 2008 -  Proportionate share of Lifeco's after-tax impairment charge and proportionate share of Lifeco's after-tax gain on the sale of its healthcare business, Great-West 
Healthcare.

 2007 - Non-cash income tax benefit.
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STATISTICAL INFORMATION
 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

      CAGR(1)      CAGR(1) 
      5 YEAR      10 YEAR
($ millions) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 % 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 %

Mutual funds
 Investors Group             
  Sales 7,760 7,890 7,461 6,668 5,778 5.2 6,021 5,748 5,042 5,946 7,229 2.3
  Redemption rates (%)            
   – total 9.6 9.4 9.5 10.2 11.0  9.8 9.4 9.0 9.4 8.4 
   – long-term funds 8.8 8.7 8.7 9.4 10.0  8.8 8.3 7.4 7.9 7.3 
  Net sales (redemptions) 366 754 651 159 (724) 56.5 39 253 404 625 2,158 (12.2)
  Assets under management 81,240 74,897 73,459 68,255 60,595 7.1 57,735 61,785 57,655 47,491 60,194 3.4 
 
 Mackenzie (2)             
  Sales 6,939 6,965 7,070 6,700 5,490 4.2 5,645 5,848 4,905 7,949 8,453 (1.9)
  Redemption rates (%)            
   – total 15.6 16.6 15.1 16.7 18.7  16.9 18.1 17.5 22.4 17.8 
   – long-term funds 15.0 16.2 14.6 16.0 17.9  15.8 16.5 14.6 18.7 14.1 
  Net sales (redemptions) (667) (1,258) (209) (487) (1,974) 15.5 (1,548) (1,519) (1,566) (1,553) (89) N/M
  Assets under management 51,314 48,445 48,782 46,024 40,394 5.6 39,141 43,452 40,624 35,814 46,563 1.0
 
 Investment Planning Counsel             
  Sales 859 741 682 485 401 9.6 543 499 343 244 364 9.3
  Redemption rates (%)            
   – total 16.0 13.8 12.9 13.8 14.7  11.1 12.7 12.7 15.8 9.8 
   – long-term funds 15.7 13.6 12.6 13.2 14.3  10.9 12.0 11.6 14.8 9.4 
  Net sales (redemptions) 169 177 207 52 (24) (5.6) 225 204 106 (80) 139 0.9
  Assets under management 4,501 4,178 3,850 3,406 2,950 9.9 2,811 2,688 2,140 1,740 2,268 7.4
Combined mutual fund assets             
 under management (3) 137,053 127,517 126,039 117,649 103,915 6.6 99,685 107,925 100,419 85,025 108,994 2.5
 
Total assets under 
 management (3) 141,829 133,648 141,919 131,777 120,694 3.6 118,713 129,484 120,545 101,742 122,982 1.7
Corporate assets (4) 15,625 14,831 14,417 12,880 11,962 7.0 11,144 12,237 8,662 8,263 7,859 N/M

Consultants - Investors Group 4,947 5,320 5,145 4,673 4,518 1.4 4,608 4,686 4,633 4,479 4,331 2.4

(1) Compound annual growth rate.
(2) For Canadian mutual fund operations only. 
(3) Adjusted for inter-segment assets.
(4) 2010 to 2015 reflect corporate assets under IFRS.  2006 to 2009 reflect corporate assets under CGAAP.  2011 and 2012 corporate assets have been restated.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

R. Jeffrey Orr 
Chairman of the Board 
IGM Financial Inc.

 
Marc A. Bibeau (1,2,4) 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Beauward Shopping Centres Ltd.

Jeffrey R. Carney (1,4) 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
IGM Financial Inc. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Investors Group Inc.

Marcel R. Coutu (1,4,5) 
Corporate Director

André Desmarais, o.c., o.q. (1,4,5,7) 
Deputy Chairman, President  
and Co-Chief Executive Officer 
Power Corporation of Canada 
Executive Co-Chairman 
Power Financial Corporation

Paul Desmarais, Jr., o.c., o.q. (1,4,5,7) 
Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer 
Power Corporation of Canada 
Executive Co-Chairman 
Power Financial Corporation

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

Jeffrey R. Carney 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Kevin E. Regan, fca 
Executive Vice-President and  
Chief Financial Officer

Donald J. MacDonald 
Senior Vice-President,  
General Counsel and Secretary

Gary Doer (1,3,4) 
Senior Business Advisor 
Dentons Canada LLP

Claude Généreux (1,4,5) 
Executive Vice-President 
Power Corporation of Canada and  
Power Financial Corporation 

Sharon L. Hodgson (1,4,6) 
Global Leader for Cognitive, 
Watson and Advanced Analytics 
IBM Global Business Services Canada

Daniel Johnson, g.o.q. (1,4) 
Counsel 
McCarthy Tétrault LLP

Susan J. McArthur (1,4) 
Managing Partner 
GreenSoil Investments

John McCallum (2,3,6,7) 
Professor of Finance 
University of Manitoba

R. Jeffrey Orr (1,4,5,7) 
Chairman of the Board  
IGM Financial Inc. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Power Financial Corporation

Jacques Parisien (1,2,4) 
President 
Power Communications Inc.

Henri-Paul Rousseau, ph.d.(1,4) 
Vice-Chairman 
Power Corporation of Canada and 
Power Financial Corporation

Susan Sherk (1,3,4,5,6) 
Socio-Economic Consultant

Gregory D. Tretiak, fca (1,4) 
Executive Vice-President and  
Chief Financial Officer 
Power Corporation of Canada and 
Power Financial Corporation
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1.  Executive Committee  

Chair, R. Jeffrey Orr

2.  Audit Committee 
Chair, John McCallum

3.  Community Affairs Committee 
Chair, Susan Sherk
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Chair, Gregory D. Tretiak
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Chair, Claude Généreux
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Review Committee 
Chair, John McCallum
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Chair, R. Jeffrey Orr
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING
The Annual Meeting of IGM Financial Inc.  
will be held at The Metropolitan 
Entertainment Centre,  
281 Donald Street,  
Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada  
on Friday, May 5, 2017  
at 10:30 a.m., Central Time.

WEBSITES
Visit our websites at
www.igmfinancial.com 
www.investorsgroup.com 
www.mackenzieinvestments.com 
www.ipcc.ca

HEAD OFFICE
447 Portage Avenue 
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 3H5 
Telephone: 204 943 0361 
Fax: 204 947 1659

AUDITOR
Deloitte llp

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
Computershare Trust  
Company of Canada

Telephone: 800 564 6253 
service@computershare.com

600, 530-8th Avenue S.W. 
Calgary, Alberta T2P 3S8

1500 Robert-Bourassa Boulevard, 7th Floor 
Montreal, Quebec H3A 3S8

100 University Avenue, 8th Floor 
Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1

510 Burrard Street, 2nd Floor 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3B9

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Toronto Stock Exchange
Shares of IGM Financial Inc. are listed 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange under 
the following listings: 
Common Shares: IGM  
First Preferred Shares, Series B: IGM.PR.B

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
For additional financial information  
about the Company, please contact:
Investor Relations
investor.relations@igmfinancial.com

For copies of the annual or quarterly 
reports, please contact the Corporate  
Secretary’s office at 204 956 8328 or visit 
our website at www.igmfinancial.com

™ Trademarks owned by IGM Financial Inc. and licensed to its subsidiary corporations, except as noted below.

 Trademarks that include Investors Group are owned by IGM Financial Inc. and licensed to subsidiary corporations of Investors Group Inc. 

 Investment Planning Counsel’s trademark is owned by Investment Planning Counsel Inc. and used with permission. 

 Mackenzie Investments’ trademark is owned by Mackenzie Financial Corporation and used with permission.
 †  Banking products and services are distributed through Solutions Banking™. Solutions Banking products and services are provided by National Bank of Canada. Solutions Banking 

is a trademark of Power Financial Corporation. National Bank of Canada is a licensed user of these trademarks. Morningstar and the Morningstar Ratings are trademarks of 
Morningstar Inc. Quadrus Group of Funds is a trademark of Quadrus Investment Services Ltd. 

  Certified Financial Planner® and CFP® are certification trademarks owned outside the U.S. by Financial Planning Standards Board Ltd. (“FPSB”) and the Financial Planning 
Standards Council is the licensing authority for these trademarks in Canada through agreement with FPSB.
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